TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

East West Link Proposal

HEARING at
HUNTERVILLE ROOM, ASCOT STAND,
ELLERSLIE EVENT CENTRE,
80 ASCOT AVENUE,
REMUERA,
AUCKLAND
on 16 August 2017

BOARD OF INQUIRY:
Dr John Priestley (Chair) CNZM QC
Mr Alan Bickers (Deputy Chair) MNZM JP
Mr Michael Parsonson (Board Member)
Ms Sheena Tepania (Board Member)

Hearing Proceedings
Day 30 Wednesday 16 August 2017
Time
9.08 am

Name
Mr Williamson

Representing

Topic

NZ Transport
Agency

Examination-in-chief by Mr
Mulligan

Documents Submitted /
Presented

Transcript Ref.
Page no's
4067

9.10 am

Ms Sinnott

Mercury NZ

Cross-examination

Exhibit R – Map NZTA EWL
overview plan

4068

9.21 am

Mr Pilkinton

T&G Global

Cross-examination

9.34 am

Mr Pitches

Campaign for
Better Transport

Cross-examination

9.37 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4082

9.39 am

Mr Pitches

Campaign for
Better Transport

Cross-examination cont'd

4083

9.44 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4085

9.46 am

Mr Pitches

Campaign for
Better Transport

Cross-examination cont'd

4086

9.59 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4091

10.03 am

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Re-examination

4093

10.03 am

Dr Priestley

Board of Inquiry

Discussion with Mr Pitchers

4093

10.04 am

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport

Re-examination cont'd

4093

4075
Exhibit S – Table 8.1
Assessment of options against
transport criteria

4082

Agency
10.10 am

Dr Priestley

Board of Inquiry

Discussion with Mr Pilkinton

10.11 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions

10.15 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4097

10.16 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4098

10.22 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4099

10.23 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4100

10.26 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4101

10.27 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4104

Morning tea

4104

10.35 am

4095
Opening Legal Submission

4096

10.54 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4104

10.56 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4107

11.05 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4108

11.07 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4109

11.08 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4109

11.11 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4112

11.17 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions

4116

11.31 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4117

11.33 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4119

11.39 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4120

11.42 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4121

11.44 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4122

11.48 am

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4124

11.53 am

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4127

12.02 pm

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4128

12.04 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4129

12.11 pm

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions

4131

12.14 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4133

12.18 pm

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4135

12.27 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4136

12.28 pm

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Opening legal submissions
cont'd

4137

12.32 pm

Dr Priestley

Board of Inquiry

Discussion with Ms Devine

4138

Lunch

4139

Mercury NZ

Examination-in-chief by Ms
Devine

4140

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4141

12.34 pm
1.46 pm
1.47 pm

Mr Whineray
Board

1.54 pm

Mr Whineray

Mercury NZ

Evidence cont'd

4143

2.00 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4145

2.26 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination

2.54 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4166

2.57 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4168

3.03 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4169

3.06 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4171

3.16 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4174

3.22 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4176

Afternoon tea

4180

3.33 pm

Exhibit 18 – Media documents
bundle

4155

3.53 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4181

4.21 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4189

4.25 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4191

4.34 pm

Dr Priestley

Board of Inquiry

Discussion with Mr Mulligan

4194

4.36 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4195

4.50 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4200

4.54 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport

Cross-examination cont'd

4201

Agency
4.57 pm

A short break

4203

5.06 pm

Dr Priestley

Board of Inquiry

Housekeeping

4204

5.07 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4204

5.13 pm

Board

Board of Inquiry

Questions

4206

5.15 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4207

5.22 pm

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Objection

4209

5.23 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4209

5.29 pm

Ms Devine

Mercury NZ

Clarification

4212

5.29 pm

Mr Mulligan

NZ Transport
Agency

Cross-examination cont'd

4212

5.30 pm

Dr Priestley

Board of Inquiry

Housekeeping

4213

Adjourn

4213

5.33 pm
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[9.07 am]
DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you. Yes, good morning, everybody. Another action-packed
day I suspect and you, Mr Mulligan, are going to recall Mr Williamson,
is that correct?

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

If we could swear Mr Williamson in.

5

10

Mr Williamson (sworn)
DR PRIESTLEY:

Ms Duffy, has this hole punch been left in front of me to throw at
counsel or something or other. Oh, it is yours. Mr Bickers will use it.
Yes, Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Mr Williamson was called at an earlier point and you will recall a
summary was read at that time and you should have that as part of your
extensive materials, I'm sure. I won't get him to read that out. He was
specifically recalled today because Mercury was going to give their
evidence and there was unavailability of counsel --

DR PRIESTLEY:

That's correct.

MR MULLIGAN:

-- so Mr Williamson came back.

DR PRIESTLEY:

And we also have Campaign for Better Transport who wants to crossexamine and T&G Global. Who is acting for T&G Global? Is it you
today?

MR PILKINTON:

Yes, and for Ports of Auckland.

DR PRIESTLEY:

For Ports of Auckland as well, right. And you will need to re-examine,

15

20

25

30
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of course?

5

10

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. Yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right, thank you.

MR MULLIGAN:

Mr Williamson, can you give your full name to the Board.

MR WILLIAMSON: John Williamson.
MR MULLIGAN:

And where do you work, Mr Williamson?

MR WILLIAMSON: Ascari Partners Limited.
15

MR MULLIGAN:

And what do they do?

MR WILLIAMSON: Public sector consultancy and economics.
20

MR MULLIGAN:

What's been your role in relation to this particular project, the East
West Link?

MR WILLIAMSON: Providing economic advice, particularly an economic assessment of the
project area.
25

MR MULLIGAN:

Perhaps if you can just draw the microphone slightly closer to you.

MR WILLIAMSON: How's that?
30

MR MULLIGAN:

And you've already confirmed your evidence on oath. If you can just
make yourself available for any questions from the Board or from any
of the other parties.

MR WILLIAMSON: Thank you.
35

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you, Mr Mulligan. Yes, Ms Devine. Sorry, it was you, Ms
Sinnott, yes. Sorry, Ms Sinnott, off you go.
[9.10 am]

40

MS SINNOTT:

Morning, Mr Williamson.

MR WILLIAMSON: Good morning.
45

MS SINNOTT:

I'd like to start by asking you some questions about the different ways
you can value something. You could, you'd agree, look at the value of,
say, the state highway network by looking at the value of the land and
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the value of the assets, correct?
MR WILLIAMSON: You could from an accounting perspective, I think, yes.
5

10

15

MS SINNOTT:

MR WILLIAMSON: Oh, very much.
MS SINNOTT:

25

That in fact is true of any infrastructure, isn't it? That the land value
and the plant value is different to the economic value to the country of
having that infrastructure?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, yes.
MS SINNOTT:

45

That would be a sunk cost, whoever has paid it, they have paid it,
correct?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MS SINNOTT:

40

But in terms of the economic value to the country, it doesn't matter who
paid the cost of buying the plant, does it?

MR WILLIAMSON: That's an interesting question. I'll go with your assumption.
MS SINNOTT:

35

But that would be different again from the economic value to the
country of having First Gas' supply lines?

MR WILLIAMSON: That would be true, although I think there's an interesting difference
between a private asset and a public asset. A private asset would be
paid for by the users whereas a public asset is generally provided
because they wouldn't be efficiently provided if the users were asked
to pay.
MS SINNOTT:

30

Yes, and the same with First Gas assets, you could look at the value -if you're an accountant you could look at the value of the plant and the
value of any easements, and so that's a value you could give to First
Gas?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, you could.
MS SINNOTT:

20

Yes, from an accounting perspective you could look at it that way but
that would be different than the economic value to the country of
having the state highway network, wouldn't it?

You attended the expert conferencing on economics on 29 May?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
MS SINNOTT:

And at that conferencing am I right in thinking that all the experts
agreed that if you were doing an economic assessment, a New Zealand
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economic assessment of the East West Link, you would consider both
economic costs and economic benefits?
5

10

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
MS SINNOTT:

Yes. In that expert witness caucusing statement you stated at that point
that the New Zealand Transport Agency had done an assessment of
effects on economic wellbeing through the assessment it did in the
detailed business case, that's right?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes. Yes.
MS SINNOTT:

15

But in your rebuttal evidence you say that that detailed business case
assessment was not really an economic assessment of the New Zealand
Inc economic wellbeing assessment of the project, correct?

MR WILLIAMSON: Could you just point me to the part of my rebuttal evidence that you're
referring to?
20

MS SINNOTT:

Yes, if you go to paragraph 6.1 of your rebuttal, I think it's the last
sentence.

MR WILLIAMSON: I'm sorry, I can't quite hear you.
25

MS SINNOTT:

Oh, sorry, it must have slipped. Sorry.

MR WILLIAMSON: That's okay.
30

MS SINNOTT:

Paragraph 6.1 of your rebuttal, last sentence.

MR WILLIAMSON: 6.1. So, in 6.1 I've said:
"Although I have not quantified the benefits in my evidence-in-chief,
the Transport Agency did quantify some benefits as part of assessing
the economic efficiency of the preferred corridor within the detailed
business case."

35

Is that what you're referring to?
40

45

MS SINNOTT:

Yes, and in the last sentence of that paragraph you say that that detailed
business case analysis was done for the purpose of making an
investment decision?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
MS SINNOTT:

It wasn't done from doing a complete assessment of economic benefit
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or economic cost?

5

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, as I've said in other parts of my evidence that I've provided, a
complete economic assessment is a very challenging proposition.
MS SINNOTT:

You're familiar with Dr Murray's evidence in this case?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, I am, yes.
10

15

MS SINNOTT:

In that evidence he took some of the data, I suppose you'd say, from
NZ Transport Agency's detailed business case and used that for his
assessment of economic wellbeing, correct?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, he did use NZ Transport Agency's data.
MS SINNOTT:

And that's a legitimate place for him to have got some data from?

MR WILLIAMSON: Absolutely, yes.
20

[9.15 am]
MS SINNOTT:

25

30

35

MR WILLIAMSON: What I would say is that an economic assessment relies on quantified
information. It relies on costs and benefits being presented in dollar
values and that's why cost benefit ratios are expressed as a ratio of the
dollars, the benefits of the dollar value of costs. And to the extent that
you can't quantify benefits, and these benefits are relevant, that's
actually the purpose of the multi-criteria analysis and if you look at the
progression of the assessment process that NZ Transport Agency has
used you can see how they have broadened their analysis to include
non-quantifiable benefits through the use of multi-criteria analysis, for
example.
MS SINNOTT:

40

And what he says in this evidence, and you would agree, is that if you're
doing an economic assessment sometimes you can't quantify either
economic benefit or an economic cost. You would agree with that?

So if we're not looking at a cost benefit analysis for the purpose of
making an investment decision, we're looking at an assessment of
economic wellbeing, if you can't practically quantify something it is
legitimate to refer to it qualitatively, isn't it?

MR WILLIAMSON: Absolutely, yes. As I said, that's the purpose of multi-criteria analysis
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actually.
MS SINNOTT:
5

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MS SINNOTT:

10

20

25

30

And a large one?

MR WILLIAMSON: Not necessarily, no.
MS SINNOTT:

A shortage that lasted a reasonable length of time would be a large cost?

MR WILLIAMSON: I'm not qualified to say and I've not seen any data that suggests what
the magnitude of that cost may be.
MS SINNOTT:

If we assume there was a shortage that lasted for a long period of time,
factories would be out of power, like what happened in Auckland a few
years back, and there was large economic cost associated with that.

MR WILLIAMSON: That might be the case. I think the challenge you would have in trying
to include that cost within an economic analysis is the economic
analysis that NZ Transport Agency undertakes is considered over a
period of 40 years. And over the period of time that the valuation is
undertaken future costs and benefits are discounted to today's dollars.
So a benefit or a cost next year is not as valuable as a benefit or a cost
this year. Therefore, it would depend on what point in time that event
might occur.
But you also have to understand the probability of that event. If it was
an event that was reasonably improbable and would happen at some
point in the future, you would have to account for the probability and
discount accordingly. So it may not actually tend to produce a very
large number.

35

40

There you acknowledge that a power shortage would be a potential
economic cost to society?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, I do, yes.
MS SINNOTT:

15

I'd like to take you to paragraph 8.7 of your rebuttal.

MS SINNOTT:

Well, let's look at both of those points. So you've raised probability
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and you've raised discounting over time.
MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
5

MS SINNOTT:

The probability of a large power shortage is probably quite low.

MR WILLIAMSON: That's, I think, what Mr Murray's evidence suggests.
10

MS SINNOTT:

MR WILLIAMSON: Oh no, no, it's very unlikely to be zero.
MS SINNOTT:

15

40

45

It could occur this afternoon.

MR WILLIAMSON: That's right.
MS SINNOTT:

35

Also we don't know when a power shortage or equivalent situation
could occur, do we?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, no.
MS SINNOTT:

30

But NZ Transport Agency's detailed business case, and I accept it was
done for a different purpose, it gives no acknowledgement to that?

MR WILLIAMSON: No.
MS SINNOTT:

25

So therefore it would make sense to give it some acknowledgement
because it hasn't got a zero probability?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MS SINNOTT:

20

Yes. But it's not zero, is it?

In that case you can't really assume you can discount for it over time,
can you?

MR WILLIAMSON: I think you can. Now, I think you can actually understand the
probability of an event occurring in a particular year and then weight
the actual likely cost of that event by the probability.
MS SINNOTT:

Has NZ Transport Agency done an assessment of the probability of the
event occurring, a power shortage occurring this year?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, they haven't and I think at that point I should point out, and I made
a point in my evidence, that NZ Transport Agency will contemplate the
inclusion of costs and benefits but will ask themselves the question
about the potential materiality of the benefit and also the time and
resources involved in calculating those costs and benefits and they will
make a decision, a pragmatic decision, as to whether to attempt to
monetise particular costs and benefits based on the potential materiality
Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17
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and the complexity.
MS SINNOTT:
5

There is no evidence they even thought about this power-shortage risk.
There's nothing in the documentation for the detailed business case
which shows they even thought about it.

MR WILLIAMSON: No, that's correct.
10

MS SINNOTT:

And we can't necessarily assume that a power shortage would occur in
the future.

MR WILLIAMSON: No, that's correct.
15

[9.20 am]
DR PRIESTLEY:

20

25

Can I just ask a question there? The point behind counsel's questions
is quite apparent to you, I'm sure. In assessing the economic costs of
this project, as opposed to benefits - and I think we appreciate there is
inexactitude on both sides of the scale - was there any attempt, when
calculating the costs, to factor in the possibility or probability of some
cost to the Auckland area should this Mercury power generation plant
not be capable of springing back into action?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, there wasn't.
DR PRIESTLEY:

That's what's lying behind counsel's questions.

MR WILLIAMSON: That's right, yes, and the answer is no, there wasn't. No.
30

DR PRIESTLEY:

Right.

MS SINNOTT:

Briefly going back to the probability point, given that if you had a very
large power outage, the costs would be very large, even a very low
probability of that occurring is something that is potentially relevant.
Correct?

35

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
40

MS SINNOTT:

Are you aware that the Commerce Commission has stressed the
importance of making sure that we avoid power outages, for just that
reason?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
45

MS SINNOTT:

I have no further questions.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you very much. I am relieved that I didn't disrupt your crossexamination, but that is the gut issue, from your point of view, isn't it?
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Thank you very much. Yes, Mr Pilkinton.
MR PILKINTON:
5

Thank you, sir. The first set of questions relates to Turners & Growers.
Your evidence-in-chief, paragraph 7.3, 7.5, paraphrasing, you say the
East West Link project area is a major hub for transport and logistics.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
10

15

20

25

MR PILKINTON:

And that it has a number of economic advantages, including proximity
to customers and suppliers, access to strategic road and rail networks,
and proximity to the Port of Auckland and Auckland Airport.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MR PILKINTON:

Have you read Mr Andrew Keeney's statement on behalf of Turners &
Growers, his primary evidence?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, I have.
MR PILKINTON:

I think it is there in front of you. It might assist if you go to paragraph
2.4.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MR PILKINTON:

30

Do you accept that Mr Keeney's evidence is that the reasons the T&G
site was specifically selected include proximity to the Port of Auckland
and Auckland Airport, access to the strategic road network, proximity
to its customers, and the area has since developed into a major hub for
similar produce businesses?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's consistent with my evidence
35

MR PILKINTON:

So you would agree --

DR PRIESTLEY:

Just pause, Mr Pilkinton. There were three nods of the head. That
needs to be in the record.
For the first three of counsel's four questions, the witness nodded his
head affirmatively.

40

MR WILLIAMSON: Just for complete clarity, I completely agree.
DR PRIESTLEY:

That's all right. But every word you utter has to be transcribed and
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nodding the head is not uttering a word.
MR WILLIAMSON: Point taken.
5

MR PILKINTON:

You would agree, then, that it is legitimate for Turners & Growers to
be concerned about the potential to be forced out of its current location.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
10

15

20

MR PILKINTON:

You accept that your evidence-in-chief focussed on the economic
benefits of the project.
MR WILLIAMSON: My evidence-in-chief focussed on the relationship between -- it tried to
paint a picture of the economic context within the area and then
understand how the economic context was influenced by transport, the
existing transport conditions, and then how the project might assist, or
otherwise, the economic development of the area.
MR PILKINTON:

25

My next set of questions relates to both Ports of Auckland and Turners
& Growers.

Yes, but in your evidence-in-chief you didn't assess the economic costs
of the project, did you?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, no.
MR PILKINTON:

In your rebuttal evidence, at paragraph 4.3, you say:
"The experts at the conferencing agreed that an economic assessment
should also consider costs."

30

[9.25 am]
35

40

45

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, I did, yes.
MR PILKINTON:

At 5.2 you say you provided, "… a qualitative assessment of the
project's benefits but you acknowledge that you have not assessed the
economic costs of the project in any way.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct. However, the reason that I didn't assess the
economic costs of the project was because the transport agency had a
cost benefit analysis. So my assessment was more contextual and it
was to provide a richer picture of the area's economic activity than you
would be given from a pure cost benefit analysis, so the two economic
assessments are complementary to one another.
MR PILKINTON:

Right. At paragraph 5.5 you do say, in particular, that you have not
prepared a quantitative assessment of the economic costs of the project.
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Correct?
MR WILLIAMSON: That's correct.
5

10

15

20

25

30

MR PILKINTON:

But you have not explained why you have not done a qualitative
assessment of the project's costs to match your qualitative assessment
of the project's benefits.

MR WILLIAMSON: Okay. Well, as I explained in the previous answer, the cost benefit
analysis undertaken by the Transport Agency as part of the business
case, provided an assessment of the costs and the benefits and a
comparison between the costs and the benefits. A cost benefit analysis
isn't necessarily a very enlightening piece of advice. It tells you about
the efficiency of the investment, it gives you a ratio of costs to benefits;
it doesn't actually help you to understand, necessarily, how those
benefits might play out within the area's economy. One of the
opportunities within this area was clearly the relationship between
transport investment and economic development. My assessment was
to try to help the Agency and others to understand how the project may
actually assist the area's economy to develop, not necessarily to look at
the costs of that, because that was already captured in the cost benefit
analysis.
MR PILKINTON:

Yes, but my question was that you haven't explained, either in your
report in the AEE, your primary evidence, your rebuttal evidence, why
you haven't looked at the costs of the project on a qualitative basis in
the same way that you have looked at the benefits of the project on a
qualitative basis.

MR WILLIAMSON: That's correct.
MR PILKINTON:

At 6.1 of your rebuttal, you say:
"The Agency undertook an economic analysis of the project under the
Agency's own procedures set out in its economic evaluation manual."

35

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
40

MR PILKINTON:

And you have not disclosed, in section 5 of your evidence-in-chief,
which sets out your overview of your role in the project, that you were
involved in the EEM evaluation. Were you involved?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, I wasn't; it's in that report from the transport modelling.
45

MR PILKINTON:

Thank you. At 6.7 of your rebuttal, you say that that evaluation
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includes an assessment of land acquisition costs.
MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
5

MR PILKINTON:

And that this is a macro-level, or high-level, proxy for economic effects
of the project on affected businesses.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
10

MR PILKINTON:

That is the full extent of the assessment of the project's costs, isn't it?
That's it.

MR WILLIAMSON: No, the benefit-cost assessment includes the capital cost of the project.
15

20

MR PILKINTON:

At the very least, that is the full assessment of the project's business
disruption costs, isn't it?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, but you would expect those to be included within the cost
estimate. The Agency would be expected to pay for those costs.
MR PILKINTON:

The next question is specific to Ports of Auckland.

MR WILLIAMSON: Okay.
25

MR PILKINTON:

At 7.22 of your evidence-in-chief, you say the proposed Port Link Road
will support the future growth of MetroPort.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes. That's correct.
30

MR PILKINTON:

35

MR WILLIAMSON: Not specifically, no. I've obviously assumed that that's the case but
there is significantly more to the area's economy than simply the Port
Link Road.
MR PILKINTON:

40

Can you confirm that your qualitative assessment of the project's
economic benefits is based on the assumption that MetroPort will in
fact use the Port Link Road?

Yes, but you have assumed that MetroPort will use the Port Link Road.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes. Yes, it would make sense. Yes.
MR PILKINTON:

My last set of questions is for both T&G and Ports of Auckland.
AT 6.1 of your evidence-in-chief, you say you interviewed 19
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businesses in preparing --

5

MR PILKINTON:

That's correct.

MR PILKINTON:

And you selected those to reflect the geographic spread and the nature
of activities in the area.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
10

15

MR PILKINTON:

If the EPA staff could --

DR PRIESTLEY:

Sorry, what was that question? If the EPA …

MR PILKINTON:

Sorry, sir. Just asking for a map to be handed to the witness.

MR WILLIAMSON: Thank you.
20

MR PILKINTON:

[9.30 am]

Mr Williamson, would you just take a look at that map? Do you accept
that that is taken from the Agency's drawings, set 1, the general
drawings?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
25

MR PILKINTON:

And it is a drawing showing the whole of the project and the sheet
layout.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
30

MR PILKINTON:

The red dots show the firms that you interviewed.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct.
35

MR PILKINTON:

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, I'll take your word for it, but yes.
DR PRIESTLEY:

40

Can we clarify this? I take it you weren't responsible for the allocation
of the red dots.

MR WILLIAMSON: No, I wasn't.
DR PRIESTLEY:

45

Which are located within the area depicted on the drawing?

Just look down the bottom left-hand corner, which sets out what the red
dots represent, and then over to the right of that, there are firms
interviewed but not red-dotted because are off map. Just cast your eye
over that and confirm to us that those are indeed the firms you

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4080

interviewed.
MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, they are. Yes.
5

10

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you.

MR PILKINTON:

Do you accept that with the exception of the Seamount property at 69
Captain Springs Road, which is the red dot right next to sheet 2
labelling --

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MR PILKINTON:

15

20

25

MR WILLIAMSON: I think you have to remember that when we interviewed these firms,
this was in 2014 and this was prior to route alignment options being
identified. When we think about what the purpose of the property is,
Church Street and Neilson Street are right at the heart of this area's
economy and the intention is to enable better access to State Highway
20 and State Highway 1 from the Church Street/Neilson Street area. If
you look at the dots to the north of the existing alignment, they are on
the Church Street/Neilson Street area and also a number of these other
firms will be using Church Street and Neilson Street, so that was really
why we chose that distribution of firms. To some extent it is a little
arbitrary as to how you can actually choose the firms and whether a
firm is willing to respond.
As well as that, we use this information as more contextual background
information, if you like, to try to provide a little more understanding of
the data. We don't take as gospel everything that the firms say, for
instance. It is just to understand in the understanding of data.

30

35

MR PILKINTON:

Yes.

MR WILLIAMSON: But I take your point about the alignment.
MR PILKINTON:

40

With the exception of that property, none of the businesses you
interviewed are located along the proposed alignment of the link.

As it fortuitously turned out, none of the firms you interviewed, other
than Seamount, are actually directly adversely affected by the
alignment, are they?

MR WILLIAMSON: Well, they are not but we had no idea of the preferred alignment at the
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time of the firm interviews.
MR PILKINTON:
5

MR WILLIAMSON: I didn't personally but -MR PILKINTON:

10

15

20

25

30

But MetroPort was interviewed?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, they are on the list, aren't they?
MR PILKINTON:

Ports of Auckland, whose land is required for the port link road wasn't
interviewed, was it?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, they weren't.
MR PILKINTON:

Thank you. Sir, if I may admit the drawings.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Do you want to produce it as an exhibit?

MR PILKINTON:

Yes, please.

DR PRIESTLEY:

R for Romeo, is it?

FEMALE SPEAKER: Correct.
DR PRIESTLEY:

It is exhibit R.

MR PILKINTON:

Thank you. No further questions.

DR PRIESTLEY:

No other counsel wish to cross-examine? Mr Pitches.

MR PITCHES:

Thank you, sir, Members of the Board. Mr Williamson, in your
evidence-in-chief you state:

35

"Business service activity is growing at a faster rate than industrial,
transport and distribution activities but evidence suggests the area will
remain a stronghold of industrial and transport activity."
Were you aware at the time you made that statement that Toll New
Zealand was in the process of purchasing a new site in Otahuhu outside
of the project area where it wants to build a new freight forward facility
with access to KiwiRail's network?

40

45

You interviewed MetroPort?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, I wasn't.
MR PITCHES:

What impact will this move from Neilson Street have on the future of
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transport-related employment in the area?
[9.35 am]
5

10

15

20

MR WILLIAMSON: That's an interesting question. I couldn't speculate, mainly because if
one freight forwarder moves from their current location to another
maybe another freight forwarder will take up the opportunity of the
vacant space. It may increase employment and transport within the
area. If you read my evidence, I have suggested that transport demand
and transport employment are not necessarily related and the demand
for commercial transport is more related to consumption and the
growth of consumption within the region or the growth of output.
MR PITCHES:

All right. Thank you. In paragraph 1.10 of the joint witness statement
prepared by yourself and the four other economists, there is agreement
that an economic assessment of this project should consider both
economic costs and economic benefits. Is that correct?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MR PITCHES:

25

Yet in your rebuttal evidence at paragraph 7.8 you state you are
confident that the economic benefits of the project will outweigh the
economic costs, especially if the construction costs are not included.
That is an unusual statement for an economist to make, so what is the
context of that paragraph?

MR WILLIAMSON: Sorry, just remind me of the paragraph number again?
30

35

40

MR PITCHES:

Paragraph 7.8 of your rebuttal evidence.

MR WILLIAMSON: 7.8. I would just like to clarify, firstly, that this paragraph is based on
the information available, and that is quite important point I think
because I have not seen information personally which suggests that
there has been any significant change in costs or benefits, so based on
the available information.
MR PITCHES:

But my --

DR PRIESTLEY:

Sorry, Mr Pitches, I find that statement odd too because in your
evidence-in-chief you are looking at the economic benefits and you are
looking at construction costs estimated. I seem to recall there is a figure
of $900 million or something like that. But if one is looking at the
economic benefits generally, one would hope you would end up by the
economic benefits outweighing the economic disadvantages. Am I
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right?
MR WILLIAMSON: You are quite correct.
5

DR PRIESTLEY:

What is the purpose of this bit in brackets, "Construction costs not
included"?

MR WILLIAMSON: To be frank, I find this odd as well as an economist -10

15

20

25

30

35

DR PRIESTLEY:

Sorry, I can't hear you.

MR WILLIAMSON: I actually agree entirely that an economic analysis should include the
costs and the benefits. However, the advice I was given is that, within
this context, it is difficult within the confines of the Resource
Management Act to take into consideration the cost of the project. That
challenges me as an economist as well because I think an economic
analysis should, indeed, as the NZ Transport Agency's economic
analysis does, consider the costs of a project, including the capital costs
and the benefits. NZ Transport Agency's cost benefit analysis, which
generates a benefit plus ratio of 1.9 that includes the capital costs of the
project and the benefits of the project. But if you are unable to consider
the capital costs of the project, but take those into consideration, then
you would end up with significantly higher benefits relative to the costs
that you could. However, I totally agree that I find that an unusual
approach. I personally would insist from an economic perspective that
you do include the capital costs, yes.
MR PITCHES:

Okay. Thank you.

DR PRIESTLEY:

You understand that answer?

MR PITCHES:

I think that what Mr Williamson is saying is perhaps construction costs
aren't applicable within the context of the RMA.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's right. I fully agree that they should be applicable within an
economic assessment, yes, totally.
MR PITCHES:

40

In paragraph 7.3 of your rebuttal, in relation to the detailed business
case, you state that, based on the analysis done at the time, the
identified benefits are $1.76 billion and the expected cost was
$918 million.

MR WILLIAMSON: That's correct.
45

MR PITCHES:

What is the reason for the identified benefits increasing by some
$200 million from the original figure of $1.55 billion in the indicative
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business plan?

5

MR WILLIAMSON: That is because there were some improvements to the project, as option
F was refined between its analysis and the indicative business case and
analysis in the detailed business case.
[9.40 am]

10

MR PITCHES:

MR WILLIAMSON: There was an increase in costs as well, actually.
MR PITCHES:

15

20
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Okay. So we know the reported cost of the project has increased to a
range of $1.25 billion to $1.85 billion according to central government.
It would be a straightforward exercise to update the economic
evaluation with this new range and, hence, provide an updated benefit
cost ratio, would it not?

MR WILLIAMSON: Actually, I think there is a point of confusion here. When the Transport
Agency reports the cost of a project, it uses three different approaches
to cost estimation. For its own internal prioritisation process it uses
either a P50 cost, which is the cost that has the probability of occurring
50% of the time or a P95 cost as the extreme, and that cost will occur
in 5% of cases. Those costs are presented in the dollars of the day. In
this case it was in 2015 dollars. For budgeting purposes they will use
an escalated cost, and that is where the costs are inflated to the year of
spend and that will increase the cost, but for economic analysis we
discount the costs back to a net present value using a discount rate of
6%.
When you look at the costs that are provided by NZ Transport Agency,
the $1.8 billion cost is the inflated P95 cost which corresponds with the
net present value of $980 million for construction costs. So there has
been no change in costs but there are different ways in reporting those
costs and I think there has been a degree of confusion. The reported
cost hasn't changed. What has changed is the cost base, if you like,
which is used for reporting purposes. So this benefit cost ratio is
consistent with the current cost estimate of the project.

35

40

Without any corresponding increase in costs?

MR PITCHES:

Thank you. That's useful. In your rebuttal evidence at paragraph 8.16,
you mention that Mr Curtin raised the issue of how option F reconciled
with the Transport Agency's own system for prioritising projects. That
system includes the use of the economic evaluation manual, but you
claim that this is not an economic matter "and I defer to the evidence
of Mr Wickman and Ms Linzey", so how do you explain that?

MR WILLIAMSON: The point I am making is that the option assessment process was
undertaken using the multi-criteria analysis framework, which has a
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number of quite detailed criteria which were derived from the design
project outcomes. It was that assessment process which led to the
preferred option being chosen.
5

10

15

20

MR PITCHES:

MR WILLIAMSON: I can't comment on the multi-criteria analysis because that was not my
area of involvement with the project.
MR PITCHES:

What does that mean, managing the process? Does that mean you're
like the overseeing author?

MR WILLIAMSON: I'm one of the authors. Yes.
DR PRIESTLEY:

45

Sorry, I'm confused yet again. Were you the person who compiled the
business case?

MR WILLIAMSON: I managed, with others, the process of compiling the business case,
but -DR PRIESTLEY:

40

Who was?

MR WILLIAMSON: I can't answer that question. That's a question for the Transport
Agency.
DR PRIESTLEY:

35

Were you responsible for the conclusion that option F was the best
option?

MR WILLIAMSON: No, I wasn't. No.
MR PITCHES:

30

Yet you wrote the indicative business case that evaluated the MCA, did
you not?

MR WILLIAMSON: I was the author, or rather I managed the process of compiling the
business case with others, but I did not undertake the multi-criteria
analysis. The business case, if you like, is a receptacle of information.
The information that is gathered through the development of the project
is placed in the business case as one way of providing all of the
information, but I wasn't responsible for undertaking the multi-criteria
analysis and I wasn't responsible for choosing the option.
MR PITCHES:

25

Okay. But Mr Curtin in his evidence said the multi-criteria assessment
did not spit out any obvious winner. Do you agree with that?

Okay.

MR WILLIAMSON: But the business case includes a section which reports the outcome of
the multi-criteria analysis, but it's merely reporting the outcome of the
process.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

So you have no responsibility for the multi-criteria analysis?

MR WILLIAMSON: None at all, no.
5

DR PRIESTLEY:

But presumably, for professional and common sense reasons, if you
thought it was a load of nonsense, you wouldn't have included it.
[9.45 am]

10

MR WILLIAMSON: Absolutely, yes.
DR PRIESTLEY:

15

20

25

So how do you know it wasn't a load of nonsense?

MR WILLIAMSON: Well, because as part of the process of including that information in the
business case I was involved in understanding the criteria to be used,
the information that was to be used to assess the options against those
criteria, and the results of that process. So I understood how the process
was used but I didn't make the decisions.
DR PRIESTLEY:

All right, thank you. It almost sounds like being editor of a newspaper,
doesn't it?

MR PITCHES:

It does somewhat.

MR BICKERS:

Sorry. That's the business case, so it was prepared by Catherine Adams
and yourself.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
30

MR BICKERS:

Reviewed by Brent Meekan, endorsed by Scott Wickman and Jo
Shady(?). That's right?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
35

MR BICKERS:

And then recommended to the Board for adoption, and I think we have
the papers covering that, so we understand the process from this point.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes. Exactly.
40

45

MR PITCHES:

Thank you. I'm referring now to the economic testimony of Mr Curtin.
In paragraph 31 he says, with regard to the MCA:
"Recapping, one simple approach summarising the economic and noneconomic criteria would have pointed to option A. An alternative
variant of the same approach but putting greater weight on transport
outcomes would have pointed to option C. Nonetheless, option F was
chosen."
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Do you have any comment on that?

5
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MR WILLIAMSON: My only comment would be that the Transport Agency has chosen
option F on the basis of the information that it's been provided with,
which was included in the MCA analysis. But I'm not the person to
comment on the Transport Agency's reasoning for choosing option F
over options A or C or any other option.
MR PITCHES:

"The NZ Transport Agency should have made clear how it weighed
those alternatives against each other."
Do you agree with that?
MR WILLIAMSON: Well, I think the business case explains the weighting and I think Ms
Linzey's evidence has talked the Board through the process that was
used for option selection. I'm not quite sure what else I can say.
MR PITCHES:

45

So you think it's clear how the various options were weighted in the
MCA assessment, do you?

MR WILLIAMSON: Well, it is to me, yes, and it was at the time, but again that's not the
basis of my evidence. That was Ms Linzey's evidence.
MR PITCHES:

Okay. All right. We heard from Mr Norman last week, who agreed
that the economic evaluation tool has been used to evaluate dozens of
projects over the years and it must be considered a robust way of
comparing alternatives in an economic sense. Do you agree?

MR WILLIAMSON: Personally, I think it is the most well-developed economic assessment
tool within the public sector in New Zealand by a long way.
MR PITCHES:

Very good.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, it is good.
MR PITCHES:

40

All right, so in paragraph 34 of Mr Curtin's economic evidence he says:

Even so, the indicative business case did not recommend the option
with the greatest economic benefit, which was option D. Nor did it
recommend the option with the highest benefit-cost ratio. So again,
what are the other reasons why option F was chosen?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, well, again I will defer to the evidence of Ms Linzey, but what I
would say is that the process for option selection was based on the
Transport Agency defining the outcomes it wished to achieve within
the project area, developing a set of criteria which enabled it to test the
options against those outcomes, and then choosing the option which it
felt best achieved the outcomes. That may not necessarily have the
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highest cost-benefit ratio.
MR PITCHES:
5

10

15
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25

Okay. We heard last week about enduring benefits in the context of
the indicative business case, so what's meant by enduring benefits?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, this is a good question, isn't it? I've never seen a precise definition
of enduring benefits, but one of the issues that we always have with
transport projects is the longevity of the benefits that any particular
investment may provide. An inevitable consequence of a transport
project is that by reducing the cost of using a particular link, (a) it will
encourage more people to use that link, so it will induce traffic to that
link, and (b) through normal, regular growth in traffic demand, the link
will fill itself anyway. So one of the challenges in transport
investments is to ensure that the investment that you make has a
reasonably long lifespan in terms of the benefits that it delivers, and
that's my understanding of an enduring benefit: a benefit which will
last over time.
[9.50 am]
MR PITCHES:

Okay, but the comparative economic evaluation in the business case
already calculates benefits and costs over a 40-year period. Is that
correct?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, it does. Yes.
MR PITCHES:

30

On page 38 of the indicative business case, table 4.1 describes enduring
benefits as:
"The extent to which travel time savings and traffic flow reductions on
Church/Neilson Street are retained between 2026 and 2036."

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
35

40

45

MR PITCHES:

Why is that time period so important and not, say, 100 years from now,
especially considering that this period is already in the scope of the
standard economic evaluation?

MR WILLIAMSON: Okay. The only reason that was important is the modelling was based
on 2026, and the model data was then extrapolated and interpolated
back to 2016 and forward to 2036, and it was simply trying to
understand the performance of that particular link in the next ten-year
period after 2026. We could have chosen a longer period or shorter
period, that's correct, but for modelling purposes that was just
consistent with the way the transport model had been built for this
particular project. Again, this is Mr Andrew Murray's area of expertise,
but I do understand that that's why 2026 - 2036 was used. It was a
convenient fit with the modelling output.
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MR PITCHES:

Okay. On page 70 of the indicative business case - and this is a point
that I'd like the Board and yourself to refer to an extract of that - there's
an expected change figure. So I'm referring to table 8.1 on page 70 of
the indicative business case.

MR BICKERS:

Thank you.

MR PARSONSON:

Thank you.

MR PITCHES:

So specifically line number 6 there, it says:

5

10

"The change in daily mean travel time on Neilson, Captain Springs and
State Highway 1 state highway connections from 2026 to 2036."

15

And along that top line there it says, "Plus nine minutes" under the due
minimum 2026, and it says a sequence of numbers along there below
each option. So what do those numbers mean? For instance, option F
has -6 minutes, while option B has -5 minutes. What do those numbers
mean?

20

25

30

35

40

MR WILLIAMSON: So that will be the reduction in travel time from the due minimum in
either 2013 or 2026, which I can't remember which of the two. 2013 I
would have thought. Again, this was the output from the transport
model, so it's not my area of expertise. This is Andrew Murray's area
of expertise. I'm not really qualified to comment on the outputs of the
transport model, but I can try and help.
MR PITCHES:

Okay. So given that options B, C and F all look relatively close, do
you think it's correct to say that there's particular enduring benefit with
option F?

MR WILLIAMSON: Okay. So, again, I don't think I'm the right person to comment on this.
However, I do have an understanding of where this conversation might
lead to, and although this is talking about the enduring benefits in terms
of the travel time savings, there is another issue as well, I think, which
is the traffic volumes on Church/Neilson Street and the accessibility of
properties on Church/Neilson street. One of the opportunities of this
project is to enable better accessibility to those projects.
What option F does is it reduces traffic volumes on Church Street and
Neilson Street significantly more than some of the other options, and
in a sense that's why the benefits might be more enduring, not
necessarily because of the travel time saving but because of the
volumes on that particular link and the longevity of the benefits of
accessibility to those properties. That would be my interpretation.

45
MR PITCHES:

Okay. I just wanted to talk about consenting risk. So in the indicative
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business case -DR PRIESTLEY:
5

Would you like to produce this as an exhibit? I know we've got the
business case.
[9.55 am]

10

15

MR PITCHES:

If it helps the Board, yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. Exhibit S? Thank you.

MR WILLIAMSON: Excuse me, sir. Could I suggest that if this was presented as an exhibit
it might be helpful to include the whole table, rather than just this
excerpt from it?
DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, that's probably correct that we can find the whole table anyway
but you've given some specific evidence in cross-examination by Mr
Pitchers has used this for specific purpose. So it's probably there as a
discrete thing in any event. Thank you. You are happy with that, Mr
Pitchers, I can't force you to produce it if you don't want to but on the
other hand if you don't we fail to look at it.

MR PITCHERS:

All right. Anyhow, in the indicative business case it says all options
that impact Mutukaroa Hamlins Hill Regional Park poses significant
consentability risk from a heritage perspective and that any option that
impacts Mutukaroa Hamlins Hill is not supported by Mana Whenua,
again for similar reasons. Is this consenting risk higher than the
consenting risk of the foreshore reclamation involved in option F?
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25

30

MR WILLIAMSON: I'm a mere economist, I'm afraid. I seriously cannot make any
judgement on that particular question.
MR PITCHERS:

35

40

45

In the context of the preparation of the report, which iwi were consulted
with regard to Mutukaroa Hamlins Hill?

MR WILLIAMSON: I can't recall. I really can't. I wasn't part of that consultation process.
I presume that evidence has been provided.
MR PITCHERS:

Is there any other reason why the NZ Transport Agency favours option
F, to your knowledge. Has the NZ Transport Agency been under
political pressure to choose option F, for example? In the indicative
business case there's a reference to the Prime Minister making a speech
to a business forum.

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's correct. But that speech was about the broad alignment, if
you like, of the area itself and not about any particular -- there was no
particular option, no. From my understanding and my involvement,
the decision has come down to an assessment of the options against the
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criteria.
MR PITCHERS:
5

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes. Yes, I do.
MR PITCHERS:
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In an economic sense as well?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MR PITCHERS:

15

All right, so my last two questions. Do you think the assessment of
alternatives for this project has been logical, transparent and replicable?

And the alternatives that have the potential to reduce environmental
effects have been adequately assessed?

MR WILLIAMSON: I'm not qualified to determine the adequacy of the assessment of
environmental effects but I have been involved in the development of
these two business cases and I would say that the process that's been
followed here is significantly better than some of the processes that
have been used previously. One of the advantages of this process is
that the first thing that takes place is an understanding of what the issues
are and what the opportunities are and what the outcomes that are being
sought might be before anybody starts to think about what the solutions
may be, which is possibly a difference that you might see compared to
some older projects. So in terms of developing solutions, the solutions
are then developed in response to the identified problem and the
opportunities. I think that's a particular good way to get around
developing options and then assessing options against criteria which
reflect those outcomes. Does that help?
MR PITCHERS:

All right, yes. But you agree, though, that the option chosen is not the
best economic option?

MR WILLIAMSON: I would say it doesn't have the highest cost benefit ratio but that's not
the same.
MR PITCHERS:

Or option F does not have the highest absolute net benefits either, does
it?

MR WILLIAMSON: It doesn't have the highest net economic benefits but those benefits are
the benefits that you can quantify using the Transport Agency's
economic assessment model.
MR PITCHERS:

All right, thank you. No further questions.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you, Mr Pitchers. Any questions from the Board?

MR BICKERS:

Yes, I have. Sorry, I was trying to find something. The last question
you were asked was whether option F represented the best economic
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option. To your knowledge is the Transport Agency under any
statutory obligation to choose the most economic option?
5

MR WILLIAMSON: No, it's not, no. It's only obliged to understand the relative efficiency
of the options.
MR BICKERS:

10

15

20

[10.00 am]
MR WILLIAMSON: Yes. So NZ Transport Agency, as you are probably aware, has a fairly
comprehensive set of assessment criteria that it uses. The criterion in
the business case were developed specifically to reflect NZ Transport
Agency's own internal investment decision-making process. So, yes,
it is consistent.
MR BICKERS:

25

Right. So I think, and what I was trying to find, in Mr Glidden's
evidence and in some ways the recommendations to the Board and the
multi-criteria analysis, do they reflect the NZ Transport Agency
statutory obligations? I'm asking this because of your involvement
with the business case and I don't want to push you outside your
expertise, but you did write the business case or part of it.

And their own internal investment process would reflect their statutory
obligations?

MR WILLIAMSON: Absolutely, they are completely consistent.
MR BICKERS:

Okay, now in Mr Mulligan's opening legal submissions he said:
"During the business case phase the Transport Agency continuously
tested whether an investment was necessary and worthwhile."

30

So can you just tell us a little bit about that process, how that was done?
That continuous testing.
35

MR WILLIAMSON: Continuous is an interesting word. We didn't do it every day.
MR BICKERS:

40

45

It suggest you never went to bed actually.

MR WILLIAMSON: The process went along the lines of, as I've said, firstly understanding
the transport issues and the opportunities of transport investment within
the project area, and then developing a broad range of alignments
which might address the issues and create benefits, and then refining.
So it was a continuous process on refinement, if you like. And at
certain points there would be a consolidation of ideas into a long list of
options and then there would be more work done to assess the long list
of options, a short list would be produced, those options would be
refined and from which a preferred option was selected and that would
be further refined. So it's a process of narrowing down and refining.
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You need more and more detail and more information as the process
developed.
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MR BICKERS:

Okay, so economics and economic evaluation is one factor within a
multi-criteria analysis approach, the rest of which would reflect, as you
said, NZ Transport Agency's own internal processes.

MR WILLIAMSON: In this particular case, the economic assessment wasn't included as a
criterion within the multi-criteria analysis. The multi-criteria analysis
was designed to reflect the outcomes and the criteria were specifically
chosen to reflect those three project outcomes and the economic
assessment was undertaken separately before the project options. So
the multi-criteria analysis was reported and then the project economics
were reported separately for each of the options.
MR BICKERS:

Okay, so this process that Mr Mulligan described "continuous testing
were the investments worthwhile" was in addition to the other analysis,
is it?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
MR BICKERS:

Okay, thank you very much.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Re-examination, Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Thank you, sir. Mr Williamson, you were given a graph (off mic
conversation)

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, this is the table from page 69 of the indicative business case, isn't
it? So I've got table 8.1 here.
DR PRIESTLEY:

Just pause for a minute, Mr Mulligan. Mr Pitchers, thank you for your
attendance today. Are you coming back for any other crossexamination purposes?

MR PITCHERS:

Mr Curtin is appearing on Thursday next week and probably make
representations then.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you very much. Yes, thank you, Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Sorry, sir, I think my mic wasn't on either. It's actually appendix E,
transport performance assessment details, volume 3, report 3. It may
be that we need it --

MR WILLIAMSON: I may have the same table here but I will just double-check.
MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, I think we will need to it just to check that where it corresponds
with. Volume 3, report 1, supporting technical and assessment reports.
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I just want to confirm where that is in the documentation, Mr
Williamson so that when the Board has a look at it that they can see the
whole table.
5

[10.05 am]
It's appendix E, I think. It's appendix E. E.

10

FEMALE SPEAKER: They're not friendly tabbed, are they?
MR MULLIGAN:

Just after 16. Sorry, just in front of 16.

FEMALE SPEAKER: Just in front of page 16?
15

MR MULLIGAN:

So, Mr Williamson, do you confirm that the extract that is exhibit -- the
last exhibit, S, comes from that appendix?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes, that's right. Yes.
20

MR MULLIGAN:

So that's appendix E Transport Benefit Assessments?

MR WILLIAMSON: Yes.
25

30

MR MULLIGAN:

In answer to questions from Turners & Growers, relating to assessment
of specific economic costs on properties, you made reference to the
costs element within BCR.
MR WILLIAMSON: That's correct.
MR MULLIGAN:

35

40

Thank you.

To what degree would the project costs in the BCR evaluation tool take
account of some of the costs that might arise on individual properties?

MR WILLIAMSON: The costs included in the BCR are derived from the project cost
estimates and the project cost estimate has an allowance within it for
property acquisition and business disruption.
MR MULLIGAN:

But you would accept the general point that that is a reasonably highlevel assessment of costs of an individual property.

MR WILLIAMSON: It will be a high-level assessment, and I'm not privy to the specifics of
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the cost estimates, but it is usual to include a contingency as well.
MR MULLIGAN:
5

MR WILLIAMSON: Right.
MR MULLIGAN:

10

It might pay if you are just slightly closer to the microphone.

The reason why it would be a high-level assessment would be because
you would accept it's quite difficult to assess, down at a micro level,
the costs of individual business.

MR WILLIAMSON: Very much so.
MR MULLIGAN:

15

If one were undertaking comparisons between different corridors, to
compare apples with apples, you would have to undertake those
comparisons of each business cost for all of those options, wouldn't
you, all of those costs?

MR WILLIAMSON: Absolutely, yes, you would.
20

25

30

35

MR MULLIGAN:

MR WILLIAMSON: It's is good question. It would be quite an onerous approach because
of the approach that the Transport Agency itself takes in preferring to
negotiate settlements rather than using the PWA. So it would involve,
I would have thought, a process of sitting down with every affected
property owner in each alignment and determining what the negotiated
settlement might be, or whether you could actually achieve one, if not
what the settlement might be under the PWA.
MR MULLIGAN:

45

That process could take quite a long period of time for a number of
different corridor alignments, couldn't it?

MR WILLIAMSON: Oh, yes. My experience is that property negotiations, there will always
be a few that do take quite a considerable period of time.
MR MULLIGAN:

40

Would you consider that to be a realistic, or not a realistic, approach to
drilling right down to that individual level?

No further questions.
[10.10 am]

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you, Mr Mulligan. Mr Williamson, thank you for coming back.
You are now free to leave.

MR WILLIAMSON: Thank you very much.
(witness excused)
DR PRIESTLEY:

Mr Pilkinton, so are you, and your learned junior - I assume that is your
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learned junior beside you; she is busy taking notes while you are asking
focussed questions.
5

10

Now, do we see you again, or Ms Carruthers again, for a while?
MR PILKINTON:

You will see both of us, sir, on Friday, Ports of Auckland, appearing;
Turners & Growers on Monday.

DR PRIESTLEY:

The only suggestion I make is that you keep in touch with the EPA staff
as to how we are progressing. Tomorrow we have a short site visit to
look at sites of cultural interest, and a cluster of Ngāti Whātua
witnesses, and we are about to start the presentation of Mercury's case.
But I am of the pessimistic view that some of these timeslots are
optimistic, so it could well be there is some slippage and I don't want
you to be inconvenienced by that.

MR PILKINTON:

Thank you, sir. I have been having discussions with them.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you very much. Right. Ms Devine, you wish to open for
Mercury.

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir. I have prepared some legal submissions. I will pass those up.

15

20

Thank you, sir.

25

You will have before you the submissions of Mercury. The first point
is read in terms of understanding that Mercury's position is in
opposition to this road.

30

At paragraph 2 I set out a form of table of contents in terms of the
approach I am going to take to these submissions. I don't propose to
read all of that, just to signpost for you that the first part of my
submissions are about the environment and what the meaning of that
term is. The second part of my submissions concern the significant
adverse effects that Mercury has identified.

35

40

45

DR PRIESTLEY:

Site specific?

MS DEVINE:

In relation to the Southdown site, yes, sir.
The third part is in terms of the assessment of effects and the
deficiencies there, and the fourth, around part 2, though I won't spend
long on that.
Then I proceed to talk about the Minister's decisions, the planning
provisions with some more time, perhaps, sir, on the adequate
consideration of alternatives. Then the effects and whether they have
been avoided, remedied, or mitigated, and concluding with why the
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Board should decline to authorise the road at this time.
So if I start, sir, on page 2, in terms of the environment: you will
appreciate that the Board needs to consider the effects on the
environment, both in terms of the requirement and resource consents.
At 4 I provide you with the quote from Hawthorne, which has been
provided on numerous times through the hearing so far. You will be
familiar with that.

5

10

There are three parts to that test. The first is in relation to existing state
of the environment. The second concerns the future state of the
environment as it may be modified by the use of rights to carry out a
permitted activity. The third is the future state of the environment as it
might be modified by the implementation of resource consents at the
particular time an application is being considered where it appears like
that they will be implemented. I did pause through those because there
is going to be some debate about the meaning of this term and how it
fits in.

15

20

I note at 5, that everybody has adopted that test, so you have some
comfort around the law, unlike the difficulty you might have at part 2,
in your decision.
[10.15 am]

25

At 6, I point out the statements that the planners for NZ Transport
Agency and Mercury have used in relation to the term "environment".
They have said, at (a), that in relation to the existing state of the
environment, they refer to three attributes of the environment. The first
is that there is various infrastructure at the Southdown site, including
the solar activities, and they specifically note that the turbines are not
currently installed at the site. The second feature they refer to is the
designation for First Gas. The third is the consents, and they are in
agreement that they are all implemented; they use that negative
language but the effect of that is that the consents that Mercury holds,
have all entirely been implemented.

30

35
DR PRIESTLEY:
40

Can I just ask you one question, just to test what I think is the core of
your submissions?
You've got here an extremely helpful and well-constructed set of
submissions as to why we should, as you say in paragraph 1, decline
the application, but I take it that if the alignment was different, and
there was no adverse effects on the Mercury site, Mercury's objections
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would fall away.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MS DEVINE:

Correct, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you; 6(b)

MS DEVINE:

Yes, 6(b), and just to record what the planners have agreed in terms of
the future state of the environment, they refer to the permitted activities
in the business-heavy industrial zone and they point to the examples of
small and community-scale electricity generation and battery storage.
Of course, there are other permitted activities in the attachment to their
statement.
Now to my submission to you that the environment includes an
operating power station. In that regard, I submit that the Board should
approach its consideration of effects on the environment on the basis
that the operating power station is part of the existing environment and
not the future environment. I am going to give you many reasons for
that.
The first is that resource consents are enabling. I haven't cited any law
for that, it is trite in some respects, but there is plenty of case law on
the point if it is needed. Mercury, I submit quite simply, does not have
to be using its resource consents at any particular point in time for them
to be lawful and valid. Mercury, of course, has implemented its
resource consents and that is accepted by NZ Transport Agency, and
they will not lapse, the land-use consents. The Southdown power
station has been therefore established and operated in reliance on those
consents. As you know, the Southdown power station is currently
operating in a care and maintenance mode and Mercury continues to
rely on its resource consents for these activities and, if the Board was
interested to look at the consents, you will see there are ongoing
obligations in relation to noise and landscaping and maintenance and
storm water and all sorts of aspects of its land-use consents that it relies
on and is responsible to shoulder the burden of.
I submit that Mercury's resource consents are in a similar situation to
the First Gas assets and the designation that they hold in the Southdown
site. The designation for First Gas provides for the operation,
maintenance, repair and upgrade of its existing gas transmission
pipeline and ancillary facilities. While the gas compound at the
Southdown site is currently capped, and some infrastructure has been
removed, First Gas is not going to go and get a new designation to
recommence its activities at the site; it is entitled to rely on its existing
designation. At (e) there, I do note that Mercury does to install some
equipment and I have, in the footnote there, included what is set out in
Mr Flexman's evidence in terms of what is involved to restart, and we
generally focus on the turbines that just need to be re-screwed back into
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the packages. There are two other things there that are involved and
they include bits of kit associated with NOx control because apparently
that is quicker and more efficient than the old steam system, getting
that back up and going.

5

While it needs to reinstall that equipment which might be considered
to be being sent off and replacements of similar type being reinstalled,
Mercury is entitled to undertake those activities under its existing
consents provided it complies with its applicable conditions. None of
those conditions prohibit Mercury from returning to full operation after
a period of care and maintenance.

10

[10.20 am]
15

There has been a suggestion, and some statements made by Auckland
Council's air expert, Mr Crimmins, that to restart Mercury would need
to obtain a change in its air consent or even a new air discharge consent,
and I submit that that is simply wrong, with respect. Firstly, because
his interpretation of the air discharge permit is not consistent with the
wording of the permit and the planner for Auckland Council was taken
to some questions by Ms Sinnott and he conceded that, in fact, Mr
Crimmins' approach was not correct.

20

Secondly, I point you to the Court of Appeal decision regarding some
windfarms. In the Court of Appeal there is some authority there that
confirms that generators and operators can change turbines in a manner
that is generally in accordance with their permits, so long as they do
not breach any specific conditions. In that case a different model of
generator turbines was used with different noise characteristics to the
type that was indicated in their assessment of environmental effects for
a windfarm, the noise being the issue with windfarms. The court in
that case was being asked to take some enforcement, council wanted to
enforce the conditions of the consent. The court, having considered the
consent conditions, held that the turbines themselves complied with
particular noise emission limits that were specified in the conditions of
the consent - they were poorly worded conditions - and in that instance
the windfarm operator was not breaching the conditions of consent. I
just mention that as an illustration of a case that is somewhat similar
involving generation and turbines in compliance with conditions of
consent.

25

30

35

40
DR PRIESTLEY:

As I recall the evidence, it was likely that if replacement turbines were
to be installed they would probably be a better generation. I suppose
at the very least there would have to be some assessment by a council
official that whatever was being put in there would still comply with
existing consents. Would you accept that?

MS DEVINE:

I am sure Mercury would be very aware too, and sure it could comply

45
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with its conditions of consent so, yes, that would have to be done.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

DR PRIESTLEY:

So, too, with the Court of Appeal case with the wind turbine. There
would have to be an assessment of the noise?

MS DEVINE:

That would be one of the existing conditions of consent that they would
be reviewing, yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

But your point is, provided there is overall compliance, there is no
constriction placed on Mercury to install equipment and restart?

MS DEVINE:

Correct. To take out equipment, send it off overseas for repair and
bring it back. They are not going to have to go and get a new consent
every time they do that.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right. Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

At (8) I address the contrary view. I submit that it would not be the
correct approach to consider the Southdown Power Station as part of
the future environment with some question as to the likelihood of
whether or not it will operate. The Court of Appeal in Hawthorne Hawthorne, sir, you will recall is about whether or not the future needs
to be taken into account when the term "environment" is applied decided to accept the concept that the future environment was part of
the meaning of "environment", so as to not artificially exclude the state
of the environment. It was not evident at the point of assessment. The
focus has been on -- such as resource consents that had been granted
but not implemented.
For the reasons I have already given you, the existing environment, in
my submission, already includes the established Southdown Power
Station in this care and maintenance mode. It is not like the court was
considering, in that scenario, a situation where there is a question about
whether or not it will be built or whether or not it will be operated. It
has been built and it has operated and it can do so in the future.
The Court of Appeal decision has been tested a number of times in the
High Court since then and in my footnote 13 I refer you to a couple of
cases, one is the Queenstown Central case that my friend provided in
his bundle of submissions, which is Justice Fogarty's case, and the other
is the Save Kapiti v NZ Transport Agency case where Justice
Paterson considered these issues as well.
In those cases the High Court has said that the Court of Appeal's
conclusion on the meaning of the environment should be read in
context. The court reminds us that when we are considering an
assessment of the environment, it calls for a real world approach to
analysis without artificial assumptions creating an artificial future
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environment.
[10.25 am]
5

On that, sir, I am simply underlining that the point of including the
future environment is not to artificially distinguish between one
scenario and another. It is to make sure we include the things that we
should think about at the time when we are assessing the effects. So at
(c) I point out that it is not appropriate to assess the effects of this
proposal against an artificial existing environment in which the existing
power station somehow disappears in a puff of legal logic and no longer
exists. Nor is there any legal basis for treating the Southdown Power
Station as somehow less real than other parts of the existing
environment.

10

15
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25

30

35

40

45

DR PRIESTLEY:

Again, the essential core here is that we should assess the effects of the
proposed highway on exactly the same basis as if the Mercury power
generation plant was up and running today?

MS DEVINE:

Absolutely, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

And the fact that it is not up and running today but it could be up and
running were Mercury to make their decision at some future time in
compliance with the existing consents is relevant?

MS DEVINE:

Correct, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

There is no distinction between those two scenarios?

MS DEVINE:

Correct, sir, and I submit that that falls, if you are putting it within the
Hawthorne categories as part of the existing environment, so it is an
operating station and is part of the existing environment.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, I understand. So (d).

MS DEVINE:

(d), as I think I have said, the cases where the future environment has
been of concern and debated in the courts, those courts have had to
consider the activities that were authorised but not yet implemented,
and the courts have had to assess the likelihood of those activities
occurring. This is just not the case here. Mercury has implemented its
consents.
Sir, in light of that definition of the environment, I am going to go on
to address you in terms of the approach to that receiving environment.
It is my submission that the Board should give significant importance
to the following matters when making its decision. You need to give
consideration to the presence of the existing consented power station,
as well as all the electricity and gas infrastructure at the site, and that
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5

10

15

the existence of the power station in its current state increases New
Zealand's security of electricity supply. Also, there are features of the
site itself which make it strategically significant and enable the
infrastructure located there to provide resilience for the Auckland
electricity network, and that is just what NZ Transport Agency says.
At (d) I point out the very important contention around the site itself.
It is Mercury's view - and in my submission the evidence strongly
supports this and there has been no evidence to the contrary - that the
site is unique due to the combination of its Auckland location, its
proximity to a gas pipeline and the electricity grid, as well as the special
heavy industry zoning, the existing generation infrastructure and the
consents it holds to operate a generation facility, as well as the fact that
there is significant infrastructure located at the site that rely on each
other to successfully function. Lastly, I note that the Southdown Power
Station is the only large-scale power generation facility remaining in
Auckland that is able to contribute to the future resilience and security
of electricity supply.

20

Now, this is a different point, sir. The courts have held where a
particular activity assumes significant importance in the context of
sustainable management in New Zealand, it can of itself assume
national importance and be balanced against the matters listed in Part 2.

25

[10.30 am]

30

35
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45

The case cited here is the Marlborough v New Zealand Rail case. It
is a well cited case in terms of RMA law. That was where the fast
ferries were seen to be competing against the rail corridor going across.
The High Court has applied that test in terms of the particular attributes
of an activity assuming national importance. They note that this does
not mean, of course, that those matters become artificially added to the
list of matters of national importance in section 6 of the Act. Rather it
means that the significance of the activity - and here a power station can be taken into consideration when you are making your assessment
overall of whether the proposal is consistent with sustainable
management. Further, in support of the contention that both the power
station and the site, being two different categories, are nationally
important infrastructure. I submit that in support of that which I have
already addressed you on, I note that the Act has identified various
matters that it considers would be nationally significant if the Minister
were to call them in, and they include activities that would assist the
Crown in fulfilling its public health, welfare, security or safety
obligations or functions, such as security of supply.
I also note that there are court cases, and I've selected an Environment
Court one, where the courts have found that electricity is a vital
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resource for New Zealand. There can be no sustainable management
of natural and physical resources without energy, of which electricity
is a vital component. NZ Transport Agency's witnesses have agreed
with that proposition.

5

The Southdown site and the power station have characteristics similar,
I suggest, to other cases where infrastructure has been found to be of
national importance, as they assist in providing for the wellbeing of
New Zealand's community. I've cited some examples there, and they
include a prison facility, the development of the Interisland Ferry link,
and a part of a highway system in the Wellington area.

10

Sir, that's all I'm going to say on that point but it's one of significance.
We're talking about a road here and a power station, and at some point
you're going to get to your decision-making and you're going to be
weighing and balancing matters, and it's my submission to you that you
should balance the power station and the Southdown site with its
special attributes as one of the matters of national importance. That's
what my submission is to you.

15

20

25

Sorry, sir, it's 10.30 am exactly.
DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. Just take it on to the end of paragraph 14 and we'll take the break
there. Are you happy with that?

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir. So the next part of my submissions concerns adverse
effects, and as you will know, the NZ Transport Agency has obligations
to assess all the actual and potential effects on the environment when it
undertakes an assessment of effects, and the Board has to consider
those effects.

30

At 13 I thought it was useful to put -- I seldom put the definition of
"effects" into my submissions, but in terms of Mercury's situation here,
considering the proposal that's come across its land, there are a number
of parts of that definition that apply in these circumstances. So I put it
out there for easy reference. I don't propose to take you to it. You'll
be familiar, of course, with all those aspects, including the potential
effect of low probability, which has a high potential impact. And I note
at 14 that the Board has directed recently that the two planners for NZ
Transport Agency and Mercury put together a helpful summary of
reference of effects, so my following submissions are only going to
hopefully help you in the summarised gathering of those effects in one
way.

35

40

45

DR PRIESTLEY:

That was the direction we put out yesterday, wasn't it?

MS DEVINE:

Yes.
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5

10

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. All right. Well, thank you very much, Ms Devine. We'll take a
break at that point and resume at paragraph 15 when we return.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir.
ADJOURNED

[10.35 am]

RESUMED

[10.54 am]

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you, please, continue, Ms Devine.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir. Just about to go through the various effects, just before
15.

15

So the first adverse effect, a significant adverse effect, I'd like to draw
your attention to, you won't be surprised to appreciate, is the ones
relating to the safety effects in terms of those both working at the
Southdown site and the users of the East West Link.

20

[10.55 am]
In my submission, based on the information that you have before you
the Board does not have a complete assessment of the effects associated
with locating the road over a gas fired power station. It also does not
have sufficient information to know that the effects are acceptable to
society or tolerable if all reasonably practicable steps to reduce the risk
are undertaken.

25

The Board cannot identify all of the measures necessary to ensure that
these two activities can safely co-locate and the Board cannot assess
whether or not it is practical or achievable to implement any such
measures to ensure that safety, including where potential safety
measures might need to occur in areas beyond NZ Transport Agency's
control.

30

35

However, I do submit that the Board does have enough information to
know that there are potential effects with low probability which have a
high potential impact, including the actual existence of the road which
introduces potential ignition sources as well as gas pipelines at the
power station which could rupture or have small leaks that could result
in a range of fire events, including jet fires, pressure waves and
explosions. In close proximity to a road they could impact the road and
road users.

40

45

DR PRIESTLEY:

Just pausing there for a minute. Can you just go back to (a), what are
the potential ignition sources introduced by the road? Is that something
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coming off the road?

5

MS DEVINE:

That's the flying car, sir.

MR BICKERS:

Better than a pig.

MS DEVINE:

And in that regard I do refer to the footnote 30 there in terms of the
idea of a barrier to assist. There are various barriers being thrown
around in terms of the flying cars or the turbines exploding and you
will have appreciated from your site visit that there is internal roading
network, firefighting equipment needs to be able to get around that and
putting a big wall in the middle of that might be another impediment
that hasn't been explored.

10

In terms of the submission at 16, having enough information to know
that there are such effects in addition to the road with ignition sources
in the gas pipelines that I've referred to, at (c) I refer to the spinning
equipment. My shorthand for the turbines and the generators. The
spinning equipment associated with electricity generation and
regulation. So both scenarios of electricity generation and voltage
support, which, if faulty, could become projectile that impact the road
and road users. I also mention at (d) the noise from the power station
starting up and shutting down, which could cause a potential hazard to
the East West Link users.

15

20

25

MR PARSONSON:

Ms Devine, last yesterday Mr Schaffoener quite vigorously made the
point that Mercury has its own requirements in terms of health and
safety to protect its own workers and contractors, is point (a) and point
(b) required to work together there to create the additional risk to
Mercury? Obviously there will be potential for gas leaks and fire which
Mercury must manage now but is the additional risk dependent on the
factor introduced by (a)?

MS DEVINE:

Yes, and at 21 when I talk about reverse sensitivity I talk about the new
things that have been introduced by this proposal which do change the
circumstances from what Mercury's facing at the moment, which I
think is the critical part of the answer to your question. So they do have
an obligation, of course, to protect their workers and operate their plant
in appropriate ways for health and safety legislation but at present that's
in the context of a site that's down the end of a long industrial road with
very few neighbours, and a not very densely packed population of
people nearby.

MR PARSONSON:

And (b) and (a) working in combination adds a potential risk to
Mercury on its own site, (c) and (d) are risks of impacts to road users,
is that right?

MS DEVINE:

Well, it depends how you look at (a) and (b). There's a person in the

30

35

40

45
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car that goes over, there's a risk to the users and the same with the gas
as well.
5

MR PARSONSON:

Indeed, that could impact the road but (c) and (d) working in
combination are the two components that could impact Mercury on its
own site, is that right?
[11.00 am]

10

15

MS DEVINE:

Well, I think all of those would -- (d) wouldn't but (c) is an existing risk
that would impact the Mercury site, I think, if you look at it that way.
Yes.

MR PARSONSON:

Thank you.

MR BICKERS:

I think Mr Parsonson is identifying the questions that we've been asking
to follow your thesis and we have an existing site, assuming you had
an operating power station, there are a certain set of risks and effects
associated with that. We're trying to understand what risks the road
imposes on the site, including the reverse sensitivity effects. So hence
our question back to the planners to reference that. But that is a
distinction that we are grappling with. What effects does the road
introduce versus what exists at the present time, or if the plant was
operating?

MS DEVINE:

I completely appreciate that, thank you, Mr Bickers. Hopefully these
submissions assist that as well as the evidence from Mercury to clarify
that further and further for you.

MR BICKERS:

Yes.

MS DEVINE:

I do note that there are -- I'm just thinking of Ms Tepania's questions
around the risk contours and comparing the existing risk relative to the
new risk. In terms of that analogy, which leads on from what Mr
Bickers is saying, the concept of what was acceptable risk in that
scenario is now very different to the risk contours that may have gone
around the outside of the power station and worked okay and be
acceptable from all norms and tolerable ranges and the like. It's going
to be very different with a road over the top of it. So the contours -- it
can't be the same contour because the road will be within that contour.
So you can't just say, "Well, design it to meet the same risks" because
the risk, if the line is a circle -- let's be very abstract about it. Circle
around the power station and you can't say, "Well, we'll just keep the
circle at the same limit" because these new things, and I will come on
perhaps to the reverse sensitivity submissions which might assist,
change circumstances such that what was in the past acceptable, it
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becomes not acceptable with the road next to it.
MS TEPANIA:

It comes down to the receiving environment, though, and the sensitivity
of that receiving environment and how that changes but it's something
I will put to you risk expert around whether or not that's already taken
into account in terms of the risk criteria and the measurements are
already dealt with in setting those contours with the use of ALARP, as
low as reasonably practicable, because there's a wider berth within
those contours, if you like. I take your point, though.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you. So, sir, at 17, if I can carry on, there I refer to a Shirley
Primary School case that was in Christchurch. This is again an old
case but one that's often cited, and that's when we got introduced to the
idea of cell sites and the like. That case was about the local community
being concerned about cancer risk associated with cell phone masts. In
that case the Environment Court held that to allow a development or
proposal such as this that had a low probability risk of a safety impact
then the decision-maker needs to satisfy itself that the level of risk from
the proposal is acceptable compared to the daily risks that people take.
So I remember lots of talk about microwaves relative to cell phone
masts and the like and they were comparing them to say, "Is this a real
larger risk?"
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I think the circumstances are easy to fit within that test so my following
comments are in support of that submission. In my submission you
don't have information to determine that the risks associated with
locating the road in such close proximity to a power station are
comparable to the daily risks that people take. Before NZ Transport
Agency commissioned Mr Erskine to undertake a risk assessment in
June this year it was operating on an assumption that the power station
and the road could co-locate.

25

30
DR PRIESTLEY:
35

You'd say, I guess, that - and there has been some evidence although
modification for obvious reasons of stances - when thinking about the
alignment the news which came out that Mercury was taking out its
turbines was seen as maybe helping NZ Transport Agency.
[11.05 am]

40

45

But your answer to that would be that that was an erroneous assumption
because NZ Transport Agency's assessment, so far as alignment was
concerned should have proceeded on the basis, as we discussed before
the break, that the power station was still an operating entity.
MS DEVINE:

Absolutely, sir, and consistent with the evidence and the
correspondence between the parties, they were told explicitly that they
wanted to be able to continue to rely on their consents to operate and
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to be aware of the generators.

5

DR PRIESTLEY:

Okay, yes.

MS DEVINE:

Further in terms of that Shirley Primary School test, following Mr
Erskine's initial risk assessment we term it that it is NZ Transport
Agency's own evidence that some risks associated with the proposal
are unacceptable to society, such as the risks associated with the First
Gas assets. Some risks may only be tolerable provided sufficient
controls are put in place. In terms of those controls and measures, as
they refer to them, it is Mr Erskine's, NZ Transport Agency's evidence,
that the hazards, risks and controls associated with colocation need
further consideration to understand whether they are acceptable or
unacceptable or tolerable and, if tolerable, then what controls are
actually practically achievable.

10

15

My next point (ii) concerns the situation with LPG tanks. My
submission is this proposal is quite different to that case. In that case,
the Environment Court was considering whether there were established
measures to address the safety risks of locating LPG tanks and filling
stations on land next to residential activities, and it is the houses.
Understandably, the people on the boundary of those were a little bit
upset about them. North Canterbury Gas in that scenario pointed to the
well-established practice of a separation distance, in that case, of 22
metres as well as a vapour barrier fence on the boundary of the
property, and my submission is: in these circumstances, we have no
established measures for building major roads on elevated structures
within seven metres of a gas-powered thermal power station.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

I suppose there you would point to the not conclusive but analogous
evidence yesterday of the power stations in Houston and on Staten
Island?

MS DEVINE:

In what regard, sir? In terms of …?

DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, the degree of separation from the surrounding environment.

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

That was your cross-examination. I thought that was your purpose.

MS DEVINE:

The purpose of yesterday's cross-examination in relation to the
American scenarios is that they are quite different. They are not
anything like this situation.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes.

MS DEVINE:

This situation is quite unique and not acceptable on the terms that are
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proposed.

5

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

In my submission, refusing a proposal on the basis of safety concerns
is consistent with section 5 of the Act - which I will come on to in terms
of my Part 2 submissions - and your obligation to consider effects. I
have a few examples of proposals being declined on the basis of safety
issues. The first is Cashin v Queenstown Lakes District Council.
That is one of the jet boating cases where the different operators of the
jet boats are concerned about the stretch of river being congested. It
held that, although the probability of a collision or an accident between
the jet boats or even someone trying to avoid a collision was low, the
potential impact on the passengers was high and they declined the
application in that situation.

10

15

In Glentanner v Mackenzie District Council, the Environment Court
refused to grant consent for a heliport to be constructed in an area where
there was already congested air space. In that case, the court refused
consents on the basis that while the probability of an air accident
occurring was low, the potential impact again was high.

20

[11.10 am]
25

Now, lastly, I have included a case of the Coroner's Court, which is not
typical in RMA submissions, your Honour, and I do it with a lot of
sombre recollection in terms of the matter at hand. This was a case
before 2008 where four people died, a number of them within one
family. There was an intersection that NZ Transport Agency knew to
be unsafe. They went to the local community and the community said,
"Keep it there. It's quite convenient for us. We would rather you kept
it", and they didn't make changes to address safety. Then later, after
that consultation process happened, there was an incident and four
people died. The coroner's report, which I have included in the bundle,
emphasises the importance to NZ Transport Agency that it needs to
prioritise safety for state highway users, and it needs to record the
importance of doing that into its corporate memory, and I will say not
more on that point.

30

35

40

DR PRIESTLEY:

One issue which I am thinking about arising out of the Shirley
Primary School case - and I have not looked at it - back at the top of
page 10, you cite that as an authority that a decision-maker, which is
us, needs to satisfy itself that the levels of risk are acceptable.

45

MS DEVINE:

Acceptable compared to the daily risks.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, compared with other daily risks. We have already had the
evidence of Mr Erskine as it relates to the First Gas assets and location.
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I have two questions arising out of that. Although this is a board and
some of its processes can be inquisitorial, we don't go running around
commissioning our own risk assessments. We push this back to the
parties with the joint conferencing, etc, which we have done on three
or four occasions now with the Mercury site. But I take it that the fact
that Mercury has not itself, for whatever reason - and I am not being
critical - done its own comprehensive qualitative and quantitative risk
assessment is not a matter from which we should draw any inferences.
We just have to take the view that the ultimate onus is on the applicant?

5

10

MS DEVINE:

15

In terms of the question about what Mercury has done around its own
assessment of risk of operating a power station, Mercury can absolutely
answer that question for you and explain that it has a good
understanding of what it takes to operate a power station where it
located at the moment without a road anywhere nearby. That of course
was established when Mercury bought the site and had been tested
through consents and other operations and been inspected by various
authorities who work and inspect power stations. It has been operating
successfully, in that regard, in a lawful environment with no suggestion
from any authorities that it has been unlawfully operating.
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Absolutely, sir. I have case law to support that approach. I think you
are receiving two contentions from NZ Transport Agency in that
regard. One is: what is the information that is present in relation to its
existing operations and what is the work that has been done in relation
to the road? Of course, in relation to the road obligation, it is not for
Mercury to do NZ Transport Agency's job. NZ Transport Agency
needs to do a proper risk assessment and understand that and convince
you that this is a safe exercise to be undertaken.

If you asked for: where is the document that looks like Mr Erskine's
type of report in relation to the work done when it was established in
2012 and the like, you might recall Mr Erskine saying these things
aren't always done, risk assessment reports.
DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes.

MS DEVINE:

This is not something that is commonly done. It is reluctantly paid for
by major hazard facilities when they have to and it is only starting to
happen increasingly in the future, and I can tell you that from clients I
work with as well. These are not tools that are deployed on a daily
basis for operating facilities unless they have to do that, so they make
more practical assessments at the time that they operate.
I hope that helps, your Honour, and I am sure every single one of the
Mercury witnesses will be asked those questions as the process goes
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through but, hopefully, that is of some assistance.
DR PRIESTLEY:
5

10

All right. My second question arises out of exactly the same issue and
it is slightly more Jesuitical. And it hasn't done this yet, but where
would it leave us if NZ Transport Agency were to say, "Well, the risks
of the road to the Mercury site, flying cars, etc, etc, are minimal and,
as far as the other risks are concerned, the risks which the Mercury site
poses to this alignment, we are prepared to accept that it falls inside our
own safety matrix". What would we do then? I think I know the
answer but I would like you to tell me what you think.
[11.15 am]

15

MS DEVINE:

Falls inside NZ Transport Agency's risk safety matrix?

DR PRIESTLEY:

That's right. They say, "We're prepared to accept this risk".

MS DEVINE:

That is simply not enough for you to make your decision on the basis
of, sir. You need to make that decision for yourself based on sufficient
information in front of you, and it doesn't of course mean that Mercury
is satisfied. That being a separate matter it needs to be something for
you to consider and, in terms of the Shirley Primary School case that
we have before us, I don't see any suggestion that the risks are accepted
by the public on a daily basis that is being proposed here.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So we can't do a Pontius Pilate and wash our hands and say, "Well, NZ
Transport Agency, if you are prepared to accept those risks so be it"?

MS DEVINE:

And the contrary, if you recall my opening statement, sir, that Mercury
is relying on you to do the opposite and to look at this very carefully
because it doesn't feel that it will have the opportunity in the future to
take a contrary view once NZ Transport Agency has put that road on
its land.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. All right. Thank you. Mr Parsonson, we won't berate Ms Devine
with a coffee bar feast in from Pūhoi, shall we?

MR PARSONSON:

It did come to mind, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, it came to mind.

MR PARSONSON:

And casting back to an incident at Pūhoi where the Board got presented
with coffees.

MS DEVINE:

Apologies for the omission, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

At the end of the inquiry, my fellow members of the Board presented
me with a Listener cartoon of two men side by side in front of their
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terminals and one saying to the other, "Please remind me, are we the
office or the coffee bar?"
5

MS DEVINE:

Very good, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Okay. Thank you. Proceed, please.

MS DEVINE:

So we are just turning next to that reverse sensitivity effects issue and
the case law around that, which we have traversed into already. It is
quite helpful to segue from that discussion into this. Obviously, it is
my submission that reverse sensitivity effects are relevant effects for
the Board's consideration and can be a basis for declining a proposal.
And before I go onto the second sentence, I note that the witnesses for
NZ Transport Agency are very keen to say there is no such thing as
reverse sensitivity with a road and it is my submission that it is a bit
simplistic and, with respect, the wrong approach to take to an issue like
this.

10

15

I submit that the situation is similar to one of the leading RMA cases
on reverse sensitivity, and that is known as McQueen v Waikato
District Council. Now in McQueen, it is probably well cited because
of the facts, we have orchardists who were concerned about a proposal
to establish a nudist club in the vicinity of their orchards. In that case,
the applicant --
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DR PRIESTLEY:

I am not sure Judge Sheppard was the right person to draw --

MS DEVINE:

You might not have much sympathy, sir.
In that situation, the applicant asserted that so long as the orchardists
adopted their appropriate spraying practices, then it would make its
own arrangements to protect its people in the club. As you say, Judge
Sheppard held that the application would create an unacceptable
reverse sensitivity situation and I have included the quote there because
I think it is helpful. He said:
"We do not accept that this question can be disposed of by the
applicant's acceptance of the risk for its own members."

40

This is your question entirely, sir.

45

"We hold that the wishes of the orchardists in the vicinity to spray their
crops would in law, under health and safety law, be restricted by the
presence of the people on the applicant's property so they would have
to take steps to recognise this new change in the environment. Quite
apart from any legal liability, any orchardist would, out of humanity,
feel restrained from spraying in circumstances where people might be
harmed. We find that there would be a potential effect on the
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environment of allowing the proposed activity and the effect would be
that those orchardists in the vicinity would be restrained from
managing their orchards with chemical sprays at times and in the ways
that they might otherwise do because of the risk of harm to people using
the
applicant's
property
for
recreation.

5

[11.20 am]
10

15

So, here we have a very similar situation. Mercury is going to be
constrained in what it can do on its site because now it will have a road
that goes through it. I did refer Mr Parsonson to paragraph 21, but I
will take you through it.
MR PARSONSON:

I've got questions, so thank you.

MS DEVINE:

In proposing the establishment of a road, and the pedestrian walkway
and cycleway we mustn't forget, both over and in close proximity to
the site, NZ Transport Agency is introducing - and here I have tried to
break down the things that have been introduced; they are introducing
people, which includes the vehicles, pedestrians, and cyclists above and
in close proximity - to this site, which currently has controlled access
and is zoned for heavy industry. It is also introducing new hazards to
the site; they include the flying cars and debris as well as those being
ignition sources coming from the bridge and they may impact
equipment there, being the high-pressure gas or transformers. They
also introduce some new hazards, or hazards in new but as yet unknown
locations within the site and that is because this proposal is going to
require a number of pieces of infrastructure like a jigsaw puzzle
moving around the Mercury site. So that is the KiwiRail sub-station is
going to move somewhere, the Transpower power and monocoal(?)
will come onto the site and the First Gas assets will also be changed
and Mercury will want them to stay within the area but that relocation
itself creates another hazard. You will recall Mr Erskine saying
sometimes the controls themselves stopping First Gas from being under
a bridge, themselves are fixed to that, can create new hazards, and so
they are hazards, they are all hazards, that would constrain Mercury's
ability to operate in those areas in the future.

MR PARSONSON:

Can I just ask a question now?
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I am certainly not expressing any view on the acceptability of the risks,
or the relevance of the risks, but I can obviously see that (a) is a reverse
sensitivity issue where Mercury's activities could be impacted by future
concerns by others using the road and those sorts of issues.
(b) and (c) seem to be like direct potential effects of the road on
Mercury and it is a moot point, but it is just trying to get the right
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framework around these impacts, so they may or may not be reverse
sensitivity issues, they may be direct potential impacts. Do you have a
comment on that?
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MS DEVINE:

I think they are both.

MR PARSONSON:

Okay. Thanks.

MS DEVINE:

Now, these changes create an ongoing reverse sensitivity situation for
Mercury and the other infrastructure operators at the Southdown site.
They will increase the efforts that they have to make to comply with
their health and safety obligations, and Mr Erskine accepted that this is
the case and that by its very nature is a reverse sensitivity effect.
Infrastructure operators' practices in managing their electricity and gas
assets will have to change to respond to the presence of people and the
road compared to ways that they might otherwise manage those assets
without a road. Even if NZ Transport Agency - and this is a question
asked earlier - were to accept that level of safety risk, or lower than
normal amenity for its project, future users of the road, or other
interested bodies such as the operators on the site, or WorkSafe, they
may not accept that, and any one of those people might take steps to
stop or alter the operations of the activities on the Southdown site to
address the impacts of the road or on the users of the road or the
workers on site. They are the responses that have to be the reverse
sensitivity that needs to be taken into account.
At 23, I remind you of some of my cross-examination things to Ms
Rickard. You will be aware that NZ Transport Agency itself does try
to take steps to address reverse sensitivity in relation to its own assets.
Where new activities sensitive to noise seek to locate near a state
highway, NZ Transport Agency's guidelines seek a 40 - 140-metre
buffer or control area. I submit to you that if the situation were
reversed, with the road existing and Mercury trying to seek to establish
a Southdown power station within 7 metres of it, NZ Transport Agency
would absolutely oppose that. If that seems reasonable, then of course
this is an unreasonable proposition to be considered in this proposal.
[11.25 am]

40

45

I turn from reverse sensitivity to the third adverse effect, which is that
the proposal has adverse effects on New Zealand's security of
electricity supply. With the option of restarting the power station, the
option needs to be retained to support New Zealand's electricity supply
because, as you heard in evidence already and will hear more today,
New Zealand is heavily reliant on hydro generation. The fuel for the
majority of our generation plant is driven by weather conditions and,
on average, the national electricity generation resources are at their
lowest during winter, when electricity demand is at its highest. New
Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4115

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Zealand manages this hydro variability with thermal generation, which
is not weather related. Therefore, the increasing role for renewable
energy doesn't necessarily imply a diminished role for gas plant. Mr
Bickers had questions on that point yesterday.
As I have suggested to Mr Heaps, there could be incidents - and he
accepted - which knock out the supply or distribution of electricity,
which could lead to an urgent demand for electricity generation in
Auckland. He accepted that was a probability in a number of scenarios.
Lastly, I point you to the fact that the Southdown situation - it's
Mercury's evidence - is an ideal location for re-establishing highly
flexible gas generation, given the colocation of the existing key
infrastructure, that its Auckland location, its zoning and consents, the
fact that the power station already exists.
I note that Ms Hopkins, one of NZ Transport Agency's planners,
accepted that the Southdown site could be used to meet the needs of
future generations in terms of electricity supply.
I submit to you that the evidence of Mercury is that without the East
West Link, the Southdown power station could be restarted in three to
four months but the road would compromise Mercury's ability to restart
in that timeframe because if the road was constructed where it is shown,
it would take at least four months longer to restart the power station.
The footnote there I have, is to let you know - I am not sure it is clear
at this point - that the idea of the First Gas assets moving has not been
on the table until, I think, the rebuttal evidence, or comments; it
certainly wasn't until after Mercury had filed its evidence. So NZ
Transport Agency hadn't turned its mind to shifting that asset and that
adds more time to what perhaps Mercury has indicated in its evidence.
In terms of the evidence that Mercury has provided, it taking at least
four months longer to restart the power station, I refer you to the fact
that the wet surface air cooled condenser, the WETSAC that we have
heard about, looks like the cooling towers, the cooling tower is just part
of it, including the two auxiliary cooling towers which are required to
continue the ongoing operation of the site, they need to be demolished
for the road to be constructed. You will recall, yesterday Mr Heaps
agreed that it would be reasonable that this alone could take six months.
Therefore, to restart the power station following the construction of the
EWL, the site would need to be rehabilitated to a structural standard
and new cooling infrastructure installed, which takes time.
In terms of (b), the relocation or removal of the First Gas infrastructure
away from the designated area that it has, to some new, unidentified
area, obviously will also take time and further, more time might be
needed to restart if Mercury had to obtain some extra amendments to
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its consents.

5

I am going to turn to the next adverse effects, unless there are some
questions on that point.
DR PRIESTLEY:

No.

MS DEVINE:

This comes to the issue of a waiver in terms of the impact of the
designation over a large part of Mercury's site.

10

[11.30 am]
I do recognise, at 28, that NZ Transport Agency has proposed a
condition that requires it to identify, after construction, any areas of
designated land that are no longer necessary for the ongoing operation,
maintenance or mitigation of effects of the project and give notice for
those parts of the designation to be removed under section 182 of the
RMA. Now, given the proposal involves an elevated structure through
the Southdown site, Mercury maintains there is a significant risk that
NZ Transport Agency would still want to keep its broad designation
footprint on Mercury's land. And if you look at the terms of that, they
allow scope for that, mitigation of effects is included in their proposed
conditions.
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You may be familiar with what section 176(1)(b) of Act says, briefly it
is that no person may, without prior written consent of NZ Transport
Agency in this case do anything that would prevent or hinder the
project to which it relates. That includes changing the character,
intensity or scale of the use of the land. This is a significant constraint.
DR PRIESTLEY:

I suppose your point there is, quite apart from the adverse effects, etc,
which you've dealt with so far, that so long as the designation stays in
place this would inhibit in a very real way any site alternations,
improvements or relocations, changes in use which Mercury might
legitimately want to bring about on its own site and that the prospect of
NZ Transport Agency waiving is reasonably remote, or certainly
something which can't be relied on?

MS DEVINE:

Absolutely, sir, and for clarity I do note that this constraint relates to
the designation footprint which is large across that southern part of the
site. Of course, it would also -- the separate point that I've already
raised is that it would constrain them from a reverse sensitivity
perspective in terms of the balance of its site potentially about what it
might feel that it can't do on that site. Here, yes, in terms of the
footprint of the site, it is going to need to ask for permission to operate
anything in that area, which is an enormously significant adverse effect
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on an entity that turns on and off its electricity minute by minute.
DR PRIESTLEY:

And the designation as marked doesn't seem to be excessive or liberal,
such as the case, for instance, on the TR site and Anns Creek, it's pretty
constrained. Nothing remarkable about it but the effect of it on the
Mercury site would be considerable. That's the essence of it, isn't it?

MS DEVINE:

Absolutely, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

At 30 I make that point and I give two examples. I point out that NZ
Transport Agency might decide that there are unacceptable safety risks
from the assets under the designation footprint of the Southdown Power
Station being restarted and therefore undermine New Zealand's
security of electricity supply. I also point to the fact that Mercury, if it
wanted to introduce new technology or just upgrade kit, or do some
alterations on its site, would need to specifically consider whether that
change might hinder the road in some way. Given the nature of
activities associated with a power station and contemplated in the
heavy industry zone that they have there, NZ Transport Agency may
consider that it's consent was needed.
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Now, for completeness I point you to a case there in paragraph 31. The
Environment Court has held that this restriction in the Act only applies
to activities that happen after -- activity is commenced on the
designation land after the designation is imposed, or at least after the
notification of the requirement. Therefore, Mercury takes the view that
this waiver requirement would not prevent it from restarting the
Southdown Power Station. However, NZ Transport Agency has not
tried to provide this clarity in its proposed conditions.
The way proposed in Ms Hopkins' draft condition 7 is limited to
Mercury not needing NZ Transport Agency's consent for ongoing
access to enable work associated with maintenance at the Southdown
site. The waiver does not enable the maintenance itself, nor does it
enable the operation, repair or upgrade of Mercury's assets.
[11.35 am]
You can imagine, sir, that this just on its own is a very significant risk
effect on Mercury being able to operate a power station on that site.
Turning to the fifth adverse effect that I wanted to draw your attention
to, and it's one of the future effects if we remember the definition of
effects, including future effects. There are a number of adverse future
effects of the proposal on Mercury and I have said them a few times
already in these submissions and I just note there that relates to the
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Transpower, the First Gas and the KiwiRail substations. In relation to
each, in terms of (a) you will appreciate that Transpower has already
acknowledged that this is a flow on effect of the proposal and it is
relevant for you to take into account for moving Transpower assets.
Obviously the effect of the gas supply means there's difficulties in
restarting and in terms of the substation the removal or relocation of
that may make the site less attractive to Transpower for being there and
also may reduce the interdependence of the infrastructure assets at the
Southdown site, which currently rely on each other to successfully
function.
On the next page I note that the extent that these changes will impact
Mercury is unknown.
NZ Transport Agency witnesses do
acknowledge that the infrastructure on the site is of significant
importance to Mercury. I submit that the changes may remove or
constrain those unique features that make the Southdown Site
strategically significant and, in my submission, of national importance.
They also might undermine the ability of the site to be used for the solar
research and development activities its proposed or for the gas fired
power station generation, at all or even within the three to four-month
period that it currently can do, sir.
The Transpower alterations may result in Mercury not having
appropriate separation distances and this hasn't been canvassed at
length before the Board yet because we haven't had Transpower yet.
The idea was Transpower's case would come before Mercury's case but
the sequence of events has had Mercury come first. So you may
appreciate that the National Grid infrastructure has separation distances
between it and other structures and it is, in effect, wherever that is
located that Mercury will have to work around having sufficient
clearance from those structures to be able to enable Mercury to move
plant around the site without breaching those separation distances.
Now, in those situations Mercury would have to turn with its begging
hat from NZ Transport Agency to Transpower to be able to operate on
its own site again and Transpower could either refuse the consents or
impose conditions which constrains Mercury's operations. In my
footnote there I point to the evidence of Mr Noble who points out that
Transpower prefers that possible works to be moved away from the
National Grid and it very infrequently grants dispositions in relation to
buildings or structures.
I submit that based on the uncertainty of these effects alone, the Board
should conclude that the proposal may stop Mercury from operating
and there would be a loss to future generations of this strategically

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4119

significant site.
At 35 I wish to briefly address the Board on the Public Works Act point.
I submit that the Board should not disregard these or other adverse
effects on Mercury simply because the PWA exists. With respect that's
not the proper approach that the Board has to take to effects. In my
submission there is no deference in the RMA to the Public Works Act
and the PWA does not override the Board's obligations under the RMA
to consider the effects, including economic effects, of the proposal.
There is no appellate court authority that support such a proposition.

5

10
DR PRIESTLEY:
15

I understand that submission and there's nothing there which is
contentious as far as the legal submissions is concerned but the Public
Works Act isn't in play at the moment, is it?
[11.40 am]

MS DEVINE:

No, sir, and certainly Mercury's not a willing seller at all but it is a
theory of NZ Transport Agency's case that there are certain effects,
economic effects, related effects, that you should turn your mind away
from because of the existence of the Public Works Act. And my friend
cites in his submission a couple of cases where the courts acknowledge
the existence of the PWA but they don't go so far as to say, "You can't
consider economic effects". I think your Honour appreciates that the
RMA requires you to consider the effects and that has no limitations
on it.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, I understand that but I'm not quite sure, with respect, about the
point of this submission.

MS DEVINE:

It is for completeness only, not that it's in play in terms of the
Mercury --

DR PRIESTLEY:

We couldn't come to a decision on the Mercury which sort of said at
the end of the day NZ Transport Agency could invoke the Public Works
Act and acquire either the whole site or acquire the consents that might
be possible, but that's not at the moment on the table, is it?

MS DEVINE:

And my submission is that it should not be on the table but there is and my friend may have the submission that NZ Transport Agency has
the powers to use the Public Works Act, it might solve all your
problems if it just takes the land that's underneath the footprint. My
submission is that --

DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, it might have but that's not what's happened.

MS DEVINE:

It hasn't happened yet and they might put it to you that they want to do
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that. But my submission is that's irrelevant.

5

10

DR PRIESTLEY:

It's a bit late in the day to do that.

MS DEVINE:

It's just completely irrelevant and that's all I'm saying there with that
paragraph.

DR PRIESTLEY:

It's its irrelevancy which made me ask you why it was there. Thank
you.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I am not chiding you for putting it there but I just wanted to make sure
I understood why you had. So what you're doing is cautioning us
against a fall-back position which, at the moment, is non-existent and
hypothetical?

MS DEVINE:

Correct, and while for Mercury it becomes quite clear in your mind,
you can see the effects that need to be considered and need to take them
into account when considering the proposal. But for other sites NZ
Transport Agency is going to rely on and say, "All these business
owners who are affected, you shouldn't have regard to them because
they will be okay under the Public Works Act".

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right, 36.

MS DEVINE:

Here I point to some of the particular types of effects that are on
Mercury's ability to use its site. I have given three examples there. The
first relates to dust and the impact of dust on electrical equipment at the
Southdown site and the solar Research and Development Centre, and
there is reference there in the joint witness statement - I have cited it at footnote 63 to the fact that the build up of dust could cause arcing
across insulators. There could be a risk of accelerated metal corrosion
due to the concrete dust associated with construction being highly
alkaline, and of course there could be less sun shining on the panels for
the solar panels and, therefore, lower output.
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In terms of the second example, there is no certainty about how the
vehicles are going to work on a site. Large vehicles need to access into
and around the site and that access needs to be maintained without
dispensation from Transpower, both during and after construction if the
proposal were to be approved. Obviously, having the ability to operate
the site but not being able to maintain it is quite a huge constraint for
Mercury, so they are focused on that.
The third is about the level of NOx in the vicinity of the site. That is
the contention that it will increase as a result of the road, and the
location of the road may mean that in the future Auckland Council may
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take a view that the boundary at which the effects of Mercury's air
discharges needs to be assessed has to change, and Mercury might have
to undertake a greater degree of effects assessment when seeking to
vary or renew its air discharge consents.
DR PRIESTLEY:

That is not the case at the moment, though, is it?

MS DEVINE:

No. This is an effect of the road.

DR PRIESTLEY:

The current environment in the evidence we have had, thus far,
suggests there is sufficient headroom for NOx.

MS DEVINE:

You can appreciate that when Mercury got its air discharge consent for
a gas-fired power station there was a real focus on NOx, and Mercury
will be a large contributor to that. The fact that that is going to change
in the future is going to be really pertinent and is going to come down
to Mercury wearing the burden of having to demonstrate Mercury's role
relative to the traffic in the future. All well and good but NZ Transport
Agency does not have to get a consent because cars don't need to get
consents for emissions, but one of the effects of this project is that there
are going to be more cars in the area. There will be more NOx.
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[11.45 am]
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So, it should be the NZ Transport Agency that bears any burden
associated with proving what the NOx levels are in this area, not
Southdown.
MR BICKERS:

That is not really the issue for Mercury, I think. Mercury, as you have
said in your submissions, has got existing consents and it could
re-establish its plant provided it complies with those consents. In the
consent there are specific emission standards laid down for each of the
three machines. So, would it be right to assume that, provided the new
machines or the old ones if they were being put back - but if you have
got new machines - met those emission standards that is the end of the
matter, isn't it?

MS DEVINE:

You are absolutely correct in that regard and that is what I was saying
earlier in my submissions. This is about varying the consents or getting
its new consents to replacements. Their discharge consents have a time
limit.

MR BICKERS:

I accept that if you bring new turbines in you could be deemed to be
varying, but provided --

MS DEVINE:

No, that is not my submission, sir. I am definitely not submitting that
there is any need for a variation around the turbines but, in the event
that something were to change - whatever that might be in the future in
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terms of future operations - so if there is a trigger for Mercury having
to go back and get a new consent or something different, not relating
to the turbines, then it has to assess the environment that it is faced with
at the time.
MR BICKERS:

All right. I see. It seemed to me that there was no constraint on you
re-establishing the turbines.

MS DEVINE:

Correct. We are on the same page, yes, sir.

MR BICKERS:

Okay.

DR PRIESTLEY:

But, as you rightly pointed out in the Court of Appeal case at
Hawthorne, the fact that the Auckland City may change the levels in
the future is not something that we can really consider, is it?

MS DEVINE:

I guess there are two parts to what Mr Bickers was saying. You picked
up on the second part.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes.

MS DEVINE:

That is, in terms of complying with its existing consents relative to the
future changes that might be needed, and assessing that environment in
terms of complying with its existing consents, there is the risk that the
boundary at which it has to not have any objectionable odours, dust and
the like, that might change and be closer now because of where the road
is, as opposed to the triangle that the road is now introduced into, so
that could change a compliance requirement for Mercury. That is
simply because that obligation, that condition of the consent, is to do
that at the boundary and when you introduce a road, depending on what
the NZ Transport Agency does around the land and its legal rights
around what the road will look like, the structure, that could mean that
they take the boundary of the Mercury site as somewhere near the road
and not further out.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you for that.

MR BICKERS:

We understand that.

DR PRIESTLEY:

We understand the point.
understand it.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir. That is the big picture view on the adverse effects and
my next submission concerns the approach to the assessment of those
effects. NZ Transport Agency's applications for resource consent must
include, of course, an assessment of effects on the environment
consistent with the requirements in schedule 4. That is quite specific,
that it refers to there being detail as corresponds with the scale and the
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significance of the effects that the activity may have on the
environment, and it needs to be in sufficient detail to satisfy the purpose
for which it is required. The courts have held that this requires
sufficient detail to be included in the consent application, to ensure that
the decision-maker is able to assess the effects on the environment and
to decide what conditions to impose to avoid, remedy or mitigate those
effects, without abdicating from its duty by postponing consideration
of details or delegating that consideration to officials.
The tests in the Act are slightly different in terms of notices of
requirement. In addition to enabling decision-makers to undertake
those tasks, I submit that an assessment of effects needs to be in
sufficient detail to enable a requiring authority to undertake its
adequate consideration of alternatives. Without a full understanding of
effects, there just simply cannot be an adequate assessment of
alternatives, as the requiring authority will not have taken into account
all relevant matters. I will come back to that point when I address you
on alternatives.
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[11.50 am]
As your Honour has pointed out, advisors to consent authorities and
submitters should not themselves have to do this work to assess the
effects of a proposal. It is the applicant's responsibility to provide all
the details and information about the proposal to enable that to be done.
In this context, the assessment of effects is deficient as it relates to the
power station. I note that NZ Transport Agency chose to file its
application for resource consent and notices of requirement by the date
that it had picked for its alliance members to achieve their performance
targets. It chose to file it on the date that it did.
The assessment of effects does not include an assessment of the effects
of co-locating the road with an operational power station, despite
Mercury identifying early on, and at very senior levels, that it wanted
to maintain the site and its consents. I point you to the footnote on the
following page where there is evidence of that, just to remind you many
weeks ago when we traversed that in cross-examination. It doesn't
include that assessment of colocation with the power station, despite
the fact that Mercury raised concerns about the proximity of the road
to its assets and the impact on its consents and other operational
constraints. I refer you to the June correspondence included in Mr
Wickman's rebuttal.
As discussed already, NZ Transport Agency's evidence-in-chief does
not even include an assessment of effects of the proposal on Mercury
in any detail, so that is just moving from their AEE to their primary
evidence. It doesn't go anywhere at all. Again, despite the issues being
raised by Mercury, both before and after the proposal was lodged, NZ
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Transport Agency has simply not been inclined to assess those effects.
Ms Rickard's evidence-in-chief, on behalf of NZ Transport Agency,
suggested that the effects of the proposal on established activities that
already have RMA authorisations, including the power station, should
be addressed after the EWL proposal was confirmed as part of property
negotiations.

5

I submit that Mr Erskine's report, which purports to do the exercise of
addressing the risk of co-locating a power station with the road, still
does not include an adequate assessment of the effects of the proposal.
He has missed some of the hazards on the site and he has made errors
in his assumptions. He accepts that there are errors in the report and
that more work needs to be done to understand the acceptability of the
hazards associated with colocation, let alone the work that needs to be
done to identify appropriate control measures and the impacts of those
control measures.
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DR PRIESTLEY:
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Just pausing there, those submissions from 37 through to 42, I think it
is clear to the Board that that submission lies behind, early in this
hearing, your quite extensive cross-examination of various NZ
Transport Agency witnesses. That there were aspects of impacts or
effects on Mercury's sites which haven't been looked at or assessed in
sufficient detail or any detail at all. I understand that. It may well be
that we have got no view, tentative or concluded, on this and there will
probably never be sufficient evidence. It may well be that NZ
Transport Agency was lulled into some sense of false security, or saw
an opportunity by Mr Whineray's press releases, or whatever they were,
that this gas-powered power station was going to be decommissioned
and thought, okay, well that's a serious obstacle out of our way and you
have dealt with that in the first part of your submissions. But let's say
that we were to conclude that NZ Transport Agency's assessment of
effects was deficient, which is the heading you've got from 37 to 42.
What flows from that, as a matter of law or procedure? Does it
strengthen your case or is it neutral? What do we do if we agree with
you, in other words?
[11.55 am]

40

45

MS DEVINE:

It contributes to the factors, when you are weighing up your assessment
of the tests in the Act, and when you are considering the effects on the
environment, etc, it will lead you further to understand that those
effects have not been contemplated. But in particular, in relation to the
designation, they need to have understood the effects enough to
consider what the alternatives were. They are only still grappling with
what the effects are of working with an operating power station. They
can't have done that at the time to choose whether to use a route that
avoids those effects if they haven't done that at the beginning. So it
helps influence your decision on whether they did an appropriate,
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adequate, alternatives assessment, at the very least.

5

DR PRIESTLEY:

And you are going to expand on that later on?

MS DEVINE:

I am going to come on to that point.
I have one further point on that, too, your Honour. It is my submission
that a prudent planner, putting aside the different views on the
correspondence, that Mercury in fact did tell NZ Transport Agency and
NZ Transport Agency did not listen to the message that was given, a
prudent planner, sitting down, doing an assessment of effects, looking
at consented activities and the mixed messages - and I have included
some of the transcripts of what the NZ Transport Agency witnesses say
they did or didn't take into account at the different times - a prudent
planner would have said, "Okay, I've got a consented power station;
what might the effects be? Let me think about that; let me factor that
into my alternatives assessment; let me factor that into the mitigation
I'm proposing". They just didn't do it. They didn't do it, and because
they didn't do it, everything that follows from there has not been
adequate; it's not enough for you to make your decisions on the basis
of.
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MR BICKERS:

I think that explains why we have asked for the references in the various
documents to the effects, so we do want to see if they were, indeed,
identified in the early stages, and, if so, where.

MS DEVINE:

Yes. Yes, thank you, sir.

MS TEPANIA:

Ms Devine, following on from that too, would you have a view about
whether or not that assessment needed to be available at the time of
notification of the NoR?

MS DEVINE:

Whether an assessment …

MS TEPANIA:

Whether the assessment of effects, and the effects on Mercury, needed
to be available, as well, at the time that the designation was notified, as
part of the --

MS DEVINE:

Yes. I have a view; my view is that that should have been included in
the assessment of effects at the time of the notice of requirement, and
later adding to that assessment doesn't fix the problem that it wasn't
identified. Partly that relates to my submission in terms of the
alternatives assessment because how could you have done that properly
at the time, if you hadn't, at the point of notification, done this work.
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Sir, taking you next to part 2, 43 I will skip through fairly quickly. You
will appreciate part 2 - quickly but delicately, sir - in terms of part 2, I
submit that it is appropriate for Board to consider part 2 and that you
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don't have sufficient information; then I also want to have some
dialogue with you around the economic wellbeing part of that and the
section 5. So I am going to take you through each of those.
5

At 44, I briefly address the fact that you have this problem in front of
you around the conflicting case law. It is my submission that it is
appropriate for the Board to specifically consider part 2 because the
King Salmon decision provides for part 2 to be directly considered, if,
amongst other things, the relevant planning provisions do not fully
cover the matters in issue before you and I consider that to be the case;
in relation to Mercury's concern, the unitary plan doesn't specifically
acknowledge the power station itself or the solar research and
development centre as being located there and that is a relevant matter,
as I have already submitted. Related to that, the Basin Bridge case
around designations, having considered the King Salmon case, the
court there held that the decision-makers can directly consider part 2
when making decisions or recommendations on notices of requirement.
That was Justice Brown, in the Basin Bridge decision.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Just pausing: I'm sorry, I have absorbed that but I was just toying with,
at the top of the page, 43(d), and you say it is inconsistent with two of
the section 7 provisions.

MS DEVINE:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Section 7J is the benefits to derive from the use and development of
renewable energy.
[12.00 pm]

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

A gas-fired power station is not renewable energy, is it?

MS DEVINE:

Sir, there is a solar research and development part to the site.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Oh, that aspect.

MS DEVINE:

Yes, and I will come on to that.

DR PRIESTLEY:

You would accept that gas is not renewable energy.

MS DEVINE:

I think there are some fine lines in that.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I hope.

MS DEVINE:

Conscious of my very technical team in the background, I don't wish
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to make submissions on that point, sir.
I am going to take you through those (a), (b), (c), (d) that your Honour
was looking at. I have just referred to (a) in terms of my submission
that you need to look at part 2.

5

In terms of (b), at 45, it is a similar theme to which I have previously
advocated to you in terms of you not simply not having enough
information to make that overall balancing judgment because NZ
Transport Agency has failed to properly consider the effects and at 46,
to date the safety risks, a proper assessment has not been undertaken.
That is my submission.

10

At 47, NZ Transport Agency has also failed to consider or provide
sufficient information on the effects of the proposal on the security of
electricity supply, on the solar R&D centre, and on individual sites
impacted by the proposal, including all of those sites dealing with the
proposed consequences of changes to the national grid. Due to these
gaps --
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MR PARSONSON:

Where does Mr Heaps' evidence sit in relation to the paragraph you just
read?
MS DEVINE:

Well, it doesn't relate to (b) and (c). In terms of the security of
electricity supply, I submit that you favour the evidence of Mercury's
witnesses. In terms of the AEE, and the primary evidence, there is
nothing in there about electricity supply. So that is a rebuttal evidence
that is coming quite late to the piece.

MR PARSONSON:

Yes, but could we accept that Mr Heaps' evidence does relate to (a)?

MS DEVINE:

It does.

MR PARSONSON:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

It is my submission that the information -- sorry, sir?

DR PRIESTLEY:

No, it's all right. I just clarified something. Continue, please.

MS DEVINE:

You don't have enough information, it's my submission, to make an
overall balancing judgment and to the extent that you do, it should be
a judgment that leans towards decline for this proposal.
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Could I just ask a question?

I refer at 49 to some statements made, by the planners, to this Board
around the importance of the Board needing to appropriately
understand the effects before making a decision in terms of whether
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that's the project footprint or an envelope. At 50, I note that you can't
determine what the envelope of potential effects are, particularly the
safety effects; that you would be authorising, if approving the
designations and the currently proposed locations. Therefore, you
cannot determine whether allowing that envelope of effects would be
consistent with the sustainable management purpose of the Act.

5

I am going to turn next to economic wellbeing. My submission is that
the Board cannot be sure whether overall the proposal would enable
people and communities to provide for economic wellbeing, as section
5 of the Act requires.

10

At (a) I do point you to an Environment Court decision which has found
that New Zealand's economic and social wellbeing are inextricably
dependent on a secure and cost-effective electricity supply. I don't
think anyone is saying to the contrary, in this case.

15

At (b), I point to my submission that the Board does not have before it
an up to date assessment of the economic costs and benefits of the
proposal, which includes - even in the qualitative, they are not in a
particularly stringent way - the opportunity costs arising from the fact
that with the currently proposed alignment for the project, the power
station would take longer to restart. For economists, that sort of
assessment is necessary to determine whether or not, overall, the
proposal promotes economic wellbeing.
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MR BICKERS:

Ms Devine, would you agree that we are actually trying to balance two
issues here? You pointed to the impact of electricity generation on
social wellbeing, economic and social wellbeing. Likewise, we are
balancing the benefits of a transport system. Have you got any
thoughts about how we go about balancing those two issues?

MS DEVINE:

I think you take into account all of the factors, as you will be wanting
to do, and my submission is based on the Southdown factors, that tips
your balance the other way. But how you go about doing that, you need
to gather all the information that you have, testing it against all of those
matters in part 2, section 5 in particular, and one of those has to be
security of electricity supply; benefits from a road, absolutely in there.
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[12.05 pm]

45

In terms of the weighing, you need to take into account the national
significance of both of those things and the effects of allowing this
project. I appreciate the task is broader than the Mercury site, but just
keeping it in terms of that context, the long-term impact of this site, this
proposal going over this site, will impact the long-term security issue.
So you are dealing with two long-term issues. My submission to you
is that if you turn down this proposal, the road, that doesn't mean the
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road is not going to going ahead. It doesn't mean they can't come back
with another proposal. It doesn't foreclose the possibility of those
social economic wellbeing features being fulfilled in some other way
and some other shape.
MR BICKERS:

Another alignment?

MS DEVINE:

Another alignment. But if you grant the proposal and you allow that to
go over the power station, you will not be able to use this unique site
in future in the way that it has been used and could be used in the long
term. So you need to weigh all of these factors.

MR BICKERS:

Okay, thank you. That's helpful.

MS DEVINE:

So I was pointing you to economic assessment and there is case law on
this and I'm not trying to suggest you do anything more -- well, I'm not
trying to suggest you do anything, I'm not suggesting that NZ Transport
Agency had to produce such an assessment under the Act. That's not
something that is required but what I am suggesting is that in the
absence of such an assessment and given the expert evidence that Dr
Murray will provide you with, that you should take into account that
it's possible that this project will not have a net economic benefit.
Therefore the Board cannot know whether the proposal will provide for
economic wellbeing.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Isn't it possible though - and we touched on this with questions this
morning - that one could have a project which was well in excess of
economic wellbeing but nonetheless it can be granted? The economic
balance is not critical under the RMA at all, is it?

MS DEVINE:

Correct, it is one of the factors that you are taking into account, social,
economic, cultural, wellbeing, which includes health and safety and
people in communities. Okay, so all of these factors come into play
when you're making your decision absolutely, you are right.
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But you shouldn't draw from NZ Transport Agency's suggestion that
one of those is economic benefits, which I think they rely on quite
heavily. One of the benefits of this proposal is economic benefits and
I'm saying when you're doing that exercise you need to appreciate the
evidence of Mercury and the well regarded Dr Murray that that might
not be a net economic benefit. That needs to play into your decisionmaking.

40

45

DR PRIESTLEY:

There's a difference between net economic benefit and economic
wellbeing, you have used both expressions there. There's been a lot of
evidence that there are some economic benefits to the container hubs
close to the proposed alignment, in terms of travel time, in terms of
traffic congestion reductions along Neilson Street and adjacent streets.
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Those are all economic benefits, surely?
MS DEVINE:

Yes, yes, and I'm not saying otherwise. I think you will get a lot from
the discussion with Dr Murray in terms of how you balance those
matters and consider them. The net economic benefit is an assessment
that helps you understand whether economic wellbeing will be served
by granting this project. So it is material to you to understand how that
has been contemplated or has been asserted, rightly or wrongly, by NZ
Transport Agency and the criticisms of that.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I'm not sure that this is a critical issue for the Board. We have to be
satisfied that there are some benefits and certainly we have to be
satisfied in terms of those bits and pieces along the way, including a
liberal interpretation of part 2 that there is some wellbeing to the
community generally and that it's an efficient use of resources or a
betterment of resources. But we don't sit down looking at a nicely
calculated less or more, do we?
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[12.10 pm]
MS DEVINE:

Well, sir, I guess with respect the whole purpose of the road is to deliver
economic -- the project directive is deliver economic benefits but if
there is no overall economic benefits, which is the expert view of Dr
Murray that you don't have enough information to assess that then there
isn't the benefits that are claimed.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right, well we better wait to hear what Dr Murray is going to say.
You've put some of his propositions to other witnesses, have you?

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you. So 53.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir. This leads on from our dialogue, the statements in NZ
Transport Agency's evidence that the project would have significant
traffic and transport benefits which can be quantified as economic
benefits are not sufficient I submit to establish that the project will
enable people in communities to provide for their economic wellbeing.
And in the absence of such an assessment which enables those benefits
to be assessed against all material economic costs, all those claims that
NZ Transport Agency make effective do is to invite the Board to double
count the traffic and transport benefits of this project, once as a positive
transport and traffic effect and once again as an economic benefit.
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Just turning away from economics now to section 7, so we have been
discussing section 5, I submit that the reverse sensitivity effects are
relevant to section 7. As you'll appreciate section 7(b) in particular
refers to the persons exercising powers to have a particular regard to
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the efficient use and development of natural and physical resources. In
terms of efficient use the Environment Court has held that it would not
be an efficient use of land to allow a development to go ahead that
would create ongoing reverse sensitivity issues in relation to
neighbouring pieces of land.

5

As noted already, the proposal does create those reverse sensitivity
issues and therefore allowing the proposal would be inconsistent with
the efficient use of Southdown site and the assets on that site.

10

I'll move on to section 7(j) in terms of renewable energy and the Board,
as you will appreciate, has to have regard under part 2 to the benefits,
as you referred to, sir, derived from the use and development of
renewables and instead of benefits I submit that there are two potential
adverse effects of the proposal on the use and development of the
renewable energy which is contrary to this principle. It has been
accepted that if not properly managed dust from the construction of the
road could adversely affect the solar research and development centre.
Also if relocation or reconfiguration of the jigsaw pieces of the puzzle
on the Southdown site involved the movement of the solar research and
development centre and had to fit into that accommodation then that
could also have additional adverse effects of the use of the Southdown
site for that use and development of renewable energy.
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MR PARSONSON:

Could I just ask a question there? So the management of dust during
construction is something that really has to be adopted and achieved on
any construction site. There's permitted activity standards, in some
cases there's resource consents granted for that activity for construction
of projects throughout New Zealand and there's certainly a well
recognised range of options available to manage that during the
temporary construction phase of a project. It depends where you are in
New Zealand, how you manage that. If you're in Papamoa you might
manager it by doing your works in the winter, in Auckland it's the other
way around and you put water on the ground. Is that really a part 2
matter?

MS DEVINE:

Well, in terms of the dust as opposed to the relocating the R&D, what
I think you're suggesting there is there could adequate controls to
mitigate that. My submission is at present those controls are not
sufficient to mitigate that effect in terms of both the construction and
the operational issue of dust.
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[12.15 pm]
45

But I do accept that that dust is something that you could find a solution
for in terms of conditions and is of less significance than perhaps (b),
in my submission there around having to shuffle the whole existence
of an R&D centre for solar, which the Act specifically focuses on the
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use and benefit of renewable energy. So I would point you to (b) more
than (a).
5

MR PARSONSON:

Okay, and just on (b) then, I certainly can recognise there will be
situations where adverse effects on the use and development of renewal
energy could well be a part 2 matter. At the moment, as we saw on our
site visit, Mercury has an array of solar panels on its site and its utilising
those as a research facility. But, again, is that location sufficiently
unique or the scale of that operation sufficient to make it a part 2
matter?

MS DEVINE:

Yes, I submit it is. Now, there's a couple of parts to that. One is that
that exists, that is work that is contemplated positively by the Act and
needs to be not undermined. So it is, therefore, an relevant part 2 matter
for you to consider. Your question was the scale of it. At present,
partly and the issue there is that they are able to do a number of things
permitted as of right. The proximity to the grid there is very relevant
to being able to upscale change or do more in that R&D capability side
of things. There's been evidence around greater scale of batteries and
the like. These are all possibilities for the future by blighting the land
or the designation over the bottom half of it and moving the pieces of
the puzzle, all these different assets, around or off the site. It is
unknown at this stage how all that is going to play out for the
Southdown site. It could significantly impact the ability to use that site
for solar activities. If everything has to come off the southern half of
the site and go on the northern half of the site, where is the solar R&D
centre going to be.

MR PARSONSON:

Is it your contention that site and its proximity to the grid gives it more
options than me putting a solar panel on my roof and plugging into the
grid?

MS DEVINE:

Absolutely. Absolutely, this is enabling --

MR PARSONSON:

Because the sun's everywhere, it's the site that's unique in terms of your
ability to utilise the sun for research and energy production, is that the
point?

MS DEVINE:

Correct, absolutely. I do underscore although you might see that as a
R&D centre, the Act talks about use and development of. So just
because it's a R&D centre doesn't make it lesser in any respects in terms
of the Act.

MR PARSONSON:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

The next matter is at the top of page 26 and I just want to draw the
Board's attention to the Minister's reason that they gave for having this
fast track process, and in that list of reasons, it is my submission, that
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the Board must give particular weight to the effects of a proposal on
important infrastructure, including electricity infrastructure. That is
because, as you will appreciate, the RMA directs the Board to have
regard to those Ministers' reasons for considering this proposal to be of
national significance, and one of those reasons refers to including,
relocating regionally and nationally important infrastructure, including
electricity and gas, just to underscore that for you.
Next in my submissions I just want to go through - not at length I assure
you - the planning provisions and the policy statements that are
relevant. I won't read 57. I appreciate you will see these are important
to the decision to be carefully weighed up. It is my submission that the
proposal is inconsistent with the relevant electricity and infrastructure
provisions of the policy statements and plans, particularly those
concerning the protection of existing infrastructure and the safe
integration of roading. Rather than take you through them I have
appended them to my submissions at the back, and I just commend you
to consider those in the light of electricity and infrastructure and the
protection of existing infrastructure.
I note that Mr Grala, on behalf of Mercury as its planner, has expressed
his professional view that facing a high intensity use of the proposal in
close proximity to the hazardous facilities at the Southdown site would
be inconsistent with that policy framework and, in particular, the
objectives relating to managing the adverse effects of infrastructure on
health and safety of communities.
[12.20 pm]
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In addition to the unitary plan, unless there are conditions imposed and this is to Mr Parsonson's point - the policies in the NPS around
renewable energy would also be inconsistent with that, and the Board
can't be confident that the implementation of a proposal would be
consistent with the renewable NPS.
I turn next to alternatives, which we touched on slightly. At 59 I have
already made this point to you that the power station hasn't been
identified as a relevant consideration. An operating power station has
not been identified as a relevant consideration under the alternatives
assessment. The assessment of effects does not consider the effects of
the alternatives in relation to an operating power station, and I have a
number of points that Ms Linzey and others have accepted through
cross-examination that I will just take you through.
She did concede that the multi-criteria analysis for Anns Creek makes
no specific mention of user safety in relation to a power plant. She
conceded that NZ Transport Agency did not assess the option of
relocating the power station, despite one of the criteria being
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requirements for relocation or design of alternative major
infrastructure, including consideration of safety impacts and the risk of
continuity of service during that period. She did accept that it would
not be appropriate for the Board to approve a proposal that resulted in
an incompatible colocation of a road and lifeline utility where the
relocation of that utility had not been assessed, and that was in response
to you, Mr Parsonson, she answered that. I submit that is exactly the
case we have here.

5

Ms Linzey also claimed that the impacts of the various alternatives on
the power station were identified in April. However, appendix J, which
sets out the documentation in April, doesn't refer to the effects on the
Southdown Power Station. Despite the fact that the first time NZ
Transport Agency considered an alternative that ran through the power
station itself was in 2016, Ms Linzey conceded in cross-examination
that at the time neither safety issues nor the effects of a road going
through a power station plant were assessed.
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15

She also accepted that the NZ Transport Agency's assessment of
alternatives does not refer to the impact of NZ Transport Agency's
proposed land take on the current and future use of the site. Instead,
she expressed NZ Transport Agency's belief that Mercury had surplus
land and would reconfigure its site to enable the EWL. I have to say
her evidence, on cross-examination, was quite contradictory as to
whether NZ Transport Agency's assessment of alternatives was
undertaken on the basis of Mercury continuing to be able to operate a
power station or assessed, as she says, only on the physical state of the
environment and not what could be undertaken under Mercury's
consents. These are all limitations in the approach they have taken to
their alternatives.
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Justice Paterson in the High Court, the case that I refer to in paragraph
62 - and this is Kett v Minister for Land Information, and is a
scenario where the test is very similar about making sure you have
considered alternatives before you exercise your powers under the
Public Works Act - said that an alternatives assessment cannot be
adequate if it fails to take into account a material, relevant
consideration. It makes sense, doesn't it?

35

40

I submit that the effects on the operating power station and Mercury's
assets are a material, relevant consideration. What amounts to a
sufficient consideration of alternative sites depends on the extent to
which the proposed designation affects private land and the extent to
which the proposed development has significant adverse effects. That
is the Basin Bridge case.

45
DR PRIESTLEY:

Effectively, you are saying - relying in part on the various concessions
made by Ms Linzey under cross-examination - that because NZ
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Transport Agency's assessment and choice of this alignment, option F,
didn't take into account something which in your submission was
glaringly obvious that the assessment of alternatives is inadequate?
5

MS DEVINE:

Yes.
[12.25 pm]
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DR PRIESTLEY:

That is it in a nutshell, isn't it?

MS DEVINE:

I think so. They will say, "How are we to know what their plans were?"
and the like, and I submit that a prudent planner who does, as she says,
at different times should have thought about a consented power station,
should have thought about those effects without knowing those effects
they failed to do a proper alternative assessment.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Quite apart from the fact that Mercury at an early stage did alert them.

MS DEVINE:

Repeatedly, yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

I will go on to terms of the Board having confidence. In my
submission, the Board cannot have any confidence that the effects in
relation to the Southdown site would be avoided, remedied or
mitigated. That is because, again, you don't have enough information
to make that judgment about the effects on the environment or the
material constraints on the operability of the assets currently located at
the site. Nor do you have sufficient information before you to be sure
that the safety risks could and would be appropriately mitigated.
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The proposal from NZ Transport Agency is to try and fix these
deficiencies and information for conditions. The Environment Court
has found that an RMA decision-maker cannot seek to address
deficiencies in the information provided in an application, by imposing
conditions which set out a process for an applicant to follow to seek to
ensure that it will have acceptable effects. That is because it is your
job to assess what the effects of a proposed activity will be on the basis
of the expert evidence before you. If you don't have that information,
because the applicant has not done the necessary investigations to
provide it, then it is not your role to make that assessment. Instead you
should decline the consent.
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MR PARSONSON:

Just to check, you make that point on the basis of this day, including
all the information we have received since the lodgement of the
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application?
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MS DEVINE:

That is the way practice operates, yes.

MR PARSONSON:

Yes. So you have made it very clear you thought there were
deficiencies in the AEE.

MS DEVINE:

Yes.

MR PARSONSON:

There has been a lot of information received through evidence, rebuttal,
and attendance by experts, up to this point, and it is your position that
we still don't have enough information?

MS DEVINE:

Absolutely.

MR PARSONSON:

Thank you.

DR PRIESTLEY:

You have got in footnote 106 Wellington v Franklin District
Council. Is that the Environment Court decision you are referring to
in paragraph 66, the previous par?

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

It is the same one?

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

Sorry the footnote is in the --

DR PRIESTLEY:

No, that is okay. I just wanted to check there wasn't some lurking
Environment Court decision we didn't know about.

MS DEVINE:

No, sir. In terms of the second point there, it is my submission that
leaving effects to be assessed and mitigation measures to be determined
later is not an appropriate approach, in the circumstances, when it is
not even known whether those effects can be appropriately mitigated.
It certainly would not be appropriate to leave that safety assessment to
be dealt with at the detailed design stage or, as Ms Rickard suggested
in early evidence, through Public Works Act compensation
negotiations.
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Turning to the next point, this is about the amount of change that
Mercury needs to undertake to accommodate this road. My submission
on this point is that you have a limited ability to direct the decision on
the NZ Transport Agency proposal. You cannot make Mercury do
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things. You can only make NZ Transport Agency do things.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Which ties in with your earlier submission about trying to patch up with
conditions.

MS DEVINE:

Correct, sir. At 67 I note that even the initial risk assessment
undertaken by Mr Erskine just last month, identifies that the proposal
could not be located where NZ Transport Agency currently proposes
without changes being made, not only to the design and operation of
the road but also to the power station. The High Court has held that an
RMA decision-maker cannot lawfully impose a condition on a consent
that would require an established activity to alter its consented
operations to enable another activity to be safely established in the
same area. This finding was made on the basis of two lines of cases.
This is the line of cases that establishes that a condition upon a resource
consent is ultra vires if it requires work to be undertaken off site
involving third parties, and a line of cases which establishes that a
condition imposed on a new consent cannot negate the consent of a
third party.
[12.30 pm]
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In terms of the first point in that paragraph 68 and footnote 107, this
idea that you have got an established activity but you are introducing
something that might have safety issues, the footnote is there in relation
to the Dart River case. This is about the Shotover, and they are two
High Court cases both in 2000. One was first heard by Justice
Pankhurst and the other by Justice John Hansen, and they are about the
Shotover River and the jets going down the river crashing into each
other. This is a different jet case to the one I referred to earlier. That
was a situation where there was an existing commercial operation that
had jet boats going down the river and there was a question about this
new proposal introducing more jet boats that could create safety risks.
It effectively said, you can't come in and put in something new that it
going to create safety issues which will undermine the ability for the
first consent holder to do what they are lawfully entitled to do.
I am coming to the end, sir. I will just wrap up before lunch. Following
that theme it is submitted that, due to both the safety implications for
the road users and the potential for works to mitigate the safety risks
caused by the proposed location of the road to adverse effect, Mercury's
ability to operate the power station, that this is simply not a situation
where it would be appropriate or sufficient for the Board to impose
conditions which merely required NZ Transport Agency to offer to do
some mitigation works or pay for some works to be done at the
Southdown site, whether or not there is any certainty of those things
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being undertaken. So that goes to the conditions point.
Then in conclusion, it is my submission that a full consideration of the
legal tests before you requires the Board to cancel the notices of
requirement and decline the applications for consent. As set out in my
opening statement at the beginning of this hearing, it is Mercury's view
that it would be better for the long-term future of Auckland and New
Zealand's electricity supply, and it would enable NZ Transport Agency
to do more work to develop its proposal and understand its effects and
consider the options available for pursuing it. For those reasons, it is
my submission that the proposal should be declined.

5

10
DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you, Ms Devine. Well, as you indicated, I think that is probably
a suitable point to take the luncheon adjournment. There may be some
questions from the Board arising out of your submissions once they
have had a chance to digest that even more plus lunch, but if there are
any we will do that at a 1.45 pm. You are then going to call Mr
Whineray?

MS DEVINE:

Yes, sir. Mr Whineray is my first witness.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes.

MS DEVINE:

Are you proposing to come back at 1.45 pm?

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. Does that cause any problems for you?

MS DEVINE:

No, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Just help me; there was a tentativeness about some preliminary
statement put in by Mr Whineray five or six weeks ago.

MS DEVINE:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

What is the position of that?

MS DEVINE:

The sequence of events was the evidence-in-chief from NZ Transport
Agency, Mercury filed its evidence and then rebuttal evidence was
filed by NZ Transport Agency and continual requests for information,
and then we filed more information with Mr Flexman's supplementary
statement. At that time it was felt that it would be useful for
Mr Whineray to be available to answer strategic matters.

DR PRIESTLEY:

That's right, yes.

MS DEVINE:

So he has filed a very short statement of evidence and he is not going
to have a summary statement, so he has nothing new to add other than
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to be able to answer questions, so --

5

DR PRIESTLEY:

So it is that short statement on which he can be both cross-examined
and we can ask him questions?

MS DEVINE:

Correct, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. All right. Thank you very much. We will adjourn until 1.45 pm.
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ADJOURNED

[12.34 pm]

RESUMED

[1.45 pm]

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you, sir. There was a question that you may potentially have
had further questions after the break, and just in case, I thought I would

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4140

check in.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. I haven't been Googling … Mr Parsonson, have you any?

MR PARSONSON:

I'm fine, thank you.

MS DEVINE:

None Googled?

DR PRIESTLEY:

None at the moment.

MS DEVINE:

Very good.

MS DEVINE:

Don't think that lets you off the hook totally, Ms Devine.

MS DEVINE:

No, no. I am sure not. Then I will call my first witness, Mr Whineray.
Mr Whineray (sworn)

20

25

30

35

40

MS DEVINE:

Comfortable there?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, thanks.

MS DEVINE:

Can you please advise the Board what your full name is?

MR WHINERAY:

Fraser Scott Whineray.

MS DEVINE:

And what your position is.

MR WHINERAY:

Chief executive.

MS DEVINE:

Of which company?

MR WHINERAY:

Mercury New Zealand Limited.

MS DEVINE:

Can you confirm that you have prepared a statement of evidence, date
13 June 2017?

MR WHINERAY:

I can.

MS DEVINE:

Can you confirm that is true and correct?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I can.

MS DEVINE:

Thank you. Please answer any questions my friend or the Board may
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have for you.
DR PRIESTLEY:
5

10

I see from this very helpful statement of yours that you have been chief
executive of Mercury since September 2014 but prior to that you were
general manager, operations, of Mighty River Power. How long have
you been in total with Mercury Energy and its predecessor, or its
metamorphosed identity, Mighty River Power?
MR WHINERAY:

Your Honour, since October 2008.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Right. Okay. I am not inviting you to be modest in this respect, Mr
Whineray, but somewhere, and I am sure you can tell me where, over
the last three weeks, I read a newspaper article, it could have been in
NBR or it could have been in the Herald, which listed you and three or
four other CEOs as being conspicuously in favour of clean, green
energy and pointing your respective operations that way. Has that
article been drawn to your attention?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I have seen the article.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes; and you are not disclaiming the accolades which it gave you.

MR WHINERAY:

The organisation is very focussed on new technology and renewable
electricity, and a low-carbon environment through whether it is what
we do or what our customers do, such as electric vehicles.

DR PRIESTLEY:

And although I haven't looked - or there is no need to look - at
Mercury's mission statements or anything like that, it would be
surprising if, given its ownership and operation of a large number of
hydroelectric dams on the Waikato River, Mercury wasn't tilted
towards efficiency in energy production and also preservation of the
environment goals. Would I be right?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, that's correct. The engagement with natural resources is a critical
one and in some instances, that is also with Māori land trusts, through
our geothermal partnerships.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Sure. In your capacity - and I am unfamiliar with the structures here of Mercury's chief executive, does that put you on Mercury's board, ex
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Mr Whineray, I think I might ask you some questions first.
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officio, or otherwise?
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MR WHINERAY:

No. I am not a managing director; just chief executive.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Right. Do you attend board meetings?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, absolutely.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. You can confirm what you said in your statement here, that there
was a press release not quite two and a half years ago, but in March
2015, that the gas-fired thermal power station at the Southdown site
was to cease operation.
[1.50 pm]

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, that's correct. That was in the press release. That was in James
Flexman's evidence, I think.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. That's right. The Board, as you have probably been told, visited
the Southdown site two days ago and I must say we were hugely
impressed just at the incredibly complicated but efficient way in which
it had been constructed. As gas-fired power plants go, it would be
wrong to call it state of the art, but it is a pretty efficient operation, isn't
it?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, it is. It is a very compact site. Thermal generation has the
advantage of being on a smaller footprint than, for example, hydro
schemes or wind turbines; more compact.

30

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes. You will have listened with some interest to Ms Devine's opening
submissions today, who very competently and robustly has put
Mercury's stance so far as the Transport Agency's application is
concerned.

35

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, sir, that's right.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I think we can safely assume that Ms Devine isn't off on a frolic of her
own, but that this stance is something to which has been careful
consideration by you.

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct.

DR PRIESTLEY:

At board level, too?

MR WHINERAY:

They are well aware of the proceedings and the approach we are taking
to the Southdown site.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Right. There was some evidence we had yesterday, and I think some
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newspaper publicity from a judicial point of view; newspaper publicity
is something which we don't give great weight to, but nonetheless in
the real world, it is there, that one of your competitors, I think, Contact,
is closing down its gas-fired plant. I can't remember whether it is Wiri
or Otahuhu. Are you are aware of that?

5
MR WHINERAY:

Otahuhu was announced and closed in the space of months during
2015. I think the press release was associated with Contact Energy's
annual results and they have announced they are spending $50 million
to refurbish TCC in Taranaki, which will start this November, and that
will give a life extension of five years, to my knowledge.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Subject to anything which counsel for NZ Transport Agency may say,
because he hasn't responded directly to this issue, it seems pretty clear
to us at the moment that the law, which we have to consider, must be
that we look at the Southdown site, not just as it is now, but also as it
might be if quite legitimately it could be recommissioned and fired up
again, and that is the central core, if you like, of Mercury's case. You
understand that.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

What I want to ask you is this, though you may have detected where
this might be going, Mr Whineray. Given what you've told me about
your own personal commitment to efficient energy consumption, and
also what you also told me about Mercury, how realistic is it, really,
that Mercury might at some future date want to recommission and fire
up a gas-burning power station? I would have thought it would go
against what Mercury's if you like mission goals are in the
environmental arena, and in particular, there must be some significance
attached to the fact that at a time of high spot prices, it has chosen not
to do that thus far. The floor is yours.

MR WHINERAY:

Thank you very much.
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So the place I would like to start with that is actually with the customer,
because the value to the customer of electricity, as I am sure Dr Murray
will cover off, is extremely high. It is probably hundreds of times
higher than actually the cost of electricity to the consumer today.
Electricity is quite an interesting product. Like broadband, or water
coming out of the tap, or indeed travel down a road, it can't run slow;
it has a very tight specification and it is either on, that specification, or
it's not on, because Transpower as a system operator will turn it off,
because it has to be at 240 volts and 50 hertz, otherwise there will be
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appliances that are expecting that specification that won't operate.
[1.55 pm]
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When it is not on, the consequences are huge and we have seen that in
Auckland historically, which was now named Vector, but in respect of
distribution, through to the Auckland city. The first point is that
security of supply, in every speech I've heard of the current Energy
Minister, since Minister Collins took that seat, is primary, by a long
shot over other issues with respect to electricity. Security of supply
underpins everything. So, if it comes down to it, whilst our preference
is renewables and our preference is for electric vehicles and electric
bikes and all those other good things, if it comes to a choice of having
security of supply for Aucklanders, or not, I am sure our customers
would be forgiving firing up a gas-fired power station to assist with
that outcome, even if it was not renewable. Notwithstanding, we do
purchase carbon credits from New Zealand forests to offset our
emissions so we are environmentally supportive in that regard.
The second thing I would go to is that there is a lot technology change
and notwithstanding that, a lot dynamism in achieving that objective of
security of supply. We announced, in March 2015, that we were going
to cease generating on 31 December 2015 at the Southdown site, to
which you earlier referred. Shortly after that, Contact announced, and
then shut, the Otahuhu site, and now has sold that for property
development; and also during that time, Genesis announced it was
going to close the Huntly site. So the three most significant Aucklandcentric, for the most critical city in New Zealand power stations, had
all signalled or effected closure, and then Genesis remained on because
it just needed something to cover its fixed costs from those who need
the hedge, namely itself, Meridian and Contact. So that all happened
in the space of nine months, so it is a very dynamic environment to
achieve the objective of security of supply, notwithstanding in future
scenarios, solar, batteries - and batteries are also an important feature
of enabling renewables, even if they are not necessarily generating
renewable electricity themselves. Electric vehicles, all of these things
could take - autonomous vehicles for that matter - any number of
scenarios in the future. The point is this, that with all of those possible
scenarios our concern is that security of supply could be compromised
because no one can actually predict what that future outcome is. Like
NZ Transport Agency, roading and like electricity, both critical pieces
of moving people and for enabling economies, they take long-term
planning. If Auckland were to lose its only generation site, albeit gas
fired, albeit now it's got some solar, and it's also a very important site,
I think, for battery storage in the future, we could find ourselves in
issues of security supply for which compensation of Mercury will not
compensate physical supply to our customers or, indeed, Aucklanders
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whether they are not our customers.
But I certainly know the response that the industry will get if there is a
failure on security of supply from the government. Indeed, we are
seeing that in Australia now. They have failed on their number 1 issue
of licence to operate. Cost and renewability are also important features
of an electricity trilemma by the World Energy Council, and Australia
has now stumbled on one renewability and going backwards on price
and reliability and it is turning into a real minefield over there which
will have a lot of consequences for end users.
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So I think it is dynamic, it is focused on the customer. Our preference
isn't non-renewable generation, though, in New Zealand the electricity
sector is world leading when it comes to affect the trilemma I
mentioned earlier to the extent that we cheekily refer to it as the trifecta
rather than the trilemma because we are one of the few countries that
is on the right side of those things thanks to our abundance of hydro,
geothermal and wind resources and their high quality.
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Sorry, that's a slightly long answer but I just wanted to make sure the
strategic imperative of the security of supply was seen as primary
compared to necessarily our renewal and low carbon objectives.

20

[2.00 pm]

25

I will just finish off with that. The low carbon objective in particular
we're pursuing given New Zealand is third ranked in renewal electricity
is, in fact, not electricity, it's energy. That's the electrification of
transport. That is New Zealand's big opportunity and that's why we're
pushing for a renewable energy target not a renewable electricity target
because whether New Zealand is 80, 90 or 100% renewable on
electricity is neither here nor there for our trading or indeed branding
arrangements for the country. So that is why we're focused on
electrical vehicles and electric bikes and we've also go electric trains
which are part of the hearing as well.

30

35
DR PRIESTLEY:

So given what you've just said and the strategic significance of this site
so far as Auckland's power security is concerned, and given too the
significance of the site as part of Mercury's operation, past, present and
future - and I want you to think carefully about this question - if NZ
Transport Agency came along to you with a bundle of money and said,
"We appreciate this is a very valuable site to you but we need this site
for our roading purpose and we want to buy it from you at an arm's
length transaction", would it be Mercury's response that for the reasons
you stated you would decline to sell?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, because compensating us, as I mentioned, doesn't compensate
customers or indeed the consequences on other sectoral impacts of
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failing to provide security of supply. It is not fungible.
If we did want to extract a cheque as part of this process I wouldn't
have gone proactively to see the acting Chief Executive of NZ
Transport Agency to clarify exactly what the Southdown site was about
and I would've waited until much later in the piece. We genuinely think
a lot of large infrastructure players need to be conscious of each other's
aspirations and in that regard be good to do business with. That's why
I went to see them. We have a lot of partnerships. We've an 82-year
partnership with the Māori Land Trust, we have indefinite partnerships
with specific iwi on the Waikato River. These need to endure. We
have interactions with NZ Transport Agency because certain roads
cross our facilities further down south of the Bombay's.
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So my expectation was, having clarified with Mr Brash in the meeting
that (1) he, after being acting chief executive, was going to continue to
be responsible for the project and (2) that he described the initial
roading map as "a starting point in good faith, like a crayon on a page"
and (3) that I'd seen other parts of this road get their feet wet, that there
should be no issue with reconfiguring what they were proposing to do
so that both could exist. Because that was my expectation that I'd be
afforded a response from NZ Transport Agency having outlined those
issues and felt no objection coming back from them to Southdown's
aspirations, having clarified its strategic importance.
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I also went on to clarify that with the Chief Executive of Auckland
Council who I felt was very supportive of the need for Auckland's
energy security as well.

30

So, no, it's not a function of a cheque because I'm not sure what that
will do for Auckland consumers.
DR PRIESTLEY:

So mixing metaphors slightly, although it would be wrong, I think, to
describe the Southdown site as a jewel in Mercury's crown, it's
nonetheless a very important component of Mercury's overall strategic
assessment which you don't want to lose?

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct. And not just for Mercury. I think the value to the
consumers is probably more than it is to Mercury but we do know that
a failure to provide security of supply in New Zealand will be met with
a similar vitriol to what the industry's experiencing in Australia.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Now, a final question before I invite other Board members to ask you
questions. One of the things which was going through my mind a week
or ten days ago, which I mentioned to both Ms Devine and Mr Mulligan
in chambers, was the possibility of some mediation. We can't compel
parties to mediate but I guess you're familiar with the mediation process
where both parties get a result which neither are totally happy with but
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they can live with and you can get there given a qualified mediator
much faster than you can mucking around in court. You've had
personal experience of a mediation process?
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[2.05 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

No, I haven't but I'm familiar with its objectives. My brother-in-law is
a mediator, yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I suspect that given Mercury's desire to keep this site for the reasons
you've explained, sending you both off to mediation would be a futile
exercise because you wouldn't want to part possession of the site and
for various technical reasons its improbable that NZ Transport Agency,
at this late stage, could move the alignment.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, I think that our goal is that Mercury and Aucklanders continue
and enjoy what they currently have. So if that's not possible under
what's being proposed then, yes, I agree, mediation may well be, as you
said, futile.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, it's probably an issue for the two protagonists, Ms Devine and
Mr Mulligan, to sort out between them but if mediation was
recommended to you as an option to at least try would Mercury be
prepared to try it?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, we would.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right, thank you. Now, other questions. Mr Bickers, perhaps.

MR BICKERS:

Good afternoon, Mr Whineray.

MR WHINERAY:

Good afternoon.

MR BICKERS:

I just want to pursue the security of supply issue so that I understand it
a whole lot better. We had an explanation of the New Zealand
electricity system from Mr Heaps yesterday, which was very helpful.
As I understand it, in broad terms we have three elements to the
electricity system. We obviously have generation and we have
transmission generally by the Transpower and the National Grid, and
then we have local network reticulation. You would agree with that in
broad terms?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, and then the retail interface with the customers. But for physical
infrastructure that's correct.

MR BICKERS:

Yes, okay. All right. The first thing I would say is that Ms Devine has
brought out in her legal submissions, and we observed on our site visit,
the elements of the strategic importance or the strategic value of the
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site in terms of your energy source, the existing power plant with its
consents and its location to the Transpower network. So those to me
are the important elements, would you agree?
5

MR WHINERAY:

That's right, and its consent to operate there. Yes.

MR BICKERS:

Right, so I'm trying to understand the argument on security of supply.
So if I look at that I would have thought that this wasn't embedded
generation, in other words it's not dedicated to a specific area of
Auckland, it's into the National Grid, therefore the whole of the
generation capacity of New Zealand is potentially available to supply
Auckland?

MR WHINERAY:

That's right.

MR BICKERS:

So when you talk about security of supply and the loss of supply, the
risk likes in the transmission network more than in the generation
failure?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no. Instantaneous the same amount consumed has to be
generated because there's no capacity for storage in the system.

MR BICKERS:

Yes.

MR WHINERAY:

So it is about transmission failure, including the DC, but also it's about
the failure to have sufficient energy, including competing power
stations failing as well or, indeed, closing. The third aspect of the
security supply, though, is power quality. And I'm happy to expand on
that.

MR BICKERS:

Happy for you to do so. I'm a civil engineer --

MR WHINERAY:

I was a chemical engineer so I'll tell it in --

MR BICKERS:

I did notice.

MR WHINERAY:

-- the terms that I understand. The power quality can have significant
leverage on the amount of electricity coming into Auckland. What I
mean by this is so voltage is one of the parameters, along with
frequency, that's critical for all the electricity devices to work properly.
Voltage is like pressure in a pipeline, and the generators that generate
the electricity are effectively adding pressure to the electrons, or
pushing the electrons, and then they'll take the path of least resistance,
which should be down a copper conductor.

MR BICKERS:

I'm with you. I'm with you.

MR WHINERAY:

And for the benefit of the rest of the Board, I'm familiar with the
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background of Mr Bickers.
So to bring that electricity up from the south to Auckland through
Transpower's quite substantial additional investments recently,
sometimes the voltage can get a bit low because the pressure comes
down in the pipe. So to keep the amount of flow you can have coming
into Auckland, sometimes you need the boosting station of voltage
support.
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[2.10 pm]
Now, that can be done in a number of ways, and indeed Southdown
used to do voltage support under contract to Transpower before they
put in the expanded NIGUP cable. Then Otahuhu closed and sold, and
Southdown ceased to operate, and so now Transpower has indeed
actually changed some of the solving equations by incorporating
Huntly into part of that voltage solution equation. So it's not strictly
about energy; it's also about having enough boosting pressure in
Auckland such that you can bring the energy from the south, and that
is an important role. Actually, it's a role that Southdown has been put
into a process for, for Transpower to solve that, and indeed is capable
of doing because you don't actually need jet engines to be able to do
that. You just need the generators, which I understand you actually
saw on site, the larger generators. Energy being generated elsewhere,
transmission, and power quality are important to that.
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MR BICKERS:

Look, that's very helpful. All right, my third area I just wanted to
explore with you was in relation to a point that Ms Devine has raised
in the legal submission, and it's at paragraph 10, and it's the question
of --

MR WHINERAY:

Sorry, which is it?

MR BICKERS:

Paragraph 10 of the legal submissions, and it's the suggestion --

DR PRIESTLEY:

Let's just pause a moment.

MR WHINERAY:

I don't have that one in front of me. Thank you.

DR PRIESTLEY:

He doesn't have a copy.

MR WHINERAY:

If one of my colleagues could lend me a copy.

DR PRIESTLEY:

We've got a scarcity value already, Ms Devine.

MR BICKERS:

Sorry, the bit I'm interested in is the comment that, "Where a particular
activity". Sorry. It's paragraph 10, which is page 6 at the bottom, it
starts.
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MR WHINERAY:
5

MR BICKERS:

20

25

MR WHINERAY:

I think failure to provide secure electricity for any length of time or a
material part of particularly Auckland will attract issues with regard to
New Zealand's reputation, foreign direct investment, and a whole range
of other disruptions. So I think it is nationally significant, and certainly
by listening to the Energy Minister's speeches, security of supply in
Auckland seems to be of national importance to her as well.

MR BICKERS:

Right. But am I right in assuming that it is the issues you've raised that
I raised previously - so voltage support and so on - that are the matters
that make it important, not its generation capacity as such?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no. I think that could come into it. I'll give you an example. The
Tiwai Smelter, going all the way to the other end of New Zealand, has
a contract through to 2030 and indeed can cancel that with 12 months'
notice and exit the country. If it does so, then the South Island becomes
long in energy. The North Island will become short capacity likely
because Huntly will close, and then you need short, flexible peaking
capacity to meet the instantaneous requirements in the North Island
because the HVDC doesn't have enough peaking capacity to get the
electricity up from the South Island. So there's a whole range. That's
to do with foreign exchange rates and aluminium pricing, so there are
a whole range of scenarios where that could come into play. So the
energy component of a flexible generation plant is also important, and
that's actually what the site was doing before we ceased operation.

MR BICKERS:

Yes. 135 megawatts?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Normally the engines come at about 45 or so megawatts. They're
747-derivative engines. They're about that, 40 - 50 megawatts apiece.

MR BICKERS:

Yes. I think that's 12.5% of your Waikato hydro capacity, so it is
significant. But in relation to peaking plant, am I correct that there are
a lot of peaking plants available of quite considerable capacity?
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"Where a particular activity assumes sufficient importance in the
context of the sustainable management of New Zealand, it can of itself
assume national importance to be balanced against the ones listed in
part 2."
So I was interested in your views about how the Southdown station
could be considered in the light of Ms Devine's submission, as a piece
of infrastructure of national importance.
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MR WHINERAY:

In New Zealand?

MR BICKERS:

Yes.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no. The most significant flexible plant in New Zealand are in
fact the hydro schemes, including the Waikato hydro, but it's the ability
to flex and provide energy and/or voltage support in Auckland which
enables that generation to also come north. So there are several reasons
for flexible thermal: (1) one is instantaneous peaking, and (2) is
actually firming when the rain doesn't arrive, because about 55% of
New Zealand's electricity is from hydro. As we've seen recently,
sometimes the rain doesn't arrive, and that was in the South Island, and
so therefore there's been a much higher thermal contribution for that.
So that's called firming. There's also peaking. So energy can be
required in either very short bursts or more substantial hydraulic
sequences, and that's something that Southdown was used for prior to
ceasing operation.

MR BICKERS:

Well, the reason I was asking the question is that, as one does these
days, you have a little search on the internet and you look at what the
generation capacity is around the place. And I see New Plymouth
Contact plant, 600 megawatts; McKee turbine, 100; Marsden A and B,
between them nearly 500; and so on. Huntly 1 - 4, 500 megawatts. To
my mind there would appear to be a lot of peaking plant available.

MR WHINERAY:

Sorry, were you referring to something that's actually constructed or
decommissioned?

MR BICKERS:

No. This is what supposedly exists.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, there's nothing in Marsden.

MR BICKERS:

Yes. Well, that's the problem of looking at Wikipedia, isn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

There is nationally - well, there has to be instantaneously - enough to
meet the peak. In a roading context, that means you have to build roads
so everyone can drive at 80 kilometres per hour consistently. As I said,
electricity can't go slow. So, yes, there are other plants around, but
there are none in Auckland after Otahuhu closed, and we'll have to see
what else arises. As I said, 2015 was fairly dynamic for the electricity
sector.

MR BICKERS:

Yes. It brings us back to the question that it's not purely the generation
- and I say "purely" the generation - it's actually the other functions that
you're referring to, like voltage support and so on.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, and for the site separate to the plant, other activities of the battery
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storage and the like as well, where new technologies are considered,
again performing similar functions to support power quality and
energy.
5

10

15

20

25

30

35

MR BICKERS:

Right. Well, thank you very much. I've learned a lot.

MR WHINERAY:

Thank you very much.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Ms Tepania.

MS TEPANIA:

Kia ora, Mr Whineray.

MR WHINERAY:

Kia ora.

MS TEPANIA:

I wanted to take the opportunity. It's not often you have a man of your
standing in the witness stand. So you mentioned a couple of times the
work that Mercury does with joint-venture Māori trusts and so forth.
Is one of those the Mokai power generation, Tuaropaki-owned power
company?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, it is. Yes, we're the operator there and we have a 25% stake, and
I'm a director on the board of Tuaropaki.

MS TEPANIA:

And you can confirm the Tuaropaki Land Trust, which is Ahu Whenua
Trust Māori landowners, they own 75% of that company, don't they?

MR WHINERAY:

Of the power station, correct, yes.

MS TEPANIA:

I understand that the Māori landowners have a long and enduring
relationship, if you like, with Mercury.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Yes. It's long-dated.

MS TEPANIA:

And there are some benefits in terms of, as I understand it, the trust
owners have quite a say in terms of management of the effects of the
power company, if you like, on their cultural values.

MR WHINERAY:

It's integral. They are the 75% owner, but even across in another field
with the Tauhara North No. 2 Trust, Rotokawa, where the Tauhara
North No. 2 Trust is 35% owners, they actually have the power to turn
the power station off if the effects are not appropriately managed
around the reservoir.

MS TEPANIA:

That's Rotokawa, Nga Awa Purua?

MR WHINERAY:

That's Nga Awa Purua, yes. Yes, they have strong ...

MS TEPANIA:

I understand too that certainly in terms of Tuaropaki that the Māori
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landowners have taken opportunities to develop cultural indicators as
to the resource and I suppose the health or the mouri of that resource.
Do you know anything about that?
5

[2.20 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

Yes. The trust will report on those, I'm sure, to their thousands of
beneficiaries and owners, and it's just integral into the discussion, and
that's one of the things by having these commercial partnerships with
them that it comes across into the DNA of Mercury as well. We learn
a lot from them, and hopefully we can show them a few things, and in
the partnership there's success, which Tuaropaki is an outstanding and
below-the-radar success story over 60 years.

MS TEPANIA:

I'm asking because in this case in terms of NZ Transport Agency, NZ
Transport Agency has worked with Mana Whenua to develop a process
whereby cultural indicators can be identified to measure the mouri of
the inlet, and it's somewhat novel in Auckland's circumstance and in
terms of Mana Whenua here in this rohe, which is why I'm asking your
views about how it works for Mercury down with the Mokai Mana
Whenua group down there. But also I understand at Mokai there are a
couple of puna. Springs, if you like.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MS TEPANIA:

You're familiar with those springs?

MR WHINERAY:

I do know we have springs and they're monitored as part of -- I think
we've got 1,200 consent conditions across all of our geothermal sites,
and they are monitored as part of our resource consent.

MS TEPANIA:

Can you confirm that those puna are monitored by the Mokai people or
the Mokai Marae landowners as an indicator of the wellbeing of that
resource?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. We just want to make sure that there is no change to the surface
effects. There shouldn't be because they should not be connected to the
reservoir which is a couple of kilometres underground. I am not sure
exactly who checks them, but they are checked and we do receive
reports at the Tuaropaki board level, and they go to the council about
the consent condition compliance and making sure that they are
healthy.

MS TEPANIA:

And the Mokai landowners and representatives of Ngāti Raukawa and
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Ngāti Tūwharetoa, is that right?
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes. There is a mixture of connections to iwi, yes.

MS TEPANIA:

Okay. Thank you for your answers.

MR WHINERAY:

Thank you very much.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Mr Parsonson.

MR PARSONSON:

Thank you, Mr Whineray. There are a few questions. I think probably
Mr Mulligan will ask a few of them, but you have already alluded to
the meeting that you had with Mr Brash on 24 February 2016.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. That's right.

MR PARSONSON:

You have mentioned it in your statement of evidence and in that
statement you say:
"The East West Link should be located as far to the south as possible,
ideally on unoccupied land for the satisfactory coexistence."

20

25

Did you deliberately intend to leave the door open for an option that
wouldn't be entirely on unoccupied land?
MR WHINERAY:

No, I don't think it was deliberate. The main thing is that if there is a
solution where both can exist, then that she be identified but there were
four options put up in June, a letter went from one of my executives to
Fergus Gammie, who did get the NZ Transport Agency role, and then
another solution came out in December, which I think we are debating
here. All of those requests, even though they had gone to the highest
levels of NZ Transport Agency, were ignored. We felt, "We can't have
a power station with half safety and half something. Either it is
available to us or it is not". So, I don't know whether there can be
cohabitation, as it were, but I certainly was indicating early and I didn't
think I needed to push the boat too hard at the February meeting
because of the engagement and the response I had from him, and seeing
the rest, as I said, as just getting its feet wet in this roading alignment.
For an opening discussion on the topic, it was more about making sure
that they were aware of our objectives for Southdown, which may be
different to what they might have interpreted through the media and
would have that directly. So, whether the door is open or not, I think
the main thing is that we still - as I mentioned earlier - want Mercury
and Aucklanders to be able to enjoy what we currently have. Yes.

MR PARSONSON:

Okay. Just to close that out then, Mr Wickman attached various
correspondences to his evidence and statement to us; it was a series of
emails and information. From that it seems there was an email sent to

30

35

40

45

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4155

Mr Wickman - I think, on 18 December 2015 - saying that Mercury
had decided to retain the option of restarting the power station and then,
subsequently, the alignment that goes over the station, roughly where
it is now, was developed a few months after that. But in the intervening
period Mercury staff were still engaging backwards with NZ Transport
Agency on information to be considered to see how it might cohabitate.
Was there any intent at that time in accepting a solution that could
cohabitate if those matters were resolved sufficiently?
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[2.25 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Look, I am aware there was some engagement on that. It might
have been things like cranes and transformers and goodies. If that left
an impression which was different to the one that had been conveyed
face to face in February, and clearly to Fergus Gammie in writing in
October, then that is unfortunate. I wasn't across all the detail of that.
I was actually feeling some comfort from the original discussions and
thought that if there was significant concern there that they would come
back to me, so that wasn't the intention but I can understand how that
would have been interpreted.

MR PARSONSON:

Okay. Thank you.

DR PRIESTLEY:

No further Board questions? No. Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Mr Whineray, how are you going?

MR WHINERAY:

Good afternoon. Good thank you.

MR MULLIGAN:

You will excuse me if I am trying to catch up with some of the
discourse that has happened today.

MR WHINERAY:

That's fine.

MR MULLIGAN:

There is some areas that have been covered that, based on your
evidence, I want to touch on. So you will excuse me if I just need to
flick around with my papers a bit.
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You say in your evidence, at paragraph 10, where you are talking about
visiting Mr Brash in early 2016 that, while you told him that
Southdown was suspended, there was still this strategic need as far as
Mercury was concerned?
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

Part of that is because of the gas generation potential that we have
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talked about. Is that correct?
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes, the existing re-firing of the power station and the attributes of the
site irrespective of the power station.

MR MULLIGAN:

When I ask - because we have to be on the record - you will have to
say "Yes" or "No".

MR WHINERAY:

Say, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

Then you have also talked about today, in terms of the strategic need,
the voltage support options on the site?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

Then you have talked about in mid-2016 the solar research area on the
northern part of the site, so it is another aspect of the strategic
importance that we have heard about today from your counsel?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

That solar power which was installed, as I say, in mid-2016, was
originally car park area, wasn't it, to the north?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, it was unoccupied so it was used as a car park and also a lay down
area for other bits of gear that were large and necessary.

MR MULLIGAN:

I think Mr Tyas was telling me that it was to provide either better
parking or to do the solar that it was shingled. We went out there on
Monday and some gravel had gone down, etc.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Otherwise you couldn't park cars on it.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. The other part of the strategic importance of the site, potentially,
that we have heard about today from your counsel and from you, I
think, is this possibility of batteries on site?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. That's part of the R&D centre concept as it was announced, that's
right.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. When I was out on site I poked my head in one of the sheds to
have a look at some of the options that were there, but they were
relatively small. They were just something I could put in my garage,
weren't they?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. That is the first bits of the R&D centre, yes, but other aspects are
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being contemplated for much more significant grid-connected storage.
MR MULLIGAN:

So, something I wouldn't put in my shed but something that you would
put in your bigger shed and send the power down the line to me, that
sort of thing?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, it is of a scale that would need a grid connection and a proper
sized transformer, yes, if it did go ahead to provide that type of service
to the market.

MR MULLIGAN:

That is the sort of thing that, while the technology is moving quickly,
is something that is medium term?
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[2.30 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

We have just seen in South Australia Elon Musk promise to put a 100megawatt system in to deal with their power woes in 90 days, otherwise
he will put it in for free. So I think it is moving quite quickly.
Probably --

MR MULLIGAN:

Right. I was thinking it was a little more conceptual but obviously over
there they are able to conceive it and do it pretty quickly, if needs must?

MR WHINERAY:

If needs must, yes, that is pivotal part of what Southdown is about of
when those situations arise, and no one in South Australia needs to
really pick what was going to happen but they have certainly had to
move quickly, so …

MR MULLIGAN:

In March 2015, when Southdown was decommissioned, the closure
didn't occur until late in 2015, did it, December I think?

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct. We wanted to give the maximum notice to the market
and our employees of that change.

MR MULLIGAN:

Although that announcement was made in March, there were already
reviews of that Southdown viability in late 2014 under - is it Dr Heffernan or Mr Heffernan?

MR WHINERAY:

It's Dr.

MR MULLIGAN:

I will make sure I stick to that then.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, he concluded on 31 August 2014. Yes, the reviews to make a
decision like that are quite significant and so they do date sometime
before March 2015 when we made the announcement. There is a lot
of preparation that needs to go on, particularly with respect to
employees because, of course, we needed to actually operate the station
through to, indeed, midnight on 31 December 2015, because if we

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4158

didn't have them then we couldn't have done it.
MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. Just in relation to that, I assume that is because you had gas supply
and if you didn't use your gas you had to pay for it, so you may as well
use it up until 2015?

MR WHINERAY:

Oh, no, we could have got rid of it much sooner. A lot of it was to do
with other contractual arrangements with third parties, in terms of off
take agreements and optionality around production from that site.

MR MULLIGAN:

So, effectively, using that site to sell to other people as hedges for their
power price, which I think Mr Heaps was discussing yesterday.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. That was part of our portfolio management for the period leading
up to that, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

In terms of that decision, I think it was originally a decision to get rid
of the cogeneration aspect of the steam generation aspect of the plant
in 2014?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. I can't recall the exact date but that was taken earlier and then it
was the open cycles, the OCGTs that were left, was the March 2015
story.

MR MULLIGAN:

Because they are a little more flexible in terms of start up and shut
down?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, to start up steam turbines quickly is challenging, it normally needs
to be an open cycle gas turbine and that part of the plant, when it was
originally built in, I think, 1999, was originally base load and so then
you'd have a steam turbine running all the time but when you wanted
to make it more flexible, which we did in the subsequent years, there
was less requirement for the steam turbine.

MR MULLIGAN:

That was in the days of vector when they established the plant, did they
or …?

MR WHINERAY:

It was established by a consortium but they were involved in it and
then, yes, there was various -- we bought in 50% first and then bought
out the other 50% and terminated quite an onerous take or pay gas
contract, which was forcing it to run base load simultaneously.

MR MULLIGAN:

Right. At the time it was established, the value proposition at that point
was to sell steam to local industry as well as do that baseload
generation?

MR WHINERAY:

I wasn't there at the time of the original business case but certainly
when I arrived part of its operation was generating -- when it was
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running base load it was just much more convenient providing steam
to the recycle paper plant at Carter Holt Harvey, but those arrangements
have terminated and Carter Holt Harvey now runs under its own steam.
5

MR MULLIGAN:

Or under its own gas, doesn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

I'm not sure how they're raising their steam bit it may be gas, yes. I
don't know.

10

[2.35 pm]
MR MULLIGAN:

The review and the decisions in relation to this particular plant in late
2014 into early 2015 when Mr Flexman came on board with Mercury,
that had been preceded by quite a long build up of geothermal
development by then Mighty River Power, wasn't it, under Dr
Heffernan's stewardship?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, we had grown both sides of our portfolio, both sales and
generation so if you're thinking because you build geothermal you can
substitute out Southdown, it's not quite as simple as that.

MR MULLIGAN:

No, no, I'm just trying to get a view of the market.

MR WHINERAY:

Māori joint venture partners invested 1.4 billion over a decade in a key
part of the geothermal renaissance in New Zealand, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

You certainly don't have to anticipate that I'll say to you, "Aha, because
you've got geothermal you don't need this" but having that geothermal
base load as well as the hydro assets in the Waikato which you've
described as the most effective peaker today, and I think you've
previously described ait as that because it's close to Auckland and you
can ride on the river levels, the lake level, to push that peaker through.
But it was that geothermal development that placed you in a position
to adopt a different view in terms of Southdown at that particular time?

MR WHINERAY:

No, it's more related to the viability of what you run on the sales side
of your portfolio versus the costs of operating and the gas prices and
all the other input costs that are associated with the thermal plant. So I
wouldn't see geothermal as necessarily related to that. What
geothermal did help us do with that base load generation, and in some
instances we sold, for example in Kawerau when we built that power
station, the majority of that output to a local pulp and paper processor
under a long-term hedge to underwrite that plant.
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So geothermal is very good for being able to write industrial contracts
which like base load 24/7 electricity. So that's predominantly what
geothermal is focused at. It's the only weather independent renewable.
So we enjoy that aspect of it but Southdown had a combination of
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flexibility, gas pricing, fixed costs against the sales portfolio and in the
end we continued to look at what other participants in the market were
doing and made the decision to suspend production. But only just a
couple of years earlier, a year or so earlier, we got a consent to run that
for another 20 years or 25 years. So it's a strategic site.

5

I would just add to that at Marsden we had a power station there too,
sold the entire thing, have sold all the land, it's not a strategic site, it
didn't -- NIWA now enjoys the water intake pipes across the foreshore
for its hapuka farming or whatever it's trying to do there. But that isn't
strategic, whereas this one is. It's has a consent and that's why -- unlike
Marsden, which we sold the plant and sold the land, this was a different
scenario, albeit we had suspended generation for the time being.

10

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. In terms of that value proposition, part of the issue, I think, you
just said was in relation to the gas supply, which presumably that's part
of the economic as to what you get the gas for?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, the price.

MR MULLIGAN:

The price. Part of the issue with the gas supply there is that you pay,
as I understand, for both gas and also the transportation of the gas by
First Gas or is it one product? How's it done?

MR WHINERAY:

No, you pay for transmission and you buy the gas separately.

MR MULLIGAN:

So you pay Todd for the gas and then you pay First Gas, which used to
be a Vector owned asset, for the transportation?

30

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, so there's several parts to the pipeline now I think since Vector
sold the First Gas, but you need to pay for the gas transmission, up
through the Maui pipeline and then beyond and also to whichever gas
supplier you've got. It could be any number of providers in Taranaki.

35

MR MULLIGAN:

In terms of that gas supply, just like the transmission supply constraints
that you've talked about, with every transmission there's a potential
constraint?
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[2.40 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

Yes, typically it's less so on the pipeline to Auckland because
Otahuhu's closed and that immediately freed up about 30% of the
pipeline capacity to Auckland. But prior to Southdown and Otahuhu
closing there were concerns that there wasn't enough gas capacity in
Auckland for industry to grow. The likes of the glass companies and
all these other industries that happen to the south of here. So, no, there
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is sufficient gas transmission capacity.
It typically doesn't constrain, if it is it's very intermittent because
normally there's a bloke running away from a bulldozer and you know
exactly whether the gas pipeline got hit.

5

10

MR MULLIGAN:

And maybe a large flame.

MR WHINERAY:

Then you go and fix it. There are normally only very brief outages and
there's also pipeline pressure which keeps things going as well in those
events typically, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

My question was simply a straightforward one which is there's
transmission constraints with all of these matters and sometimes there
aren't constraints, it's an open highway, so to speak, and sometimes it's
a bit more crowded, that's all.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, diversity of suppliers is pretty important and that's why gas can
come up and why electricity can come up. I guess it's like having two
roads instead of one.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. In terms of the value propositions, though, that's why some of the
plants are based in Taranaki because they don't have to pay therefore
for the transport of the gas, they can get the transportation of their
product, the electricity, free into the market. So there are just different
value propositions.

MR WHINERAY:

It's not for free, if you wanted to sell it in Auckland, you pay a nodal
price in Auckland to buy it off the grid and there's a difference to the
price in which you sell it into Taranaki and you buy it off the grid in
Auckland. That's effectively your electricity transmission costs. Then,
who knows, under the electricity authority's long running transmission
pricing methodology changes, that may change again. But that's right,
there is a transmission cost for each of them. Some people like Todd's
want to put their gas power plants right on top of their fields and others
you want to transmit the gas to site and generate it locally on as small
a footprint as possible.

MR MULLIGAN:

And in relation to that, and you've just raised it, there are operators of
peaking products, or potential operators, consent holders for them, who
have that interest in gas, isn't there?

MR WHINERAY:

To build plants?

MR MULLIGAN:

No, they own gas assets, such as Kupe or …?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, New Zealand has a number of gas producers and consumers, the
largest one of which is Methanex making methanol. It's takes more
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than half the country's gas at the moment. So, yes, there's a number
and a lot of the time they're extracting it for the liquid petroleum and
gas is a by-product but there's a whole range of situations.
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MR MULLIGAN:

And Nova, who have recently got consents in Otorohanga for peaking
plants, that's a Todd subsidiary, isn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

That's Todd, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

And they have gas assets?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, they do, they have gas fields.

MR MULLIGAN:

Genesis, who have gas going into Huntly, they've got 14% of the Kupe
field, don't they?

MR WHINERAY:

They own about -- yes, close to half of the Kupe field now, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

Right. Now, in your evidence you say, at your paragraph 10(a), that
you told Mr Brash that Mercury - or at that point Mighty River Power
probably - had suspended gas fired generation at Southdown. It wasn't
suspended, was it? The station was closed, wasn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

The station stopped operating, that is correct.

MR MULLIGAN:

But in the market you told everyone that it's closed, didn't you?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, and the important thing is to signal that it's not available at short and I mean like week or day - notice. So, yes, we did say that and that's
correct. Then in the intervening year we saw three massive changes,
or two other massive changes in gas fired electricity in the upper North
Island.

MR MULLIGAN:

What was the first one?

MR WHINERAY:

Our one.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

MR WHINERAY:

Genesis with respect to Huntly and Contact with respect to Otahuhu.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, but you did, when you went down to the select committee in 2015
to go and talk to your number 1 shareholder, you did tell them that:
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"We announce that we are closing our small thermal power station in
Auckland and will conclude operations at the end of this year so will
be 100% renewable from 1 January and we will be pushing the
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conversation around electric vehicles for a better Kiwi future."
You said that, didn't you?
5

MR WHINERAY:

Correct. I don't recall the exact words but, yes, it is something I think
I would have said.

MR MULLIGAN:

In fact the record of that select committee says that you received some
bouquets from Gareth Hughes from the Greens that you'd moved to that
100% generation space.

10

[2.45 pm]
15

20

MR WHINERAY:

He would have supported it, I think. Their policy is 100% renewable
electricity.

MR MULLIGAN:

And you received that bouquet without blushing too much, because that
was your position at the time; you had closed the plant, hadn't you?

MR WHINERAY:

That's right. But unlike one of our competitors, who brands themselves
at 100% renewable as part of their consumer and company proposition,
we don't do that. That's not the primary sales pitch for our business. I
think I wouldn't call it core to Mercury's strategy, but it is certainly
where we would like to go and it was a nice comment from Gareth. I
think what Gareth Hughes and that are most interested in is our focus
on the substitution of transport fuels, which are imported and expensive
and emit carbon, because Mercury has done the most, out of any
company in New Zealand in the promotion of the substitution of
electric vehicles.

MR MULLIGAN:

If we have more electric vehicles, we have yet more power being used,
don't we?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, that is one of the technology changes, electric vehicles. On the
other side, you've got distributed generation like photovoltaic, and at a
bookmark, if all three million light vehicles in New Zealand were
electric, you would need another 7-terawatt hours of electricity out of
a 40 terawatt-hour market.

MR MULLIGAN:

You don't have to worry too much about hawking your business - I am
sure I'll go outside and try to hawk my business as well - presumably
that is because there has been a decreasing, or a bit of a soft demand,
in terms of electricity, and one of the benefits - I think you talked about
moving from not just renewable electricity but renewable energy
generally - is because then you can squeeze out not just your power
competitors, but the petroleum competitors as well. You can move the
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Shells on, and the people importing fuel into this country.
MR WHINERAY:

Yes, well, the biggest focus for it because New Zealand has an
abundance of renewable energy, which does have some variability, and
we are a long, stringy country, with transmission constraints, and it is
better for the customer and it is better for the country, subject to the car
companies coming to the party. So, that is a benefit of it but it's not to
the exclusion of the country's or the customer's benefit. Yes, we will
benefit from growing electricity demand, the market has been a bit
flatter but it is largely been flat to slightly growing of late, but, just to
be clear, you need a lot of electric vehicles to build a new power station.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, but that is the world that we are heading towards and you have to
anticipate that sort of scenario. One of the benefits of that new world
would be also we are going to have a whole bunch more big battery
storage wandering around, aren't we. I will be able to plug my car in
and have that storage in my house, won't I, rather than by my Tesla
battery?

20

MR WHINERAY:

That is one of the possibilities, yes. Electric cars do need batteries and
so there will be a lot of batteries on four wheels, assuming that comes
to fruition, but how that actually plays out, that is all part of the
dynamic scenarios in the exciting world of energy.

25

MR MULLIGAN:

You indicated that it was a dynamic market and you had made the
decision, after this relatively long lead in, well-planned lead in, I think,
to close, and that there were some developments in the market after
that, which showed you how the best laid plans of mice and men, so to
speak, but you announced your closure of Southdown 135 in March,
and then Otahuhu dropped out of the market all of a sudden, it seems,
in August. You didn't review your position; that's a lot of capacity
suddenly disappearing but you didn't review your position there in
terms of keeping Southdown open.

MR WHINERAY:

We had, in contemplating the March decision, looked at a whole range
of scenarios, because as I have mentioned earlier, you can't predict
exactly what all the competitors are going to do or how the market, or
technology is going to evolve, and that wasn't sufficient for us to
change that decision because there was still sufficient in the
supply/demand situation for the North Island and New Zealand, and,
indeed at that point Auckland, although I will note that there are new
voltage constraints popping up, which Transpower has had to modify
its soul for; it’s just an operator end. We
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[2.50 pm]
We can - pretty sure we reviewed it, but we contemplated a lot of those
scenario in advance, but the speed at which Contact moved was a
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surprise to us.
MR MULLIGAN:

I wasn't proposing that it was something that changed the world - you
gave that evidence - but you are saying in fact that you had planned for
that particular scenario of Otahuhu closing and nonetheless you still
wanted to close Southdown. Is that what you are saying? I'm a bit
confused about your position.

MR WHINERAY:

During that period, we still had the uncertainty of Genesis' Huntly
situation also, so you can't take it in isolation; they are all potentially
compounding; you have to see what the intersection is of power quality,
transmission, energy capacity, ability to respond quickly, versus
firming for hydro deficits. Then, after Contact, had made its
announcement on Otahuhu, it was after that that Genesis solved its
situation with respect to Huntly and life carried on.

MR MULLIGAN:

But you had already closed your plant by that point and at the time you
closed --

MR WHINERAY:

No, it was still operating until 31 December 2015.

MR MULLIGAN:

And Huntly didn't make its decision to extend beyond 2018 until later,
because you commented in the press that they should extend.

MR WHINERAY:

I can't recall the exact timing. I thought it was relatively solved at the
end of 2015 for Huntly, or, if it wasn't, we were confident that it was
going to come to that landing.

MR MULLIGAN:

Because in the market - and I think you have said it today - everyone
trusts in the market a wee bit. There may be certain circumstances, but
the market forces should respond to fill that gap, shouldn't they?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, the market forces it was responding to were Genesis not wanting
to provide a free option to South Island hydro generators.

MR MULLIGAN:

In the end, it was determined, because everyone was saying at the time,
Huntly is the cheapest option to fulfil that security issue, and so the
market should take advantage of that.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no. Everyone determining that, it sounds like it's sort of everyone
sits round the table and does that; that's not how it happens. What
actually happened is Genesis ran an auction for hedges and bilaterally
negotiated sufficient such that it could make a decision to extend
Huntly's life out to a later date, but not indefinitely. So, that was how
that construct came about, but it is a dynamic market and people
respond to whether they've got fuel constraints or capital or what the
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sales part of their portfolio looks like, as well.
MR MULLIGAN:

But you have made quite a lot of the need for gas generation in
Auckland in terms of your case, but at that point, when you closed and
before you closed, you lost the largest gas generator in Auckland,
Otahuhu, but you didn't decide to hold the horses at that particular
point; it still wasn't a viable option then, was it?

MR WHINERAY:

No, because NIGUP had been built.

MR MULLIGAN:

That provides the generation into Auckland.

MR WHINERAY:

For now. And the Transpower has subsequently, as I have mentioned
earlier, adjusted zone 1 voltage constraints, which fortunately haven't
manifested constraints, but they have had to respond to the way that
they electricity solves because of lack of generation in Auckland, and
that is sufficient for now but you will be familiar with the population
growth here and the load that will come in to Auckland over time, and
certainly within the timeframe of our 20-year consents.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Just pause, Mr Mulligan, for a moment. You have twice mentioned
over the last five minutes, Transpower adjusting its zone 1 voltage
constraints. Could you just tell us, very briefly, what that means?

MR WHINERAY:

What that means is nodally solved about, I think, every five minutes,
and so what that means is there are about 200 different places where
you can inject into or take from the national grid. What it means is that
if there is insufficient voltage, it will try and force other sites, such as
Huntly, to run, or boost their output, to deal with getting enough
voltage so that you can import enough electricity to Auckland.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Keeping the pressure up in the pipes.

MR WHINERAY:

Keeping the pressure up in the pipe. And it is not in Auckland, it's a
proxy for it further down the road. So, they have had to dynamically
respond, even despite building NIGUP, and that's a much bigger pipe,
which should have less losses, and therefore less voltage losses,
because of the closures in Auckland of that generation and because they
had stepped back from voltage support contracts, which they used to
run with both - well, actually, all three: Marsden, Otahuhu, and
Southdown. What this means under a growing Auckland scenario, and
also a scenario, say, for if Tiwai goes, that if Huntly isn't there to do
that, then we won't have the voltage support for it. What that means is
that wholesale prices in Auckland will go up a lot and that will mean
that consumer prices will go up a lot, and you potentially also face the
risk of insufficient power quality to satisfy demand here, and certainly,
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within a 20-year timeframe, all of that is feasible. All I am saying is,
it is quite dynamic, some of the decision-making, but none of that was
sufficient at this point for us to change our decision on Southdown, to
actually turn it on again.
DR PRIESTLEY:

So Mr Mulligan's been asking you, quite legitimately, questions about
whether Mercury reappraised its decision to close Southdown as a
result of what it subsequently found out about Contact deciding to
cease operation at its Otahuhu site, which I think you said caught you
unawares, but was one of the reasons why the decision wasn't changed,
was this decision of Transpower to adjust its voltage constraints.

MR WHINERAY:

No, largely we would prefer that they wouldn't have done that, but the
large thing was that the NIGUP transmission project was built, so there
was, for that time being, sufficient transmission capacity into
Auckland.

DR PRIESTLEY:

What is this project?

MR WHINERAY:

NIGUP. North Island Grid Upgrade Project.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I see.

MR WHINERAY:

It was, I guess, close to $1 billion, part of an about $4 billion spend by
Transpower.

DR PRIESTLEY:

That was improving towers.

MR WHINERAY:

It was, yes, putting another whole entire cable from Whakamaru to
South Auckland.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Now I understand. Yes. Thank you, Mr Mulligan. I just wanted to
clarify the nexus between all those things.

35

MR MULLIGAN:

There might have been different stages to it, but I think Mr Heaps gave
evidence to say that it was about $2.2 billion of effectively making that
transmission road far - and we'll deal in roading terms - wider and a big
pipeline of power.

40

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. There were three North Island projects, one around the Wairakei
Ring because of the expansion of geothermal, one from Whakamaru to
Auckland, and then also NAaN, which is the North Auckland Area
Network, I think, one which goes around Auckland.

45

MR MULLIGAN:

Correct me if I'm wrong in terms of interpreting what you're saying.
To take full advantage of that there needs to be - and there had
previously been in the past - some voltage stability services either
through generation or more passive means to make sure that the
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maximum potential can be made of that big road. Is that --

5

10

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no. So before that big road was put in, it did require voltage
support in Auckland to actually be able to bring enough power up.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. But now we've got it, to make the most of it - and you'd want to
make the most of all that money, presumably - it does need it. Is that
what you're saying?

MR WHINERAY:

Right now that's the case, yes, and they've made some other
modifications we've talked about in terms of how the system operator
works it, but that's not indefinite. There will be further growth and
demand in Auckland and further changes to its consumption patterns,
whether through photovoltaics or electric vehicles or storage, all sorts
of things, or some catastrophic failure elsewhere, or indeed the
withdrawal of a smelter, which may mean that that plant becomes
particularly relevant at relatively short notice.

MR MULLIGAN:

Presumably, because of the volatility you're talking about, there will be
winners and losers in terms of that investment, be it Transpower or
those that have got consents for generation. There will be some that
proceed and some that don't, presumably.
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[3.00 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

I think it's for each company to work out what their risk profile is over
the long-dated infrastructure and make their investments accordingly.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. And in terms of that voltage support which you say is required
now, you'd indicated that Southdown had previously provided it. That
was obviously not seen in late 2015 as a potential option at that point
to keep the station open.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no, you don't need the gas turbines to provide that voltage
support. We can hook that voltage support up with the generators that
are sitting there as you saw them, and Transpower is in fact running a
process to secure additional voltage support into Auckland to facilitate
the transfer of renewables from the south. So they are taking steps for
that right now and we're participating in that process.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, okay.

MR WHINERAY:

So you don't need to have the gas turbines. You don't need a gas pipe
reservation. You don't need that.

MR MULLIGAN:

But you'd said that previously, when it was connected and it was
operating, it did provide that voltage support.
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes, before NIGUP was introduced, so they terminated the voltage
support contract because they put in the big pipeline, then the gas-fired
power stations in Auckland stopped running, and now they're thinking
about voltage into Auckland again. So that's how it played out.

MR MULLIGAN:

Okay. In terms of that decision-making though in late 2015, as I say,
there's been talk of care and protection, which seems to be talking up
closing the site down, but there could have been a more fulsome care
and protection programme, couldn't there, to keep this opportunity
latent? You could have kept the turbines, for example, rather than sell
the turbines.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, the turbines, the LM6000 machine is the most widely used aeroderivative engine for power generation in the world, so it's practically
like a Trade Me site for purchasing parts or all machines, and indeed
we have purchased, and you have to refurbish them overseas, and we've
flown them in whole on the Singapore freight jet twice a week, which
lands in Auckland. We've flown them in whole and installed them. So
LM6000 machines are a very fungible asset. They're not bespoke like
large CCGTs.

MR MULLIGAN:

We've been talking about some big emergency that involves someone
driving out to the airport and trying to unbolt one off a plane, sort of
thing. You could have actually left the ones there, couldn't you, if the
site was strategic in that medium term?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Well, if it's strategic in the medium term you might as well -- if
you're going to own the asset then you're going to have to maintain it.
We had three. We had a spare one which was kept at Air New Zealand
because they had some capability to give it the right TLC, and indeed
we did use their engineering services when we had the machines. But
the point is if we can get them readily then there's no need to hold on
to them, given that we can bring them back in the timeframe for the
care and maintenance approach that we were seeking in the three to
four months.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, if Mercury, for whatever reason, suddenly decided that it needed
to buy more or acquire more of these turbines so that it could reestablish its generation plant, how long from whoa to go to making that
decision to these turbines arriving at Southdown would it take, in your
view, at the moment?

MR WHINERAY:

There's a range, but it's certainly within three to four months. At one
point when we needed to bring in a jet engine, I think we got it here
and leased it within three weeks.

DR PRIESTLEY:

In terms of strategy, isn't that an unacceptable delay? I would have
thought that it would be more important to have these turbines
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mothballed so that you could get into the grid three or four months
faster.
5

MR WHINERAY:

10

15

Yes. Well, that also comes with a significant cost of keeping the entire
site staffing and all of the other necessary things. Gas pipeline
reservations, which are fixed costs. There are a lot of overheads to
actually having it being able to start up that quickly. We didn't see that
we needed to cover that event. What we wanted to do was make sure
that should events transpire in the next 20 years, some of which could
be catastrophic failure of other people's plant or transmission, or there's
some other event - Tiwai's we've mentioned - changing, then we have
the ability under the recently acquired extended resource consents to
turn the thing on. But the fixed costs of actually having the thing on
standby, ready to go, that wasn't a good use of capital.
[3.05 pm]

20

DR PRIESTLEY:

So to recommission the plant is more, in your view, a medium- to longterm option, rather than an immediate option?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. The fixed costs required to have the thing on something shorter
than a three- to four-month lease, turnaround, are very high. But there
are a range of scenarios which could be short-term and typically
unplanned, or long-term because of the life of the consents which are
more structural changes in the consumption or generation or
transmission of energy in New Zealand, both of which could give rise
to the refiring of the power station and indeed other uses of the site,
such as battery storage.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So getting rid of the three turbines -- or were there four? There was
one you had at Air New Zealand.

MR WHINERAY:

There was a spare one at Air New Zealand, yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Getting rid of them was more an immediate economic decision, rather
than a long-term strategic decision?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. And because when you've got all those things, every asset you
have, you have to have like that and it's a very high-spec asset. There's
a lot of maintenance that goes in them. This is ultimately an aircraft
engine so it's not cheap to look after.

DR PRIESTLEY:

It's not like a lawnmower in the shed.

MR WHINERAY:

No.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, Mr Mulligan.
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MR MULLIGAN:

You talked about keeping staff. Again, you've started with your
decision in March 2015, and then suddenly and more quickly I think
you've said Otahuhu goes, but nonetheless you decided to get rid of -I think your resource consent talks about 40 people on staff. I don't
know. Press releases say 17 on staff.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. It was closer to the latter number. Yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

But you decided, notwithstanding Otahuhu going, that you were going
to get rid of them as well?

MR WHINERAY:

In the near term the decision to close was unchanged by Otahuhu going.
Yes. But I'm not sure how that informs future scenarios. It probably
actually adds value to them - well, it did - because it adds the issue on
risk, because then this becomes the only spot in Auckland which is
capable of large-scale generation.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, and it did when Otahuhu closed, but nonetheless you didn't see it
as strategic at that particular point sufficiently to keep your staff onsite.

MR WHINERAY:

No, it was strategic to retain the option as we had intended, and we still
have some staff involved in the care and maintenance aspects. So it
was strategic, so the import of the decision we had made was only
strengthened by Otahuhu going because then it became the only site in
Auckland to generate electricity, but it didn't change the decision to
keep the power station actively manned and ready to turn on at a
moment's notice. So the strategy was intact but it didn't mean that we
were going to have it on immediate standby.

MR MULLIGAN:

No. Presumably you would accept that if something has got a very
heightened or immediate level of strategic importance, you would have
it on standby, but what you're saying is it wasn't of that heightened or
immediate sense of strategic importance, "Therefore, we got rid of the
staff and we sold the four turbines".

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I think we're confusing the issue of strategy here in the context of
the timeframes for infrastructure. Geothermal was a strategy for the
company as well and it took a decade to put together Ngatamariki. A
lot of kōrero, a lot of engagement, a lot of arrangements, and that's how
long these things take to get off the ground. So it was very strategic
for us, but just because we couldn't turn it on immediately didn't mean
it wasn't worth a decade to pursue. So I think with respect to this, this
is about the strategy of being able to respond to short-dated or longdated things within the timeframes of our consents for this site. No,
but it didn't change the decision to say, "Hang on, let's actually keep
this thing running right now".
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MR MULLIGAN:

You will excuse me in asking that question, but all of the evidence that
we have heard or a lot of the evidence that we were getting from
Mercury was quite breathless about the need for this thing and the
world is going to end unless it can start tomorrow, so that was the
reason for my question, but what you are saying is it is more of a
medium-term exercise?

MR WHINERAY:

No, it's not. It is both. The reason why it is, as we have already seen
when TCC had to fire up in anger earlier this year it stuttered,
400 megawatt CCGT down in Taranaki and single shaft. So if one bit
goes wrong you lose the lot.
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[3.10 pm]

15

The HVDC has had challenges. In fact, it is running well now but if
there are issues, and that could be - who knows - caused by a fishing
boat dragging up the cables, then those are the sorts of events where
you have probably got sufficient storage in hydro lakes and things to
deal with a North Island shortfall.

20

But then, ultimately, you are going to need something to come on line,
so the three to four months is a very important scenario. It is not the
only scenario but what we've got to do is understand that this is relevant
for a long period of time, and the chances of it being needed because
of the consents lasting 20 years over that duration is only enhanced
because of that duration. The circumstances which may give rise to its
need just grow because of the time involved.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Those circumstances that you have just talked about, events which
occurred at gas-fired plants or perhaps a waylaid fishing net or anchor,
if those things did occur and the supply did do more than waver, then
from New Zealand Inc's perspective I think what you are saying is that
that is important, very important, critically important?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, it is, security of supply is fundamental.

MR MULLIGAN:

Nonetheless, from Mercury's perspective, you were happy to ignore
those criticalities, because that could have occurred then, couldn't it?
A fishing boat could have gone through the cable. One of the other
plants down in Taranaki could have blown a shaft. That could have all
occurred then. But, from Mercury's perspective, it was happy to take
that risk at that time, in terms of shutting down this plant or making it
more difficult to start up by sacking workers and by selling turbines?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, because the risk was adequately covered in that three to
four-month period. We are comfortable with that but it is not for us in
the market to go writing free insurance just as Genesis wasn't prepared
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to for South Island hydro generators. If someone wanted to pay us to
keep it live then it may have been a possibility, but the issue is both are
important, the three to four-month scenario and also long dated
structural changes through technology or the changes to the economy
or, indeed, Auckland's size, both of which can give rise to a need to refire this power station or indeed use it for voltage support which we
were talking about.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, we have talked about that. So, at that particular point, Contact had
decided it wasn't going to hold the baby and Mighty River Power had
decided it wasn't going to hold that security baby but at that particular
point Genesis was with its Huntly plant, is that correct?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Because that brought the security of supply for the country back
to about --

MR MULLIGAN:

Sorry, I thought it had fallen over.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Those closures brought the security of supply nationally for the
country back into about the 15% range, as assessed by Transpower as
system operator. There had been up until that point -- because of the
geothermal expansions and wind expansions, that is why parts of
Huntly closed and that's why thermal reduced their activities and the
number of hours they were running simply because renewables had
pushed them out. Renewables can come with some drawbacks in terms
of energy reliability, which we talked about.

MR MULLIGAN:

As I say, it is that trade off as we move deeper into renewables.
Someone has to hold that security baby and the question is are you
going to get paid for that by someone else because it could be, just if
you are waiting around for that day it doesn't rain, you have an asset
that you have to maintain. Like your thing that you are not getting paid
for, that's right, isn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Energy security is something that every company has to think
about within the context of their portfolios. Indeed, in the
announcement yesterday, talking about the TCC refurbishment for
Contact at the annual results, it was talking about that in the context of
a dry session in Clutha for the Clyde Dam.
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[3.15 pm]
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As an example, South Island hydro has their highest inflows during
spring typically because the fuel gets stuck on the Southern Alps,
whereas in the North Island the rain arrives in the Waikato hydro
catchment during the winter when it's cold. Electricity demand here
grows in the winter for space heating because of low or poorly insulated
houses and commercial premises. In some instances, you may have a
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hydro scheme which is providing you with the fuel at the right time of
year or the wrong time of year, and so to deal with those gaps either
you need storage of gas or you need storage of hydro or you need
flexible plant to be able to convert that when you need to, so everyone's
portfolio is different. The critical thing about the market is it helps with
a range of risk appetites and arrangements. It has actually resulted,
after 20 years, in far better outcomes in terms of system security, partly
because the signals are there to incentivise that. In the long market,
though - and we are not talking just about North Island, New Zealand
- Auckland is unique because of the gravity of the load. There is a lot
of it here and the transmission lines coming to it. It is not just about
balancing national energy security, because no one is really interested
in national energy security if the energy is not on at their house.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

MR PARSONSON:

Mr Mulligan, I just had a quick question. There was quite a lot of
discussion yesterday, Mr Whineray, about the relevance of having
Southdown at the ready to be re-fired up in a dry winter, such as there
is a dry winter in the South Island at the moment. But the responses
you have given to Mr Mulligan so far suggest to me that that might be
a scenario that is less likely for Mercury to want to repower Southdown
because of the lead in time to get the station up and running again. It
wouldn't give you much generation period before it wasn't worthwhile
generating, so is that --

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MR PARSONSON:

-- dry year not a likely scenario for getting the power station going?

MR WHINERAY:

It would have to be an extreme event because for three to four months
you have less ability to do that. And then the time, as you correctly
point out, on which you can recoup the cost of flying in jet engines and
doing everything else in that three to four-month period would be
limited, but if it was a scenario where it was dry and either transmission
or thermal generation fell or that was material to dealing with that, then
I can expect that everyone would have to think pretty hard about how
the sector will maintain security, yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So some of the questions yesterday were combinations of the failure of
one transmission plant somewhere, combined with a cold, dry winter.
Do you see that as a scenario where there is vulnerability?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, it is a scenario where there is a probability attached to it and the
system operator is the best one to typically opine on that, from an
energy and capacity perspective, for the market's needs. But those are
all possible. Just like in South Australia, your Honour, no one saw that
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coming but it happened too, so ...
DR PRIESTLEY:

I want you to focus on the Auckland situation which you painted a very
helpful picture of, as have other witnesses. We have a cold winter and
we know what that means in terms of electricity consumption in the
Auckland conurbation. We have a dry winter, which means that the
norm of heavy rainfalls during winter in the Taupo and the
hydroelectric lakes will not be occurring, coupled with the failure of
some big generation plant somewhere or other. What are we faced with
then?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, look, I don't have that at my fingertips but it can move quite
quickly into the security risk zones. We got to the 4% risk curve this
year and that was only with a quite late in the piece dry spell in the
South Island from about April. But if you get combinations of those
then, yes, the risk of energy or capacity or public conservation
campaigns which kick in at the 10% hydro risk curve, which a system
operator runs, are an increased possibility. It's all probabilistic because
ultimately it relies on probabilities related to what falls from the sky,
and so no one will be able to predict it perfectly. I think the market is
reasonably balanced nationally right now but it can get into stress
because ultimately it only has 10% storage in hydro lakes.
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[3.20 pm]
DR PRIESTLEY:

Have you got a question?

MR BICKERS:

Yes, Mr Whineray, you said that you were caught a bit by surprise by
the Contact closure of Otahuhu. Can I just ask why did you give
effectively nine months' notice? Your press release was nine months
before you closed the plant. What was the reason for that? Why did
you give so much notice?

MR WHINERAY:

It was clarity for the employees and also the market.

MR BICKERS:

So the market is interested and I anticipated that answer because I
noticed the press release refers in the top NZX MRP and ASX MYT,
which I presume you have got dual listings on the Australian and New
Zealand Stock Exchange.

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct.

MR BICKERS:

So, part of that is a signal to the market that something is going to
happen, and that is because revenue and balance sheet issues are likely
to arise?

MR WHINERAY:

Look, it needed to be disclosed to the capital markets for continuous
disclosure obligations under the listing rules, and also - apart from the

30

35

40

45

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

Page 4176

5

10

15

20

25

30

employee thing I mentioned - it's important that the electricity market,
particularly the system operator knows, once a certain decision has
been made like that, that they can factor that into their overall thoughts
on the system.
MR BICKERS:

So in terms of trading and hedges and options and so on?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, and also the system operator's assessment of security.

MR BICKERS:

Okay, so that's why you gave the market --

MR WHINERAY:

Long period.

MR BICKERS:

I hear what you're saying about the employees but you could have done
that privately, couldn't you?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no. If we'd done it privately there was a risk of continuous
disclosure issues, so we've got to --

MR BICKERS:

Yes. With the employees, though.
disclosure requirement.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. No. If we'd told the employees and it leaked to the market then
all our shareholders would be upset. Yes.

MR BICKERS:

Then you'd be in trouble. Yes. Okay. All right. No, that's fine. So as
soon as you become aware of a fact you have to release it to the market?

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct.

MR BICKERS:

Okay. Thank you.

MR MULLIGAN:

So just in terms of that point, going back to your reference to operations
being suspended on-site, you had to give nine months' notice of the
closure of the plant because everyone has to get their ducks in a row,
don't they, in terms of Transpower and other people in the markets?
That's some of the reasons why you provided that long-term notice.

MR WHINERAY:

It was predominantly drive by the ones we've already covered. But if
it's known to the market, everyone can factor that into whatever
decisions they're intending to make.

MR MULLIGAN:

That would get factored into Transpower's monitoring of the market
and of security and --

MR WHINERAY:

They would have run it into their models, yes, for future scenarios on
winter energy security.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Ultimately - and we'll get to this point - that's where the Transpower
consultation with the market about voltage supply, part of that resulted
from Otahuhu and Southdown closing, didn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. They look at how the market is operating, well, live, and are
focused on all of those parameters, including energy quality. Yes.
Power quality, sorry.

MR MULLIGAN:

Now, you've just mentioned the TCC plant. That's been up and running
but they've announced a $50 million upgrade of the plant to take it - I
think you said - five years ahead. Is that correct?

MR WHINERAY:

That's what my understanding of their announcement was yesterday.

MR MULLIGAN:

But that's currently up and running, and so this is a refurbishment
scenario.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. They've run out of hours so they've got to refurbish it and give it
a few more running hours.

MR MULLIGAN:

The turbines have reached their use-by date?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. It's the same with aeronautical engines. It's based on run hours.

MR MULLIGAN:

Right. So where we're at after you've closed in November 2015,
Otahuhu haven't adopted your responsible approach to the market. I
won't say that, but they dropped out of the market quickly in August.
You were quoted in November 2015 saying that while it may take some
time, the market will adapt to closures. I assume that that means that
any gaps created by Southdown or Otahuhu may take some time but
would be ultimately filled by market forces, or market would deliver,
as we've been saying.
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[3.25 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

It's just about filling a gap because, as I mentioned earlier, as far as it's
concerned with national security of supply and demand, it was a shift
to rebalance that from being something of a position of oversupply and
underutilisation of thermal. So, yes, the market, as I've mentioned, is
dynamic to a whole range of parameters, and partly what that was
alluding to also was a belief that the electricity market will work
through it as opposed to needing some sort of centralist intervention.

MR MULLIGAN:

Government, Transpower or some other Government --

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. The market has been operating for 20 years and successfully
working through these things.
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MR MULLIGAN:

And when you talk about overcapacity, again, and excuse me for my
poor analogies, it's this difficulty with the person left holding the baby,
isn't it? While there's that need for security, if there's an overcapacity
most of the time, there's not that opportunity for the person providing
security to make enough money. Is that what you're talking about?

MR WHINERAY:

No. Well, I think the market has solved for that in the context of the
issues of instantaneous peaking capacity to meet the 7 o'clock on 15
July or whenever the maximum demand in the system is, all at the same
high specification for electricity and not just running slow like
broadband. So it's peak capacity, it's power quality, and it's also the
energy in respect of if you don't have the rain arriving typically or the
wind for that matter, but typically it's more of a rain issue, given the
hydro predominance in New Zealand. So those companies which are
selling contracts which have issues with respect to an increase in
demand of their customer base on one hand and a reduction in fuel input
on the other hand, namely if you've got snow stuck in the Southern Alps
and you can't stick it through the hydro turbine, then they need to think
about their own risk management. There are 29 retailers and 62 gridconnected generators, and there is a huge number of participants in the
market. That's how they all have to think about their exposures to the
wholesale market.
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So the wholesale market, which as I mentioned has been running for
20 years, is the critical construct, and the futures market associated with
that, with people managing their portfolios.

25
MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

30

MR WHINERAY:

Transpower assesses the overall situation, doesn't control it. It can only
signal the information to the market. The market, through the
wholesale market and the futures market, largely works out what it's
going to do.

35

MR MULLIGAN:

But when you talk about that peaking capacity, at Southdown you had
that peaking capacity, and Contact had that peaking capacity at
Otahuhu, but it comes with a cost, doesn't it? You talked about that
you've got to pay the workers, you've got to have your gas supply,
you've got to maintain your equipment, and if you can't recover that
cost, you don't want to be hanging around for, as I say, that one dry
year that may never happen or that one dry day.

MR WHINERAY:

So what Contact had actually wasn't peaking. It was more firming,
because you can't just whip a 400-megawatt CCGT into action. That's
the unique engine situation at Southdown, where it was a much faster
capability, so it had the ability to firm but also peak. But it's all
weighing up. For our portfolio, with our other generation assets and
our desired sales positions, what is the risk-return curve for Mercury,
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and then everyone else adds those up and through the wholesale
market, the market actually solves energy security 24-7.
I know in a sense you're looking for the bit of the gap of who's holding
the baby for that rare moment, but I suggest the reason why we're trying
to hold this option open is not just singularly for a rare moment or a dry
year. There are many, many scenarios under which it may need to be
restarted.
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MR MULLIGAN:

15

You don't have to anticipate my questions; we'll just get to them in
time. But I think what you're saying is that I'm being a little too
simplistic about it and treating it as the market as a whole, when in fact
there are different forces depending on the different players in the
market. For example, Meridian have got a whole bunch of water and
so they have to adopt a different profile in terms of the value of that
Huntly plant to them than other generators like you up north. Is that -[3.30 pm]
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Everyone has to make their own decisions for the risk appetite
and risk tolerance of their companies, and in aggregate that needs to
result in a good outcome for security of supply for the country,
otherwise you can expect intervention.

25

MR MULLIGAN:

You don't have to worry about the snow holding up the water as much
as Meridian do, do you?

MR WHINERAY:

We hardly have to worry about it at all. Whilst there is some snow on
Ruapehu, it tends to be infrequent for good ski seasons.

MR MULLIGAN:

Again, in February 2016, there was a reference to you saying ... excuse
me. Whineray says:

30

"The coal units at Huntly are ideal for managing the risk of a two- to
three-month drought in the South Island and are the lowest-cost option
for the country. Were they to close and the smelter to remain operating
beyond 2018, Mighty River estimates that 300 megawatts of new
capacity would be required."
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So at that time prior to Huntly saying it was going to extend, for
Meridian at least that represented a potential option for holding that
baby, that Huntly peaking.
MR WHINERAY:

Well, what you highlighted is a wonderful scenario of decision-making
by different companies, one on the demand side and one on the asset
side. Let's remember Genesis didn't declare that their Huntly units are
going to remain open indefinitely. They did it for a specific period of
time, backed by the swaption contracts. And so these are the sorts of
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scenarios that can manifest quite quickly. And even if it does close, as
I mentioned, you've still got the issue of energy surplus, South Island,
capacity shortfall, North Island. These scenarios can manifest and will
require a response.

5

Now, going and building renewable power stations, sometimes the lead
times on these things can be very, very long. So in the meantime,
what's the customer going to do? This is the fundamental issue. That
scenario you've just highlighted is a classic case of the dynamism
which needs to be responded to in the market and which is a perfect
scenario in which we need to rethink or consider Southdown's role.
That's right.
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MR MULLIGAN:

But ultimately at that particular point not so much that you would
maintain that cost of keeping the Southdown plant poised and ready to
go?

MR WHINERAY:

No, because there's at least 12 months' notice on all of those
arrangements, which is well outside the 3 - 4 months we've been
arguing in this case.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Just choose a suitable break point, Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

It might be an appropriate time now.

DR PRIESTLEY:

We're in your hands totally.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

How much longer have you got to run? Not to hurry you up because
this is a vital cross-examination from your point of view. We've got a
retinue of witnesses though, some of whom can probably be released.

MR MULLIGAN:

Sir, I don't think we're going to get past Mr Flexman, who I'd imagine
would want to stay anyway. If we finish, I don't think we're going to
get past him.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, I understand. That might help, Ms Devine, in terms of your
releasing witnesses.

MS DEVINE:

Yes. Thank you, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Right. Thank you. We're adjourned for 15 minutes.
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RESUMED
5

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you. Yes, Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Thank you. Mr Whineray, before we broke you were referring to the
inflow issues this year and I think we'd heard evidence yesterday from
Mr Heaps that this year was a pretty dry year at certain periods in the
South Island and I think he mentioned it reached the 4% risk, is that
correct?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

And comparatively, as I understand it, that's a reasonably high risk, 4%
of the lakes going dry?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, it's the fourth percentile and the system runs at -- at the tenth
percentile, which means there's a 10% chance of there needing to be
some curtailment, there's actually a trigger for a public conservation
campaign in the South Island or, indeed, the country to conserve. So it
was in the round more than managed by the market and various parties
managed their risk in various ways. You saw the effect of a whole
bunch of arrangement with Genesis and other matters.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, and so just touching on that point and I think we'd talked about
generation and stability and transmission being part of this dynamic
situation, at certain points with that 10% level also there is the ability
for the customer to become involved in addressing security of supply
issues, isn't there?
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[3.53 pm]
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[3.55 pm]
MR WHINERAY:

Well, that is correct but I'd suggest it's not a good thing to rely on. That
point exercises the minds of a lot of people observing the industry and
setting the rules for it.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, but it's a measure there in the market that's planned for and there
are obviously specific thresholds that are set?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, the thing with the public conservation campaign is it doesn't
actually force or incent curtailment of consumption by consumers, in
fact it actually puts money in their pocket which may incent them to do
the opposite. So it's not a guaranteed form of reducing energy demand
in New Zealand, it's actually about retailers and generator retailers
managing their risk.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, and so it's a means of making sure, as you say, that the generators
and retailers actually exercise their mind about what investments they
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might need to implement in the future to make sure that they don't have
that 10% scenario, isn't it?
MR WHINERAY:

Yes, the 10% is a national outcome, it's not subject to the individuals,
it's just that everyone gets hit with a reasonably broad stick on that and
some companies may decide to take that risk where they don't have a
big balance sheet and blow up, and others will weather it. But it
certainly is to try and make sure that the -- the original reason for that
getting put in place wasn't necessarily to curtail demand, it was to stop
people lobbying the government and bringing the nation into dispute
for having a wobbly electricity system. That's actually what the
objective of that is.

MR MULLIGAN:

But it's another tool in the toolbox for management?

MR WHINERAY:

It assists in sharpening the mind and bringing the industry through the
system operator at Transpower to focus on consumer outcomes, yes, it
is.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Now, I'm just going to give you a copy of an article from the Energy
News which quotes you in reference to the Huntly site from 2016. I
think it's amongst a number of others, sir, so rather than pull staples
we'll just try this.
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FEMALE SPEAKER: Did we get a copy of that?
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DR PRIESTLEY:

I don't know. Your learned junior has been sparing with distribution at
the moment. I say you trying to pull it back. We will just wait
patiently, Ms Devine. When we all get it, Mr Mulligan, just read the
date and page number into the record, please. Thank you.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, sir, I will. I'm sorry, sir, I would have just asked questions about
it but it's a reasonably long quote so I didn't want to subject everyone
to my reading.
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Sir, the article that I want to refer to - as I say I wouldn't have
necessarily produced it for the witness, it's just that it's quite a long
quote and I didn't want to read it - is 23 February 2016, Energy News,
Mighty River Power may replace Genesis, swaption.
DR PRIESTLEY:

Can we have a moment to read it?

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, well I was just going to point -- obviously you can read the whole
thing but I was just going to point Mr Whineray to the last two lines of
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the first page and then the section on North Island demand.
[4.00 pm]
Again, I apologise, Mr Whineray, it wasn't a long question, it was just
the quote was quite long. That particular section there, the last two
lines of the first page talking about drought in the South Island and the
North Island demand, the fact that - essentially the point that we were
discussing before - Huntly at that particular point, 2016, wasn't yet
confirmed for that longer generation to 2022 or 2023, at that particular
point represented probably a good market option that people were
keeping an eye on, particularly some providers such as Meridian. Is
that correct?
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MR WHINERAY:

For firming and making up the other side of the potential renewable
shortfalls or catastrophic failure of CCGT, that's correct. That's my
understanding of what they were looking at and like all opportunities
in the market, and we have traditionally had a swaption with them, we
looked at that as well.

MR MULLIGAN:

Right, so you had traditionally had one but didn't opt in on this
particular occasion?

MR WHINERAY:

No, we didn't need to. Well, we attempted to get -- just to be clear, we
attempted to get a swaption but the swaptions were taken up through
higher priced offers presumably from our competitors and so we didn't
get one, but we priced the opportunity.

MR MULLIGAN:

Sorry, this is a slight deviation but how does that fit with your 100%
renewable position?

MR WHINERAY:

It's like the contract with Genesis, it's not related to Huntly.

MR MULLIGAN:

Right. So it's Genesis generally, it could be their other --

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, they could back it up with Tekapo or Tokaanu or anything. That's
probably a good question to put to Meridian.

MR MULLIGAN:

I'm sure from time to time you have. The final point there under that
section North Island power demand, I think really comes back to that
issue that you were talking about before when you were giving
evidence, which is it's all fine and dandy in terms of renewables and
the bright green future, but if push comes to shove, and it's a choice
between the power going out and the lights going off and burning coal
at Huntly, the customer will take Huntly, on that particular occasion.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, my quote in there is if customers are forced to consider Huntly which is not just coal, it's gas and coal - closing or the reliable supply
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of electricity, they will choose the latter first. Yes, that's absolutely the
case. Part of the reason for that comment also at the bottom of the first
page is because people started talking about battery storage in the same
vein as you talk about coal or water behind a dam. If you want to
replace, say, the coal behind Huntly with batteries, it's about a trillion
dollars and it will not hold its charge for six months or a year or
however long you're waiting. So we are just trying to make sure we
are contextualising hydro firming because of our hydro majority in
New Zealand and the volatility of that buffered by water behind the
dam versus some of these newer technologies.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, so people were effectively overstating the potential of batteries in
comparison to the Huntly stock pile?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, a significant network company in Auckland, their chief executive
actually said batteries may mean Huntly can close, which is a ludicrous
statement.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, and, as I say, the point is here later you were proven correct
because the market with Meridian did come in behind Huntly and said,
"Actually, we don't want to take that risk down south, we'll buy these
options" the higher price options.
[4.05 pm]
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MR WHINERAY:

I understand they were one of the participants, as well as Contact, as
well as Genesis probably needed it for itself, so, yes, they were the
parties that effectively wrote contracts, to my knowledge, yes. I haven't
seen a full disclosure of that.

30

MR MULLIGAN:

Turning to something I had previously, or you had actually previously,
raised, after Southdown closed and after Otahuhu closed, Transpower,
who monitor the state of the market in a general sense, and the security,
went out the market in consultation about some of their concerns, or to
understand this idea of voltage support, didn't they?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, yes. I'd describe it as where before we used to provide voltage
support, through three locations in Auckland, transmission was built,
power stations ceased operating, and one was permanently closed, and
then adjustments were made to voltage and now we are back in the
market for voltage-support arrangements again.

MR MULLIGAN:

When you say permanently closed, I assume that you mean Otahuhu,
as opposed to you.

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct. They can't restart; they have sold the land and they've
sold the plant.

MR MULLIGAN:

But if you are one of those 17 employees that was on your site, you'd
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feel reasonably permanently closed, wouldn't you?
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes, that's correct. They were made redundant.

MR MULLIGAN:

So Transpower, in terms of this role it has of overseeing the market,
went out to the market for market views about various options for
voltage stabilisation, or voltage support.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Mr Flexman's got all the detail on that and it's underway at the
moment, and there's various arrangements getting discussed. But we
have certainly acknowledged to Transpower our potential to provide
voltage support with the current configuration on the site.

MR MULLIGAN:

One of the points of consultation through that Transpower process,
though, was also their identification of what upper North Island
generation options there were, too, wasn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

I don't know. Sorry, I can't confirm that. They will look at all the
solutions, the outcomes, in the round, and I know they certainly would
like generation in Auckland. I think I referred in my evidence to a
recent - well, before I lodged this evidence - function in Auckland
specifically on Auckland energy security that was led by the
Honourable Tony Ryall and Alison Andrew, and a presentation to
Auckland stakeholders to bring people together on that specific issues.
In fact, Alison Andrew has appointed a GM reporting to her
specifically for Auckland electricity matters, which is how much
weight she places on the Auckland solution.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. Certainly, what, I can direct these questions to Mr Flexman, so
let me know when not, but certainly Mercury responded to that upper
North Island study by Transpower by responding to the various
questions but also by providing this, as you have described already how to describe it - proposal for providing voltage supply.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. The detail of that, you want to cover off with Mr Flexman, yes.
closure, when the Southdown site closed it was part of a package of
initiatives that you undertook for, then, I think, Mighty River Power,
of closing Southdown and also retrenching operations overseas, Chile
and perhaps some other sites. Is that correct?

MR WHINERAY:

We made a decision to cease international geothermal development in
December 2014. Then in March 2015, we made the decision we are
talking about today. But I wouldn't describe them as a package. They
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were just decisions which happened to be four months apart.
[4.10 pm]
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MR MULLIGAN:

And that came not long after you were appointed as CEO.

MR WHINERAY:

I was appointed chief executive, announced as chief executive, on 1
May and appointed on 1 August.

MR MULLIGAN:

2014 or 2015?

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct.

MR MULLIGAN:

2014?

MR WHINERAY:

2014.

MR MULLIGAN:

Then in addition to making your staff redundant and selling your
turbines, presumably you had to finish the gas contracts, as well.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, we finished our gas supply contracts for the site. We still had gas
supply contracts for our customers.

MR MULLIGAN:

First Gas, through that process, removed from the site their let down
facilities and their metering facilities.

MR WHINERAY:

I understand that metering isn't there but that's a good question for Mr
Flexman.

MR MULLIGAN:

Okay.

MR WHINERAY:

But we did conclude our gas transmission contract, which is a very
significant fixed cost, so we didn't need that.

MR MULLIGAN:

Because that site, I think, is being described by the Auckland Council
air quality people as the largest emitter in Auckland, you had quite a
lot of headroom of carbon credits you could sell as a result of that.

MR WHINERAY:

I don't know about the former part of the question, but we have
announced at the half year, in February 2017, we have divested some
carbon credits because we have long-term offtake contracts with forests
in New Zealand, so we didn't need as many for the foreseeable future.
So we took an opportunity to divest some of those and we will look at
capital management opportunities for those at the year-end.

MR MULLIGAN:

Because in the media it was described as a cause and effects scenario,
where because you had closed down Southdown, you were able to sell
the carbon credits for $19 million, giving you a $5 million profit,
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because the price had gone up since, and that that assisted in the
company's performance that year. Is that correct?
5

MR WHINERAY:

Well, in the half year. We haven't announced our full year results yet,
that's next Tuesday, but yes we did; there was a linkage between
closing Southdown's operations to the state that they are currently in
and no longer requiring, as the inventory which we had built up, for
carbon credits. So we had surplus and we decided the deal; we still
have long-term carbon purchase arrangements with forests because we
have emissions in other parts of our business but we had built up a bit
of a surplus, and given the uncertainty of when we might need to restart,
we felt it was good use of shareholder capital not to retain those,
particularly given the regulatory uncertainties around the ETS, the sort
of bird in the hand.

MR MULLIGAN:

It is similar to that turbine thing. You would back yourself as a CEO.
You wouldn't want your assets sitting around. You would back
yourself to make some other money elsewhere with freeing up that
capital, wouldn't you?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, yes, carbon credits are readily available in New Zealand. There
are more than a hundred million of them in inventory at the moment,
and, as I said earlier, yes, the LM6 turbines are pretty readily available
as well.

MR MULLIGAN:

But, again, just going back to this point, because you have equivocated
just a bit on this, to describing the site as being suspended, and you
have already acknowledged the importance of this, all of your press
releases in relation to this site, all indicate that it's closed; all of the staff
on site were made redundant; you sold the turbines; you sold the carbon
credits; you are taking bouquets in parliament for renewables for
closure. Aren't you equivocating a wee bit by describing it as
suspended? I mean, it's accepted it can start up, but, I mean, it's closed,
isn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

I think of it like this. I'm not sure why I would have gone and seen the
chief executive of NZ Transport Agency to clarify the Southdown
situation if that wasn't the case.
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[4.15 pm]
MR MULLIGAN:

If what was the case, sorry? I asked the question, is it closed or is it
suspended. You seemed to be equivocating.

MR WHINERAY:

It has ceased to generate. The site has numerous assets and aspects
which can't be replicated. There's enough land at the engineering
school out the back, as I said earlier, to put a power station, but it can't
go there, and nothing else, there's no other consented power station site
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in Auckland. So I think the above-ground plant is actually to a degree,
particularly the gas turbines, a red herring. The point is, there is
uncertainty as to when it can restart within the 20-year resource consent
programme. You have already covered numerous options as to how
that might come about because none of us can predict that scenario.
The security of supply is the fundamental licence to operate in this
country, and it is location specific. So, yes, we did take those moves,
but why sit around with costs that are uncertain and unnecessary in the
meantime? So we did take those moves to set up the plant such that it
could be restarted, but separate to the plant, there's a consent, a gas
pipeline, and 220 kV grid infrastructure and I just don't see those sitting
elsewhere in Auckland.
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MR MULLIGAN:

In addition to all of those, what seem like quite permanent steps
towards suspension, you also responded to Transpower with a proposal
to use this particular site for something that isn't generation, that is just
voltage support, and up to ten years, I think, the proposal was.

MR WHINERAY:

I don't know how long the proposal is. You would have to ask that of
Mr Flexman. But it has done that duty in the past for Transpower, and
for the benefit of security of supply to the customers, and so that was
an opportunity for it to do so again.

MR MULLIGAN:

I suppose the reason I am asking this question is it seemed that there
has been a lot of emphasis on the four months between when you could
start up and when you could start up potentially with the East West
Link in sight, and that four months seems to be basically the most
critical time in the world for New Zealand. But what about the four
months before that, that doesn't seem to be as critical for some reason?
So I am just a bit confused as to why that first four months for New
Zealand is fine and dandy, four months there, the world is going to end
four months after.

MR WHINERAY:

It is because of the New Zealand electricity system, as I said earlier,
you can't run slow electricity. It runs on an N-1 basis for transmission
and has typically 15% security of supply going into a winter. That is
assessed by the system operator and it is determined by the net of
supply and demand available at the time. So there is risk mitigation in
it because the first time that a power station or transmission circuit falls
over, if that results in a significant issue with security of supply to
customers, that would be unacceptable to New Zealand.
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So there has to be some degree of risk management built in on energy
and capacity and voltage support. However, that is not guaranteed and
so, therefore, that is why the first three months is less critical because,
typically, there is some water behind a dam somewhere, there is some
gas storage in Contact's reservoir or there are some additional plants or
circuits that can be brought to bear for small periods of time. But
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certainly, as it relates to Mercury, we have a portfolio which we think,
based on the degree of sales we have, the type of sales we have and the
plant that we've got, is suitable for our circumstances.
I think the first three to four months, this interim period of being ready
to go at a moment's notice, as we've said earlier, that comes at a very,
very heavy cost, and I don't think that is necessarily where the highest
risk is because of the redundancy that I've talked about is on an interim
basis for the market.
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MR MULLIGAN:

But your counsel spent a lot of time talking to Mr Heaps yesterday
about the potential for these emergency situations where, as I say,
people are getting hold of bits of kit and dragging them there in very
short timeframes. The case that you are presenting is that those very
short timeframes are strategically important. So which is it?

MR WHINERAY:

Sorry, I am not sure I understand your question.
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[4.20 pm]
MR MULLIGAN:

There was a lot of talk yesterday, in cross-examination, about the
importance of being able to start immediately and of time-critical
events occurring, so why is it that you are saying today that those things
aren't important, that first four months. They are just not important. Is
that your --

MR WHINERAY:

No, we have designed the arrangements on the site for a three to
four-month lead time. As I said, I think there are some various other
mechanisms. It depends entirely on the scenario that is presented,
whether it is slow, it is catastrophic failure somewhere else or it is a
notice period on a contract for supply to an aluminium smelter. There
is a huge range of scenarios. The issue is we don't necessarily know
and we can't predict what those scenarios are but we do know that, over
20 years, there is a high likelihood that this may be necessary, for
whatever reason, to be brought back.
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So, no, the first three to four months on a risk return trade off is very
expensive and that means having the plant fully staffed, all the jet
engines in place and having reserved gas transmission costs from
OnGas and having gas contracts which have no take or pay requirement
in them. So there are a whole number of reasons why that first three to
four months is something that we considered was, "Well, let's put this
plant and its arrangements into a state which has flexibility but not,
frankly, at the cost tradeoffs for that". And that is an optimal place, we
think, for the issue that I brought up first, which is around security of
supply for the customer because ultimately they --
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45
DR PRIESTLEY:

Mr Whineray, I think what Mr Mulligan is trying to tease out or get
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some explanation about - I understand there is a huge range of scenarios
which could threaten the supply of electricity, particularly to Auckland,
and I understand also that you are looking at a time period in which
some of those scenarios might occur over 20 years - what seems to be
puzzling Mr Mulligan is that, if the strategic value of this site is to
prevent or minimise this risk of a secure supply of electricity, why is a
four-month delay acceptable before it can come on line?
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MR WHINERAY:

It is because of, your Honour, the types of scenarios that we have
decided to cover the risk for.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So, water in the dam, that sort of thing. Somebody else can cover the
four months, is that what you are saying?

MR WHINERAY:

The whole energy system typically can manage the risk in that regard,
and certainly there is a range, whether it is through the wholesale
market or the futures market. I mean droughts don't happen overnight.
They don't. The amount of water that is behind the dam is entirely
visible to everybody. So the immediacy comes at a significant price
and that just adds cost to the entire system. When you have a situation
which now we have got into a more balanced supply and demand
situation, of around 15% going into winter energy margins, that things
are more covered by the system for extremely short term events, but
there is a range of scenarios which may play out in that timeframe and
we have discussed some of them. The first three to four months just
doesn't weigh up, given the other mitigations that are available to us
and the market as value.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Many, many years ago when I was in the Territorial Army, various
army groups, and particularly the SAS, would have training exercises
in the now disbanded Meremere coal-fired plant, training on how if
they were to go into a plant of that type where they would put their
bombs or explosive devices to render it useless. You have got to know
where to put your explosive charges. Some form of attack on
Transpower's pylons running up to Auckland is always a possibility, is
it not?

MR WHINERAY:

There is any manner of creative possibilities for water, electricity, gas
and transport infrastructure to be damaged, I would agree.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Which is the nearest current generating high capacity - if that is the
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right word - power generation plant to Auckland at the moment?
[4.25 pm]
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MR WHINERAY:

The nearest to Auckland is the Huntly site.

DR PRIESTLEY:

And the next?

MR WHINERAY:

Will be Karapiro.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Karapiro?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

The lowest dam on the river?

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right. Thank you, Mr Mulligan.

MR WHINERAY:

Thank you.

MR MULLIGAN:

Sir, I did wonder why you were so quick to the grenade analogy right
at the beginning of this. Now I see why.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right. Well, you're reasonably safe at the moment.

MR MULLIGAN:

Is it the red wire or the green wire?

30

Mr Whineray, you just talked about that high cost or the cost of
immediate response, and I think you said what one of the criteria of that
would be and I assumed you were talking about in terms of gas supply.
When Southdown was running before it had a take or pay scenario.
Whereas, if you had that and were sitting around waiting for something
to happen, you couldn't have a take or pay, would you, otherwise you
would be handing over money left, right and centre? You would have
to have that higher gas price just to get on demand, get on tap when
you want it. Is that what you are talking about?
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MR WHINERAY:

No, what I was referring to is if you are on a take or pay gas contract,
if you are on a committed gas contract, and that can have various
thresholds of take or pay or flexibility, it just depends on the shape and
that is all negotiable with gas suppliers.

45

MR MULLIGAN:

Presumably you pay more for flexibility, like we do in most things in
life.

MR WHINERAY:

But then you have also got the ability to run on the spot market, gas as
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well, and there is a traded gas spot exchange, which I am sure
Mr Flexman can elaborate on in terms of being able to get hold of gas
at short notice.
5

MR MULLIGAN:

I don't think we've quite got to unity as to closure or suspended, but if
you were to re-commission this site - and I think you have already said
it - there would have to be a number of circumstances which are in play
that aren't today, a number of variables

10

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Otherwise we would be doing it today so that is correct, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

From a business perspective, it would involve a reasonable capital
investment and you are not going to leap into it willy-nilly, some
money to be spent?

MR WHINERAY:

You would need to spend some money but it is certainly within our
banking covenants.

MR MULLIGAN:

I would hope so. There would be a number of practical events that
would need to be put in place. You would need to organise your
turbines. You would need to get some new staff up and running and
trained. There are a number of steps that would need to be gone
through in that period?
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes, in that window. It would be a busy period but that is what was
contemplated for going into the December 2015 arrangements. Just
like Vector - now it's Vector - will move very quickly to put
transmission into central Auckland, or that failure.
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MR MULLIGAN:

We were talking about the renewable energy position of Mercury, and
I think when you initially answered questions from the Board you
accepted that that was a central part of Mercury's current branding. But
then when I asked you the question, you seemed to say it wasn't a
central part of the branding. I put it to you that really it is a key part of
the change from Mighty River Power to Mercury, that renewable
generation.

MR WHINERAY:

I'm not aware of any above-the-line advertising which waxes lyrical
about being 100% renewable. We are. We enjoy that position. But as
I said, in what you provided to me earlier, if customers are forced to
consider - in this case Huntly - thermal generation or a reliable supply
of electricity, they'll choose the latter first. I absolutely stand by that.
It comes back to security of supply. So, no, it is something we enjoy,
but you can go on to our website and the first thing that hits you is not
"100% renewable generation" as the key marketing thesis to our
customers, or indeed our investors.
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[4.30 pm]
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MR MULLIGAN:

I don't know what above the line or below the line is --

MR WHINERAY:

TV.

MR MULLIGAN:

-- but when you opened the site of the R&D centre of the car park of
the plant, you said that that was a signpost to the future and New
Zealand's continued leadership in renewable energy.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. I didn't open it, by the way, but the quote, if there was one
associated with that -- where is that? Is that in James Flexman's
evidence?

MR MULLIGAN:

No. It's in an article. Again, it's a news release, one of Mercury's news
releases, I think. I can show it to you.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, if you could, that would be good. Oh, the front page of this thing?

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, sorry. It's the second page in the bundle you've got. Sorry. There
are a number of items in that, so we've already done the work handed
up.

MR WHINERAY:

To the front one?

MR MULLIGAN:

Second one.

MR WHINERAY:

Second one. Sorry. How far down? Yes. In renewable energy. That's
correct. And the main focus of us is, as I mentioned, particularly on
the emphasis on energy, which relates to electrification of transport.
But yes, we offer customers solar, we offer them battery storage, and
we have the R&D centre to support that, and other things we'd like to
do with these new technologies. But I don't see anything in there which
says, "Exclusive".

MR MULLIGAN:

No, and that wasn't my question. So maybe we'll just stick to those.
But whenever I look at your website it's got a reference to Mercury as,
"The home of renewable energy", and emphasises your -- well, you say
it doesn't emphasise, but it certainly references your 100% renewable
energy generation reputation.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, that is part of the company but it's strategically -- we can just cut
straight to the point. It's not an exclusive proposition for Mercury's
company position. It's something we enjoy currently, but security of
supply is the critical element for our customers. And again, I'm not
sure why I'd go and see the Chief Executive of NZ Transport Agency
in February 2016 and be ignored when I clarified the Southdown
position for him. I'm not sure why I would do that. That was actually
before we rebranded as Mighty River Power, and then after we
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rebranded, again we had to write to Fergus Gammie. So I'm not sure
why we would do that if we were hard out on a proposition that our
central thematic for the company was 100% renewable. So, sorry if
I'm asking you a question, but I just thought we'd cut to the chase a
little.

5
MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, I don't know why you are asking me a question, and we will be
coming to that particular discussion. I'm just asking you at the moment,
and I don't consider it to be a controversial proposition, because all of
the material that I've seen suggests that it's an important part of your
current branding. I don't know why you'd be disavowing it now.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. No, the most important thing in it is that very few New Zealanders
actually understand how unique New Zealand's renewable electricity
position is, and that is so central to communicating the renewables and
why the relevance, for example, of electric vehicles is communicating
that it is renewable, and that is very different to how it is globally.
Otherwise we end up with misguided activity and regulation to create
more renewables, when actually the system is already predominantly
renewable, when the focus should be on energy. So it is part of a
campaign to make sure that we have the correct conversations in New
Zealand about the opportunity in renewable electricity. That's
genuinely what it's about.

MR MULLIGAN:

Renewable energy, beyond even electricity, to use your --

MR WHINERAY:

That is correct. It's the opportunity of renewable electricity in
renewable energy, yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

You've said previously that those unique positions - well, maybe not
unique but certainly unusual in the world - mean that we could be, I
think the words were, a "superpower" in renewable generation.

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct. Our Transport Minister has said those words when he
was Energy Minister as well.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Mr Mulligan, with respect, and this is only designed to help you, the
whole area of the electricity market in New Zealand, as we're finding
out, is extremely complex. So too are the interrelationships of various
suppliers and reticulators and retailers, etc, and some of these of course
impact on the Southdown site which is central to what we're going to
do, but I'm not sure that you're really going to get too far by crossexamining on whatever the latest slogan of Mercury might be or what
may appear in a PR sense on their website, any more than a car I've
seen out there for the last week with NZ Transport Agency decals on,
which says, "Safe speeds are my business" or something or other. It
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describes accurately the central core of NZ Transport Agency's
operation. So there is a limit to how far you can go with this, with
respect, I think.
5

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, sir, and I take that point. I suppose I would have thought, as I
say --

DR PRIESTLEY:

It's puffery, put out by an advertising agent as a result of lots of
assessments of consumers to see what makes everybody feel good.
That's how I see these things. I may be a terrible cynic, but if you think
I am wrong, please proceed. You may strike gold but I'll be surprised.

MR MULLIGAN:

Well, sir, as Mr Whineray has indicated, when he speaks, the market
listens.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Indeed.

MR MULLIGAN:

So it's not a straight situation of puffery.

DR PRIESTLEY:

It's not quite what's on the website. You can tax him with his words
and are doing so effectively, but you can't tie the poor man to his
slogan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Well, I think I'd beg to differ, but I can talk to him about that.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Go ahead.

MR MULLIGAN:

The other thing is, in terms of branding, obviously everything costs
these days and it's all part of the investment.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I know. I know.

MR MULLIGAN:

But we will move on, I think, with that indication, Mr Whineray. Just,
though, not you suggesting that somehow it wasn't tied to your brand,
and taking the point of his Honour in terms of the branding, what I've
seen is that in 2016 when you announced your new symbol, the black
bee on yellow, you said:
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"The bee is energetic and optimistic. It is also critical for the global
environment, just as renewable energy is."
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So you're actually even tying that one visual symbol, which presumably
cost a lot of money to get someone to draw, to renewable energy, aren't
you?
MR WHINERAY:

The logo was quite inexpensive to produce, so I just want the record to
note that.
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MR MULLIGAN:

They always are.

MR WHINERAY:

It is not like other logos which have attracted a lot of media attention
for their cost. Yes, and the bee is connected to that thesis. Let me just
run through what our tagline is on those ads, which are above the line,
around people riding electric bikes. It's energy made wonderful. It's
people enjoying and connecting to energy, which they don't connect to
a lightbulb turning on anymore. They just expect it to happen.

5

The objective of what we're trying to do is energy freedom, actually, is
the company's mission. That is what it's about. Now, energy freedom
comes down to reliable, ideally renewable and equitably priced energy,
and also for the country not importing as much fossil fuel. That's
actually what is in our mission statement, which is in our annual report,
is energy freedom, and the purpose is to inspire people to enjoy energy
in more wonderful ways. Part of that is communicating that renewable
electricity is an opportunity for this country as opposed to something
which gets kicked regularly for necessarily opportunity, particularly if
it's underperforming. And the greatest mark of underperformance is
security of supply. That's when the sector definitely gets a thrashing.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Really what you're saying to me is, as part of that rebranding - and I
know I do it - it's like petrol: if it makes my car go, I don't really care,
and I literally couldn't even tell you who my power company is,
because as long as my light goes I'm not worried. So this branding is
really to get over that or to start to distinguish your company from
others, isn't it? You'd hope so.

MR WHINERAY:

It's actually multiple facets. You need to align your employees around
a common purpose, because half the employees thought they were
Mighty River Power and half of them thought they're Mercury Energy.
It's to have a common thesis for what you're trying to achieve for the
customer, and working back from that to manage and ideal exceed their
expectations.
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[4.40 pm]
So there are multiple facets to the branding, and a year on, since we
rebranded on 28 July 2016, it has been a very strong success with
customers, not because we've changed it from the old logo or Mighty
River or the Mercury Energy logo to a new logo. That doesn't do it.
Actually there are hundreds of other steps that go into a successful
rebrand which deliver the performance. So I wouldn't overemphasise
the logo, because if it was that simple then I wouldn't have bothered
doing all the other things which have taken so much effort from our
staff.
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MR MULLIGAN:

And spending all the money, presumably, to do so. But that's the point
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of the spear and of that brand, and it is in some shape or form tied to
that idea of renewable energy, unlike some of your competitors, isn't
it?
MR WHINERAY:

Well, of course you do want to differentiate yourself in a competitive
market. The strongest point on differentiation that we have, which is
borne through in our customer results, is on loyalty. We focus very
hard on making it easy for our customers - these are our three promises
- rewarding them, and inspiring them. Whether it is electric bikes, freepower days, revised websites, easier contact-centre calls, all of that
stuff actually adds up and is the brand. That is actually what made the
difference, not a new logo or a slogan.

MR MULLIGAN:

No, but part of that brand, part of what you are paying for, part of what
you are building, is this commitment to renewable energy, surely.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. It is. And fundamentally, though, before it is renewable, you've
got to have security of supply.

20

MR MULLIGAN:

I must admit I'm somewhat surprised that it has taken me so long to
sort of drag you to that idea, when I think his Honour mentioned it, that
you are identified as kind of the poster boy in the market for renewable
energy at the moment.

25

MR WHINERAY:

The reason for that isn't because our generation is 100% renewable.
The reason for that is we are trying to leverage a position of a
competitive advantage in renewable electricity generation in New
Zealand for the national benefit, through the electrification of transport.
That is actually the reason we are the so-called, as you call it, poster
boy, or child, or something, may be referring to. That is because of the
push on electric vehicles. It's not because of our, necessarily,
geothermal and hydro generation.

MR MULLIGAN:

Okay. Well, perhaps, and we'll move on to another line of questioning,
but perhaps if, then, it is not as critical to you getting customers and
building that customer loyalty you were just talking about, you may not
want to mention the 100% renewable quite as much.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, we are 100% renewable today, so I'm not sure what -- I'm not
misleading any customers with that statement.

MR MULLIGAN:

Would you accept that when various opportunities come up in the
marketplace, down the track, and these other conditions that we've
talked about that might lead you to consider opening the Southdown
plant, that there would be other people in the market who wouldn't have
to consider that reputational issue and that reputational cost and the
sunk cost, in terms of linking yourself with renewables? There are
other people who have dirty hands that can get there quicker. Is that a
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fair proposition?
MR WHINERAY:

Everyone in this market has either thermal generation, or a contract for
thermal generation. So I'm not -- if the situation arose, I'm more than
comfortable with how we will manage those communications.

MR MULLIGAN:

But it is going to cost you more than it is Genesis, isn't it?

MR WHINERAY:

But the site is not just for thermal generation; it's for a lot of other
activities, including battery storage and power quality, and they are just
equally important for getting security of supply to customers.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

MR WHINERAY:

So it's not just about generating electricity on a site.

MR MULLIGAN:

But I was asking you about that --

MR WHINERAY:

Genesis has the largest retail base in the country and are the least
renewable, and the opposite is true for Meridian.
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[4.45 pm]
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MR MULLIGAN:

I just want to move on to the issue of health and safety and you are
obviously having to take that responsibility on yourself as the preeminent manager, but also reporting to your board, of the stringency of
the obligations under the new Act, the 2015 Health and Safety at Work
Act.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. I'm an officer of the company in that regard.

MR MULLIGAN:

While there is perhaps - I will use the road analogy - a more direct line
now to the board with those obligations, under the previous Health and
Safety in Employment Act, there were equal obligations to make sure
that your employees on site didn't suffer any injury if at all possible. Is
that correct?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, we have been focussed on the wellbeing of staff, which includes
health and safety, before, under the old legislation, and under the new
legislation. So that continues to be a focus for us.

MR MULLIGAN:

To discharge that risk in terms of some of your equipment and your
sites, is a reasonably onerous and involved exercise because of its size
and its complexity and its potential for harm.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. There are a lot of risks on all of our sites, and there are risks in
our offices as well, and not just to ourselves, but our contractors,
members of the public, visitors. We are, and continue to be, focussed
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on our ultimate goal of zero harm.
MR MULLIGAN:

Part of that, both previously under the old regime, and certainly under
the new regime, part of the means of discharging that is that you are
undertaking constantly sufficient due diligence of what those risks are,
that active process of identification of those risks. Would you accept
that?

MR WHINERAY:

I think your words "due diligence" are more a feature of the new Act,
but certainly, understanding the risks and considering those in a
dynamic way, depending on the situation, whether it is a toolbox
meeting at the start of a shut, or on a daily basis, that's all part of
managing risk. So, yes, it is a dynamic assessment of the hazards that
are on site.

MR MULLIGAN:

As part of that, if you've got a piece of equipment, a piece of kit, that
could pose a risk, part of discharging that duty is to understand whether
that piece of equipment could spin out of control, break up, and hurt
someone standing next to it.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. The discharging of that duty isn't through the chief executive on
all occasions. My job is to make sure it is adequately resourced, has
the right processes, and I'm receiving the correct assurance and lag
reporting, and I'm across those key things, which could have significant
risk periodically, but as far as it's dynamically assessed on the sites, we
have site managers and things like that, who would undertake those
activities, because it's physically impossible for a chief executive to be
across those things.

MR MULLIGAN:

If you were in charge of all your sites by yourself, then it would be hard
work.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. There is a bit of travelling involved.

MR MULLIGAN:

But you would accept that in terms of setting those systems and
making the resources available for them, that if you've got that piece of
kit, you need to understand how it works, and it probability of failure,
if a failure could cause harm to someone standing next to it. You would
accept that as a general proposition.

MR WHINERAY:

No, I'd accept that I'd need a framework so that the business can
identify, and then go about managing, those risks in a number of ways.

MR MULLIGAN:

You need a framework, and you need a process, which allows you to
understand, to the degree which is commensurate with the risk, that
things are not going to spin out of control and that someone can stand
next to it. You need to understand that, or otherwise you have to
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exclude them, don't you?
MR WHINERAY:
5

I think the key word is "you". It's not me as chief executive because
that's not possible. I think it is -- I need to ensure that there are people
who have relevant training, awareness, knowledge of the risk appetite,
the culture where they'll put up their hand and say something is not
right, and manage those risks accordingly, and, if necessary, evacuate
a site.
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[4.50 pm]
MR MULLIGAN:

When Southdown was operating, prior to its closure in 2015, you had
those processes in place, I presume.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, we did have processes with respect to safety management, the
details of which I'm sure Mr Flexman can elaborate on.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Mr Whineray, I'm not sure where Mr Mulligan is going with these
questions, but my understanding of the new health and safety
legislation is that it's no longer satisfactory for boards, or trustees, or
indeed general managers, to say this is a managerial, or submanagerial, responsibility. There has to be some process in place
whereby the board can be satisfied, and indeed ask questions, that all
hazards and health and safety risks across the entire operation of a
commercial entity have been properly identified and mitigated. Would
you agree with that?

MR WHINERAY:

That is correct.

DR PRIESTLEY:

That doesn't mean that you and -- who is the chair of the board?

MR WHINERAY:

Joan Withers.

DR PRIESTLEY:

It doesn't mean that you and Ms Withers have to wander around every
hydroelectric dam and the Southdown site looking at things and
checking things, but there has to be a greater degree of diligence than
existed hitherto. You would accept that as a general thing.

MR WHINERAY:

That's absolutely correct. The due diligence aspect has a very
constructively upped the ante, indeed, including site visits, and so that
is something that we do do.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I think related to that, Mr Parsonson had a question he wants to ask you
about site visits. Did you? You had better ask it now, anyway, because
you have to go soon.

MR PARSONSON:

Yes, I must apologise; I have to leave at 5.00 pm so I might need to
sneak out. My question was, and I will explore this in detail with Mr
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Flexman, earlier you said there is space on the north part of the site to
build a power station, but it can't go there, I remember you saying.
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MR WHINERAY:

Did I say that?

MR PARSONSON:

Yes. You said there is space to the north part of the site to build a
station, I think - but maybe you meant reshape the station --

MR WHINERAY:

Sorry, could I clarify?

MR PARSONSON:

And you said, "But it can't go there" and I just wanted to know what
the reason for that was.

MR WHINERAY:

I'm sorry, I'm not --

DR PRIESTLEY:

I thought I heard you say that, too.

MR WHINERAY:

Could you just give me some of the context around that?

MR PARSONSON:

My question is a bit out of sync, but it is because I'm going to be out of
sync shortly. What was the context?

MR MULLIGAN:

It was, I think, in relation to a discussion about the visit to Mr Brash
and as far as I recall, and obviously others, you said, "Look, cutting to
the chase, a power plant could go to the north of the site", I'd perhaps
pick somewhere else, "but it can't go there".

MR WHINERAY:

I think what I was referring to is that the road, in the discussion I was
having with Mr Brash, was slightly north of where it is on that
diagram --

DR PRIESTLEY:

Behind the engineering school was also mentioned, in the context.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. No, I certainly said it can't go there, but sorry, I wasn't intending
to make comments about reconfiguration of the site. Sorry. I think I
was referring -- it can't go there, in Newmarket, even though that has
sufficient land, for all of the reasons that are strategic to the site,
irrespective of the plant that is on it. But in the conversation with Mr
Brash, what I was referring to is the road can't go there; the road was
running straight … I'm not suggesting that the current alignment is fine
either, I'm not, but the road was, on the map that I presented to David
Brash, which was the one that was available to us from NZ Transport
Agency, had it pretty much going right where the 220 kV pylon cables
are, which are hard to see on the TV screen, but that was where I was
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referring to, the road can't go across that bit. Sorry.
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MR PARSONSON:

Okay. Thank you.

MR WHINERAY:

In terms of site reconfiguration, I don't know; I'm not the expert on that.

MR PARSONSON:

Ask Mr Flexman?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

MR PARSONSON:

Thanks.

MR MULLIGAN:

Perhaps we will move on to that particular issue and your visits with
Mr Brash; you seem keen to talk about that, and it is helpful because I
think we are probably going to get there in terms of the optioneering
and it can be a somewhat painful exercise, going through all those. But
I think what you are confirming, in your answers to the Board, is that
when you first visited Mr Brash in February or March 2016, the
alignment proposal was through here somewhere. Is that correct?

MR WHINERAY:

It was slightly north of where it is now; pretty much straight through
the 220 kV pylons that traverse the site, which Mr Brash was unaware
of their existence.
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[4.55 pm]
MR MULLIGAN:

Where is that? Tell me.

MR WHINERAY:

Just where the grey roofs are. It's pretty much in that alignment.

MR MULLIGAN:

Here?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, across there.

MR MULLIGAN:

We have been through this particular process a bit, but we know to get
some plans up.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Sorry to interrupt you again, Mr Mulligan. Mr Parsonson has to slip
away, I think in about five minutes. I am just wondering whereabouts
you are in terms of timeframes, because I'm not sure about Mr
Whineray's schedule tomorrow, and we've still got re-examination.
This is a pretty crunchy issue, from a whole point of view, so you are
not curtailed, but I'm trying to plan the rest of the evening.

MR MULLIGAN:

Well, sir, I'd like to say that I am close to finish, but I think going
through the options in relation to this, because there are a number of
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different --
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, that is going to take quite a while.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, start off, and we'll probably draw stumps in about 10 or 15
minutes. Are you happy with that?

MR MULLIGAN:

Well, sir …

DR PRIESTLEY:

Or do you want …

MR MULLIGAN:

I suppose if Mr Parsonson is going at 5.00 pm, I would prefer the whole
Board to hear this. I'm appreciative of Mr Whineray's position …

MR PARSONSON:

If you can give me five minutes, I can probably hang around. I just
need to …

DR PRIESTLEY:

We can break for five minutes, but we had better check. Are you
available tomorrow at 9.00 am, Mr Whineray?

MR WHINERAY:

I haven't looked at my diary for that purpose, so I'd have to

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, there is a site visit tomorrow.

DR PRIESTLEY:

You continue on. We will sort out the logistics later. Give it another
five minutes

MR PARSONSON:

I'll duck out now.

DR PRIESTLEY:

You go now.

MR PARSONSON:

I'll sort something out. I'll come back.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Oh, I see. Do you want us to adjourn?

MR MULLIGAN:

Perhaps if we have a short adjournment, for five minutes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

A short adjournment. You and your learned friend need to have a
discussion with Ms Smeaton, who will probably kill you both, as to
what if this involves tomorrow.

MR MULLIGAN:

Can we stay, then?
ADJOURNED

[4.57 pm]

RESUMED

[5.06 pm]
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you. I gather, counsel, we can sick until 5.30 pm, and then our
sound disappears like Cinderella, and you can come back tomorrow at
about 9.00 am, Mr Whineray. Is that right?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I can. Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So let's make as much progress as we can. I understand that Ms
Tepania very riskily mouthed in your direction, Ms Devine, when I was
talking about explosions on the Meremere site that no bomb was left
there on Monday, but I should tell you, Mr Whineray, just in case you
are worried, that I didn't leave any explosive devices on your
Southdown site, but I identified without difficulty where the vulnerable
pipelines and cables were, if I had been so disposed. Next question.

MR MULLIGAN:

Thank you. Thank you, sir. I'm just going to go through some of the
plans that we've already been through and they're already in evidence,
but we'd just prepared a little bundle of them so that they were close at
hand, so I'll just get those distributed around.
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Just going back to this, and I've gone a few times through this, Mr
Whineray, you'd accept or you may not know that in terms of the NZ
Transport Agency process there has been, roughly speaking, a twostage process of first identifying corridors, an appropriate corridor of
some width, and then within that corridor doing more fine-grained
option analysis about the alignment. Are you aware of that?

25

30

MR WHINERAY:

I don't know that but I'll take your word for it.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I suggest you do be focused on this because his knowledge will be
limited to whatever plans he was shown.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, sir, and I appreciate that probably Mr Whineray has ducked in and
out of this particular exercise.

35

In December 2015 there was a corridor alignment that was approved
by the NZ Transport Agency board, and that's what's shown on-screen
now. What's it described as? Is that not in the bundle? Is that the
corridor somewhere? There was one that was a corridor. DBC. Is that
right? It's the first plan in your bundle. It's the DBC bundle. See that?

40

[5.10 pm]
45

MR WHINERAY:

This one?

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Now, you talked about going to visit Mr Brash down in Wellington, I
assume.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, it was, at their offices in Wellington.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. And talking to him about the option at the time and indicating
that you didn't consider that suitable. Was that the option that you were
talking about roughly?

MR WHINERAY:

No, it wasn't. It was further south than that.

MR MULLIGAN:

How far south?

MR WHINERAY:

It was pretty much as I mentioned earlier, where the 220-kilovolt
pylons are.

MR MULLIGAN:

So where maybe those pink lines are, or close to --

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct. It's close to the pink lines.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. Now, you indicated at that time, according to your evidence, that
it should go further south. Do I assume you mean south of the current
gas plant?

MR WHINERAY:

Of the site.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. Of the site?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. There's the land to the south off the site. Yes.

MR MULLIGAN:

Now, at this point, this would have been early 2016. It was prior to
you opening up your solar panels and the research panel. What's the
problem with it going through that area to the north of the power plant?
Why couldn't it do that in your view?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, I hadn't seen this chart when I was discussing it, but there are --

MR MULLIGAN:

In general terms.

MR WHINERAY:

Well, no, look. It never comes down to the general. There are a whole
range of reasons where that may not be suitable for the road to go there,
which may extend to accessibility, manoeuvring of large plant, safety.
There are numerous things. I don't know. I'm not the expert on why
that would be an issue, but it's probably pretty similar to the issues of
the current alignment.

MR MULLIGAN:

No. The question I was asking you, and it related to a question that you
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gave to the Board, which was in general terms you indicated that you'd
seen an alignment that was to the north of the power plant and you told
Mr Brash that that wasn't suitable. And I'm simply asking, at that time,
why did you view that alignment as not being suitable?
MR WHINERAY:

Because it was going to restrict the operation of what Mercury and
Aucklanders currently enjoy with respect to that site. It was going to
restrict its activities.

MR MULLIGAN:

It was going north of the Southdown gas-fired generation, going
through what was a car park at that point.

MR WHINERAY:

I'd just repeat what I said. I think it would have restricted -- it wasn't
going actually to the north of it. It was going pretty much over the top
of some of the buildings and the other facilities.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Mr Whineray.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

On the basis - and I'm talking about February 2016 - of what you had
been told about the Southdown site by those people who had hands-on
involvement with it, you went to Wellington. Correct?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Would I be right that your preferred option would have been the
alignment of this proposed highway avoided the Mercury site entirely?

MR WHINERAY:

Correct.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Did you say that to Mr Brash?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, and I handed him a picture or showed him a picture - I'm not sure
if I left it with him - which showed my, to use his words, "crayon on a
page" of that actually happening and putting it to the south of the site
entirely. There was no misunderstanding with Dave Brash of the
alignment that I preferred.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So if Mr Mulligan shows you various possible alignments, any one of
which would impact or impinge, go over part of the Mercury site, that
would not have been what you wanted. Am I right?

MR WHINERAY:

That is not what I wanted, and certainly I didn't have at my fingertips
at the time, because it was a preliminary meeting, all of the other
necessary assessments to make that decision.

DR PRIESTLEY:

So when you finally found out what alignment NZ Transport Agency
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had alighted on, you must have been brassed off.
[5.15 pm]
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MR WHINERAY:

Absolutely.

DR PRIESTLEY:

What did you do?

MR WHINERAY:

Well, the first one was when, I think in the middle of 2016, a number
of solutions --

DR PRIESTLEY:

No, the final one. The one we're dealing with now.

MR WHINERAY:

The final one that we're looking at now?

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, we were very disappointed, so then we had to gear up to oppose
this.

DR PRIESTLEY:

All right. Next question, Mr Mulligan.

MR MULLIGAN:

Sorry, sir, I am going to go back to a particular point.

DR PRIESTLEY:

That's all right. I can't force you to do anything.

MR MULLIGAN:

Later alignments go through - and we may or may not ask questions of
you in relation to that - excuse my French, the guts of the Southdown
plant, but this one goes right through the guts of it. But that alignment
that was originally proposed by way of the corridor alignment did go
to the north through the car park area, an area that was not actively
being used at the time. What I'd like to understand, and I know that
you're saying, "I don't know all the details", is what was the problem of
going through an empty car park, given all of the issues that you've
raised with risk and proximity to the gas-fired generation? What was
the problem with the car park alignment?

DR PRIESTLEY:

Well, there could have been numerous problems with it,
notwithstanding NZ Transport Agency's own requirement for setbacks
from petroleum facilities of 40 - 100 metres, and I can see that
alignment is very close to a lot of other activity, notwithstanding
electricity, gas, moving pieces, chemicals. I don't know. The problem
was it was seriously going to potentially impinge on the operability or
the future options for that site and its consent. My issue with it was I
wasn't sure, and no one ever came back to me to explain, why the road
had to go over the site in the first instance, notwithstanding my
counsel's evidence this morning of the complete lack of inclusion of
Southdown. It's almost an issue of manaakitanga. They'd ignored us
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entirely, and having taken the courtesy of going to see them very early
on to talk to the most senior officer. So I couldn't understand why no
one could tell me why it actually had to go through that site, given the
road gets wet feet to the west of that point. So it clearly wasn't an issue
of getting wet feet, so I wasn't sure why this was just being completely
ignored.

5
MR MULLIGAN:

But currently in terms of land use, putting aside all of the gas risk issues
which you are raising, that site to the north is at that particular time a
car park. Now, it's on structure, and if one assumes that you can get to
your power plant, what is the problem in your view of NZ Transport
Agency going through your car park?

MR WHINERAY:

All of, and possibly other areas that my counsel referred to this
morning. the whole list of it. Reverse sensitivity. The lot. The key
objective is that Mercury enjoys and Aucklanders enjoy what they
currently have with respect to that strategic site.

MR MULLIGAN:

A car park.

MR WHINERAY:

It is a consented, 135-megawatt power station with all of the necessary
facilities around it to make that operate and, therefore, assist with
security of supply to Auckland over the long term.

MR MULLIGAN:

Would you accept that in terms of issues such as safety and issues such
as access to equipment to get into the Southdown site with issues in
relation to what else, cars falling off the edge of it, that going through
your car park would have been a more preferable option than what you
are complaining about now, going close to your --

MR WHINERAY:

I don't know. I can't answer that. This is the first time I've seen that
picture, because that wasn't the one that I discussed with Dr Brash, from
my recollection.

MR MULLIGAN:

So the one that you discussed with Dr Brash was the one to the north,
but closer to the Southdown plant in the south. Is that your evidence?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. So the predominant issue was: I don't know why it's going
through, and I wanted to clarify for them that it is a consented power
station site. Not then. No, actually then it was the only one in
Auckland, because Otahuhu had closed in 2015, and why did it need to
go across any of that site, irrespective of location? I hadn't thought
through flying LPG tankers and all the rest of it at that point. It was
more simply I needed to clarify with the chief executive the
understanding around what Southdown was about.
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MR MULLIGAN:

I'm not trying to make it difficult, but this was a relatively high-level
discussion between two CEOs, who are not necessarily appraised with
detail, but your simple point was, "Get off our site. This is an operating
site. Move to the south of the power plant".

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. Well, the first point was this is a consented and operable power
site, and whilst we've ceased generating electricity there, that may
change in the future. There are a lot of options for it, and so I wanted
to point that out, and I had a map with me to illustrate that. And I was
assured that Dave Brash, whether he went back from being his acting
CE, would be the person that was responsible for overseeing this.

MR MULLIGAN:

Just coming to that point and as has been said, you made it very clear
to him that notwithstanding whatever anyone may have seen in the
paper about closures, you wanted to make sure that the option for
opening this site continued?

MR WHINERAY:

Correct.

MR MULLIGAN:

Now, in terms of the options that were developed subsequently, as I
say, there were a number. Well, essentially four, two that went through
the car park and two that went through what I'm describing colloquially
as the middle of the plant or the guts of the Southdown plant.
Presumably, in terms of your understanding of things, none of those
would have worked as far as your aspirations.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I haven't --

MS DEVINE:

Sir, just an objection I think. My friend is putting to my witness plans
he hadn't seen before, hasn't examined closely, and asking him to
speculate on what he might have thought about those options, which
weren't before him when he had this discussion. I'm not sure that it's
entirely fair to put those matters to the witness, given his reservations
on all those things.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you, Ms Devine. Mr Mulligan, there is some strength to your
learned friend's objection, but nonetheless I think the witness is capable
of dealing with the question in any way you want to formulate it.
Whether you want to reformulate it is up to you.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, sir, and all I'm trying to do is just move along through the process,
and these are reasonably crude terms.

DR PRIESTLEY:

If he didn't do something or consider something, Mr Mulligan, he'll tell
you I'm sure.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes, yes. I think, to be fair to Mr Whineray, he's being quite upfront
that he's operating at a higher level, and that's what I was trying to do.
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They're either to the north or they're going through it. Don't have to
worry about the minutiae because he wasn't involved in it.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Which is where I was trying to get you to.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. In terms of those four options though, in broad terms, none of
them equated with what you'd understood your discussion with Mr
Brash would result in, would they?

MR WHINERAY:

No, I didn't expect, and this is the first time I've seen all of these, as my
counsel has suggested. No, these were not where I was attempting to
influence Mr Brash.

MR MULLIGAN:

You were trying to move things further to the south.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, off the site entirely or wherever it needed to go. But yes,
particularly well to the south off the site was my expectation.

MR MULLIGAN:

Yes. And even thought that was a car park there, in essence what I
understand you're saying to me is: no option which is on the Mercury
site, be it the northern site or the southern site which has got the power
plant, was acceptable in terms of your understanding with Mr Brash?

MR WHINERAY:

We didn't discuss a range of options. I only had one map in front of
me.

MR MULLIGAN:

All right. But in general terms you wanted an option that didn't involve
the road on either the northern part or the southern part?

MR WHINERAY:

That's correct.

MR MULLIGAN:

Now, I don't know the extent to which you were involved in it, but do
you accept that there was from that period prior to 2016, right the way
through 2016, extensive discussion between NZ Transport Agency
staff and your staff about the location of the road?

35

[5.25 pm]
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MR WHINERAY:

I'm not aware of those discussions in any detail but that's a good
question for Mr Flexman.

MR MULLIGAN:

I think you said earlier in your evidence that you're aware that some
discussions were taking place.

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I was vaguely aware of it, but not the nature of them. I'd had my
conversation with the chief executive of NZ Transport Agency and I
was also seeing that the balance for which there was no pushback -and as I've said, it was described to me as a line in good faith and a
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crayon on a page, and the rest of the motorway to the west was in the
water. So I expected that would be quite an easy solve.
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MR MULLIGAN:

Sorry, in your answer to your questions you said didn't feel as a result
of that response that you needed to push the boat out at that point. I
took from that that you didn't have to yell or scream, not that you would
yell or scream, at Mr Brash. You felt like you had a message --

MR WHINERAY:

Yes. We had a very cordial discussion, as you would expect. It was
the first time we'd met each other. Yes, it was a cordial discussion and
like any discussion I'd have with an equivalent infrastructure
counterpart.

MR MULLIGAN:

To what extent did you communicate that aspiration that the alignment
would not be on the Mercury site to your side of the table, to your
employees?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I communicated that to my general manager, who subsequently
wrote to Fergus Gammie in October 2016 with a slightly more
forcefully-worded letter, given our frustration. Our GM of corporate
affairs and also our land manager. So they're aware of the conversation
that I had with Mr Brash.

MR MULLIGAN:

We'll come to that later email. We're talking about Mr Gibson, who
was your operations --

MR WHINERAY:

He looks after generation in the wholesale markets.

MR MULLIGAN:

Now, in terms of that discussion between staff, one of those staff you'd
accept was Duncan Annandale?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, he's aware.

MR MULLIGAN:

Who is he? Who was he? Is he still working?

MR WHINERAY:

Yes, he still works for us. He works on a range of property matters,
whether it's wind farms in the Manawatu or Marsden land or things like
that. New buildings.

MR MULLIGAN:

So the feedback in discussions between Mr Annandale and Mr
Wickman for the NZ Transport Agency at the time in terms of the four
options, two that went to the north through the car park, two that went
through the south, accorded with your position that they were not
acceptable, and as a result of that an option to the south was formulated,
and the evidence has been that this was the option, so an option which
on structure, across the railway line, and went in proximity and just
over the south of the site.
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MR WHINERAY:

I don't know. This is the first time I've heard and seen this.

MS DEVINE:

Sir, just to clarify, my friend is asking questions where my witness
again has said he's not familiar with the detailed correspondence
between NZ Transport Agency and people who report to him. He is
not aware, as I heard him answer, what that correspondence was. There
was a long statement from my friend in terms of feedback between
Annandale and Wickman, according with your proposition and so on,
and he has none of that information before him.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Yes, Ms Devine, but his first three words before you got up to your feet
were, "I am not", so he is probably going to answer along those lines
in any event.

MR MULLIGAN:

I'm sure Mr Whineray is capable of --

MR WHINERAY:

Just to be clear, Mr Annandale doesn't actually report to me, so let's
make that clear as --

MR MULLIGAN:

That's fine.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I missed that. Mr Annandale does not?

MR WHINERAY:

Does not report to me.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Does not report to you.

MR WHINERAY:

No. He's further in the organisation.
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[5.30 pm]
MR MULLIGAN:

Sorry for the long prelude. It's just you are not aware of the situation.
I am just outlining previous information, and it's not controversial. But
what I wanted to ask you, which I assume is in your knowledge, is: that
alignment which goes across the site and touches on the site, to what
extent does that accord with what you wanted when you spoke to Mr
Brash?

MR WHINERAY:

As I said, my indication to Mr Brash was to do with clarifying the
Southdown site, making sure that Mercury and Auckland could
continue to enjoy the strategic nature of it in various guises over the
long term, and that I wasn't sure why the road had to intersect with the
site.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Had you ever seen that alignment map before?

MR WHINERAY:

No.
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DR PRIESTLEY:

Was it ever discussed with you before today?

MR WHINERAY:

No. I've never seen that one.

DR PRIESTLEY:

That's fairly self-evident, Mr Mulligan, and with respect, this witness
is here to discuss matters at a very high level, particularly the strategic
importance and what Mercury's general thrust was. I can't say it's
unfair because it's not, but I'm not sure there's going to be any mileage
in you cross-examining him on maps, alignments, details, emails from
Mr Annandale, etc, which he has never seen or is not a party to. It's
now just after 5.30 pm.

MR MULLIGAN:

Okay, sir.

DR PRIESTLEY:

I'm not trying to bludgeon you into a position, Mr Mulligan, as I'm sure
you'll appreciate, but this witness was called, he gave his witness
statement for a specific purpose, and he has given to the Board very
helpful evidence. We have asked him a number of questions, and I
appreciate totally the dilemma which you are in, but there are limits to
which -- I see totally the appropriateness of your cross-examination
before the afternoon tea break and just after, but you are now
descending into an area where he probably has no grasp, for obvious
reasons, because he is close to the pinnacle of the Mercury hierarchy,
on this sort of fine detail. You may get it from another witness, and of
course you can always call evidence of your own if you think there is
something which is left undone, but that's for another day.
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So you can come back at 9.00 am tomorrow, Mr Whineray?
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MR WHINERAY:

Yes, I can.

DR PRIESTLEY:

You are - I will have to warn you, as it were - under what's called crossexamination, and although the Mercury team have a clear interest in all
this, I would ask you to give me an assurance that you won't be
discussing the fine detail of your evidence or the questions which Mr
Mulligan is asking you or is likely to ask you or what your answers will
be overnight. Can you give me that assurance?

MR WHINERAY:

I give you that absolute assurance.

DR PRIESTLEY:

Thank you very much indeed. We'll adjourn until 9.00 am.
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MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.33 PM UNTIL
THURSDAY, 17 AUGUST 2017

Ellerslie Event Centre, Auckland 16.08.17

